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Financial Highlights

Key performance indicators

1/1-31/12/2023

1/1-31/12/2022

Net operating profit €2,413m €1,839m
Cost-income ratio (ratio of operating costs to operating income) 44.3% 49.9%
Profit before tax €2,139m €1,768m
Consolidated profit €1,735m €1,301m
Balance sheet figures/Key capital ratios

31/12/2023 31/12/2022
Total assets €283,292m €318,006m
Shareholders' equity €19,940m €19,739m
Common Equity Tier 1 capital’ €15,864m €16,060m
Core capital (Tier 1 capital)’ €17,564m €17,760m
Risk-weighted assets (including equivalents for market risk and operational risk) €69,767m €82,077m
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio’2 22.7% 19.6%
Core capital ratio (Tier 1 ratio)"? 25.2% 21.6%
Leverage ratio’? 5.7% 5.4%
1 31 December 2023: in accordance with approved financial statements.
2 Calculated on the basis of risk-weighted assets, including equivalents for market risk and operational risk.
3 Ratio of core capital to the sum total of the exposure values of all assets and off-balance-sheets items.
Other information

31/12/2023 31/12/2022
Employees (in FTEs) 9,620 10,866
Branch offices 371 430
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Corporate Structure and Business Model

Legal corporate structure

UniCredit Bank GmbH (HVB), formerly UniCredit Bank AG, headquartered in Munich is the parent company of
HVB Group. HVB is an affiliate of UniCredit S.p.A., Milan, Italy (UniCredit) and the HVB subgroup is an integral
part of the UniCredit corporate group.

Since the shares held by minority shareholders of HVB were transferred to UniCredit compliant with Section 327a
of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz — AktG), as resolved at the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders in June 2007 and entered in the Commercial Register on 15 September 2008, UniCredit has held
100 percent of the shares in HVB. Thus, trading in HVB shares officially ceased. As a capital market-oriented
company, HVB remains listed on securities exchanges as an issuer of Pfandbriefe, bonds and certificates, among
other things.

With effect from 15 December 2023, UniCredit Bank AG was transformed into UniCredit Bank GmbH by way of a
change of legal form pursuant to Section 190 ff of the German Transformation Act (Umwandlungsgesetz —
UmwG).

Organisation of management and control

Management function and Supervisory Board

Since the change in legal form to that of a limited liability company, i.e. a “GmbH” (Gesellschaft mit beschraenkter
Haftung), the Executive Board has become the management body of HVB. Therefore, since the change of legal
form, the provisions of the German Act on Limited Liability Companies (GmbH-Gesetz) apply to the management
of the company instead of the provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz - AktG). Within the
framework of its management function, the Executive Board is responsible above all for corporate planning, the
strategic orientation of the company, and for ensuring adequate risk management and risk controlling. It provides
the Supervisory Board with reports at regular intervals, particularly on all issues relevant to corporate planning and
strategic development, the course of business, the state of the Bank and its subsidiaries, including the risk
situation, and significant compliance issues. The members of the Executive Board are jointly responsible for
managing the Bank and for the proper business organisation of HVB. The responsibilities of the Executive Board
of HVB are specified in a schedule of responsibility, which forms part of the Executive Board’s internal regulations.
The Executive Board’s internal regulations also specify in particular the matters reserved for the Executive Board
as a whole, the requirements for adopting resolutions and the required majorities.

The Supervisory Board of HVB has twelve members and has an equal number of employee and shareholder
representatives. The Supervisory Board is responsible for monitoring and regularly advising the Executive Board
as it conducts its business. The Supervisory Board has adopted by-laws specifically defining the details of the
work within the Supervisory Board, the creation of committees and their tasks, and the tasks of the Chairman of
the Supervisory Board. In addition, the by-laws state that certain types of transactions require the approval of the
Supervisory Board.
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The following changes occurred in the reporting period:

Supervisory Board

Mr Gianpaolo Alessandro resigned from the Supervisory Board as shareholder representative with effect from the
end of 31 August 2023. Dr Michael Diederich was elected to the Supervisory Board in his place in 2022 with effect
from 1 September 2023.

Executive Board

Ms Monika Rast took over the Private Clients Bank area as a member of the Management Board with effect from

1 March 2023. Ms Marion Hollinger was elected Spokeswoman of the Management Board from 1 March 2023 by
the Management Board in agreement with the Supervisory Board and took over as CEO with effect from 1 March
2023. Mr Boris Scukanec Hopinski resigned from the Management Board with effect from the end of 30 April 2023
and Mr Christian Reusch with effect from 15 December 2023. The area previously managed by Mr Boris Scukanec
Hopinski was taken over by Mr Artur Gruca on 1 May 2023. Due to the expiry of their appointments, Ms Monika
Rast is leaving the Bank with effect from the end of 29 February 2024 and Dr Jurgen Kullnigg with effect from the
end of 31 March 2024. Mr Marco lannaccone and Mr Pierpaolo Montana were appointed to the Bank’s Executive
Board with effect from 1 April 2024.

A list showing the names of all of the members of the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board of HVB is given
in the Note “Members of the Supervisory Board” and the Note “Members of the Executive Board” in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

Combined Management Report

The Management Report of UniCredit Bank GmbH (HVB) and the Group Management Report of HVB Group are
combined in accordance with Section 315 (5) of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch — HGB) in
conjunction with Section 298 (2) HGB. The annual financial statements and the consolidated financial statements
(including the Combined Management Report) are published jointly in the German Company Register.

Statement pursuant to Section 289f (4) of the German Commercial Code

For the proportion of women on the Supervisory Board, HVB’s Supervisory Board had set a target that five-twelfths
of the members should be women, which is to be achieved by 31 December 2025. Both the shareholder and the
employee representatives on the Supervisory Board are to contribute to achieving this target. As at 31 December
2023, there were four women on the Supervisory Board: Dr Claudia Mayfeld, Ms Fiona Melrose and Ms Sabine
Eckhardt as shareholder representatives and Ms Claudia Richter as an employee representative.

For the proportion of women on the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board had set a target that three-eighths of
the members should be women, which is to be achieved by 31 December 2025. With Marion Héllinger on the
Management Board and the appointment of Monika Rast to the Management Board as per 1 March 2023, the
proportion of women on the Management Board was two-eighths by 30 April 2023. Following the departure of Boris
Scukanec Hopinski at the end of 30 April 2023 and the resulting reduction from eight to seven members on the
Management Board, the current proportion was increased to two sevenths. Due to these changes, HVB’s
Supervisory Board set a new target on 20 October 2023 that three-sevenths of the members of the Executive Board
should be women, which is to be achieved by 31 December 2027.
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Corporate Structure and Business Model o)

For the proportion of women in the first and second management levels below the Executive Board respectively,
the Executive Board set the following targets to be achieved by the end of 2027: 50 percent of women in both the
first and second management levels below the Executive Board. As diversity, equity & inclusion is a strategically
important topic for the Bank and increasing the number of women in all management levels also plays a crucial
role in this context, the Bank intends to achieve a gender balance across all levels in the medium term. As at the
reporting date of 31 December 2023, the proportion of women in the first management level below the Executive
Board amounted to 30 percent and in the second management level below the Executive Board to 21 percent.
These percentages show that the targets set have not yet been achieved for the first and second levels below the
Executive Board.

To improve the proportion of women particularly in the second management level below the Executive Board,
comprehensive measures have been initiated and consistently expanded. Topics such as careers after returning
from parental leave, flexible management models, a further reduction in the gender pay gap as well as
comprehensive initiatives to network women with one another and increase their visibility vis-a-vis top
management are to be named in this connection.

Non-financial reporting

In the context of transposing the Corporate Social Responsibility Directive into German law, certain large
companies have been obliged to add a non-financial group statement to their group management report since the
2017 financial year. This non-financial reporting covers labour, social and environmental issues (sustainability),
respect for human rights and anti-corruption. As a fully consolidated subgroup of the UniCredit corporate group,
HVB Group abstains from publishing its own non-financial statement in accordance with Section 315b (2) of the
German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch — HGB). The non-financial group statement is issued, with a
discharging effect for HVB, by our parent company, UniCredit S.p.A., Milan, and can be found on UniCredit's
website under “ESG AND SUSTAINABILITY” in “Sustainability Reporting” (www.unicreditgroup.eu/en/esg-and-
sustainability/sustainability-reporting.html).

Overall bank management

HVB Group’s objective is to generate a sustainable increase in corporate value. To take account of the need for
value-based management, the principle of overall bank management is based on earnings, risk, liquidity and
capital aspects. This principle is explained in more detail in the Risk Report (please refer in particular to “Overall
bank management” within the section entitled “Implementation of overall bank management” in the Risk Report).

The key performance indicators (KPIs) applied within the framework of HVB Group’s overall bank management
are stated at the relevant places in the Combined Management Report. In addition to the profit/loss after tax as the
relevant measure of earnings for internal management purposes, the following KPIs are used in internal
management: the cost-income ratio and the return on allocated capital (RoAC).
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The cost-income ratio is calculated from the ratio of operating costs to operating income and is based on the
segmented income statement, which is relevant for the corporate management and planning of HVB Group. The
reconciliation of the segmented income statement to the income statement used in the description of the operating
performance of HVB Group is shown in the Note “Income statement, broken down by operating segment”. The
main differences in operating income are the expenses for the bank levy as well as the earnings from investment
properties and inventories (buildings measured according to IAS 2); regarding operating costs, unscheduled write-
ups and write-downs on properties used by the Bank and contributions to the German deposit guarantee scheme
should be mentioned in particular.

The RoAC shows the annualised consolidated profit of HVB Group in relation to allocated capital. With RoAC,
allocated capital is determined on the basis of the average risk-weighted assets (including equivalents for market
risk and operational risk) whereby 13.00% equity is allocated to the average risk-weighted assets.

Business model, main products, sales markets, competitive position and locations in the 2023
financial year

HVB Group is part of UniCredit, a pan-European commercial bank. It offers its broad customer base a banking
network across Western, Central and Eastern Europe that is both regional and international in focus. Its integration
into UniCredit enables HVB Group to exploit its international network and economies of scale. UniCredit has a
divisionally and regionally diversified business model. It provides its customers access to commercial banks in 13
countries and other offices worldwide.

As a universal bank, HVB with its subsidiaries is a provider of banking and financial services and focuses on
Germany. It offers a comprehensive range of banking and financial products and services to retail, corporate and
public sector customers, international companies and institutional customers. Digitalisation and our commitment to
ESG standards, which are described in their current form in UniCredit’s Integrated Report, are key factors of our
service. HVB Group has 371 offices around the world — 273 of which are HVB offices in Germany which have
been adapted to changing customer behaviour in recent years. In addition to its branch network, customers are
served irrespective of their location through its remote channels. For detailed information on the offices, please
refer to the Note “Offices” in the notes to the 2020 consolidated financial statements.

The operating segments

HVB Group is divided into the following operating segments:
— Retail

— Corporates

— Other

A detailed description of the individual operating segments, particularly regarding the customers allocated to them,
the products and services offered, the organisational focus as well as the competitive situation and the locations is
contained in the Note “Method of segment reporting by operating segment” and the Note “Components of segment
reporting by operating segment” in the notes to the 2023 consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Structure and Business Model o)

UniCredit Unlocked

We successfully implemented the group-wide UniCredit Unlocked strategic plan in the 2023 financial year. This
multi-year plan aims at boosting profitability and capital efficiency. Its main focus is on growth in selected customer
segments coupled with an efficient service model and creating a unique customer experience. We are thus
investing in automation and front-to-back process optimisation. In addition, we are promoting a holistic view of
sustainability in line with ESG principles and continuing to use resources and cooperation possibilities across
countries and companies within the UniCredit corporate group. At the same time, a further adjustment of our
staffing levels is planned. As in the past, we will also do this in the future through socially responsible measures
and by creating new employment prospects or concluding severance agreements. Moreover, we are responding to
demographic change by specifically promoting young talent.

Corporate acquisitions and sales, and other major changes in the group of companies included
in consolidation
No significant corporate acquisitions or disposals were made in the reporting period.

The scope of consolidation of HVB Group was reduced by a total of 20 companies as at 31 December 2023
compared with year-end 2022. This is partly due to the merger of 10 previously fully consolidated real estate
companies including the properties held by these companies with UniCredit Bank GmbH.

Detailed information on changes in the group of companies included in consolidation can be found in the Note
“Companies included in consolidation” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Economic Report

Underlying economic conditions

According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), global economic growth came to 3.1% in 2023 after growth of
3.5% in the previous year. One important reason for the slower growth momentum was the still comparatively high
inflation rates in many industrialised and emerging countries which weighed down the real income of private
households. Central banks such as the Federal Reserve and the ECB continued to tighten their monetary policy in
order to lower inflation rates further. This put additional pressure on the economy. By contrast, global supply
chains increasingly returned to normal allowing companies to work off their order backlog.

The US economy grew by 2.5% in 2023 after recording growth of 1.9% in the previous year (according to the US
Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA)). Growth in 2023 was caused primarily by an increase in private consumer
spending. On the one hand, private households reduced their surplus savings accumulated during the pandemic.
On the other hand, employment and wages increased, although the momentum slowed somewhat as the year
2023 progressed. Construction spending was up, not least on account of the stimulating impact of the Inflation
Reduction Act for commercial construction. The Federal Reserve raised its key interest rate further from 4.5% in
January 2023 to 5.5% in July 2023 to curb high inflation rates.

China’s economy grew by 5.2% in 2023 and thus more strongly than in the previous year when growth came to a
mere 3.0% (according to the National Bureau of Statistics of China). The most important trigger for faster
momentum was China opening its economy after closing a number of economic sectors due to the pandemic.
However, the downward trend in the construction industry and a shrinking population dampened growth.

In the eurozone, the economy grew by 0.5% in 2023 (according to Eurostat). Growth was particularly strong in
Spain (up 2.5%), while it was considerably weaker in France (up 0.9 %) and ltaly (up 0.7 %). Germany even saw a
contraction of 0.3% in economic output. Persistently high energy costs and dwindling construction investment due
to a significant increase in construction costs and interest rates weighed heavily on the German economy. In
addition, there was a slowdown in the global economy which dampened the German economy further on account
of its strong dependence on exports.

The inflation rate in the eurozone came to 5.4% in the full year 2023 after 8.4% in the previous year (according to
Eurostat). Due to the still above-average level of inflation, the ECB raised its key interest rate (deposit rate) further
from 2.0% at the beginning of 2023 to 4.0% in September 2023.

The 0.3% decline in German economic output in 2023 was primarily due to a reduction in private consumer
spending, lower construction investment and a decline in exports. The labour market remained robust: the number
of employed people was up by around 0.35 million (according to the German Federal Employment Agency) and
thus reached a new record high. The inflation rate amounted to 5.9% on average over 2023 after 6.9% in the
previous year (according to the German Federal Statistical Office).
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ECO”O m iC Re port (ConTINUED)

Sector-specific developments

The high inflation led to a significant tightening of monetary policy by the European Central Bank (ECB) in 2023, in
particular through key interest rate hikes totalling 2.0 percentage points up until September 2023. However, the ECB
did not raise interest rates any further after September 2023 and inflation fell significantly in the second half of 2023.
Market participants expect the ECB to cut interest rates for the first time in 2024. In addition to raising key interest
rates, the ECB accelerated the reduction in its balance sheet. After the ECB ended its net asset purchases under
the asset purchase programme (APP) in 2022, the ECB started to reduce its APP portfolio by €15 billion per month
from March 2023. From July 2023 onwards, maturities under the APP portfolio were no longer reinvested, which will
further accelerate the reduction of the portfolio. As at December 2023, the ECB still held bonds totalling €3.0 trillion
in its APP portfolio compared with €3.3 trillion as at year-end 2022. The ECB also ended net purchases under its
second purchase programme, the pandemic emergency purchase programme (PEPP), on 1 July 2022. In addition,
the ECB announced in December 2023 that it would be reducing the PEPP portfolio by €7.5 billion from July 2024
and would not be reinvesting all the PEPP maturities any further from January 2025. The PEPP is a programme
comprising public sector and private assets currently totalling €1.7 trillion. Due to the increase in credit spreads for
the government bonds of peripheral countries, the ECB decided to establish a new transmission protection
instrument (TPI) in July 2022. The ECB Governing Council considers it necessary to establish the TPI to support the
effective transmission of monetary policy. The TPI supplements the ECB Governing Council’s raft of instruments.
This allows government bonds to be purchased to counter unwarranted, disorderly market dynamics that pose a
serious threat to the transmission of monetary policy across the eurozone. However, since the TPl was introduced
in 2022, there has been a significant decline in credit spreads for the government bonds of peripheral countries,
which had a beneficial effect again in 2023.

On the regulatory side, an agreement was reached in 2023 on the implementation of the finalised Basel Il reforms
(also known as Basel V) in Europe. As part of this agreement, negotiators agreed on how the output floor (lower
limit of capital requirements) can be implemented. This limits the variability of banks’ capital requirements
calculated on the basis of internal models. Consensus was reached on transitional arrangements in order to give
market participants sufficient time to make adjustments. As special regulations, the agreement envisages long
transitional periods for risk positions vis-a-vis companies without an external credit rating and housing loans
collateralised by real estate. The introduction of the finalised Basel Il standard in Europe is planned for the
beginning of 2025, which means that risk weightings and risk-weighted assets for banks will gradually increase
from 2025 onwards.

As regards macroprudential regulation, the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) increased the
countercyclical capital buffer from 0.0% to 0.75% of risk-weighted assets on domestic risk positions on

1 February 2022. Institutions have had to apply this countercyclical capital buffer to calculate the institution-specific
countercyclical capital buffer since 1 February 2023. In addition, BaFin introduced a sectoral systemic risk buffer of
2.0% of risk-weighted assets on loans secured by residential property, which banks must comply with from

1 February 2023. Both measures have led to a further increase in capital requirements for banks.

In April 2023, the European Commission proposed a comprehensive legislative package for reforming bank
resolution and deposit guarantee schemes. In this context, the Commission proposes adjustments to the bank
crisis management framework and deposit insurance to safeguard financial stability and manage bank failures in
an orderly and economically efficient manner. With this project, the Commission intends to further harmonise
deposit guarantee schemes in the EU that have been structured differently up until now.
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A little over a year after the 6" amendment to the Minimum Requirements for Risk Management (MaRisk), BaFin
published the 7'" MaRisk amendment in June 2023 via a circular. The amendment includes guidelines of the
European Banking Authority (EBA) on lending and credit monitoring as well as dealing with sustainability risk.

European banks must meet the minimum requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) from January
2024 onwards. Overall, the banks had already largely met the requirements as at 30 September 2023 (Single
Resolution Board, SRB).

Risk premiums on corporate and bank bonds in the European credit market moved sideways for the most part in
2023. However, the credit spreads of companies with good credit ratings fell significantly after November 2023 as
the trend of falling inflation rates set in further. From November 2023 until year-end 2023, the risk premiums for
senior bank bonds also narrowed significantly by 14 basis points. In the market for government bonds, the risk
premium for ten-year ltalian sovereign bonds fell a substantial 212 basis points to 168 basis points in 2023
compared with ten-year German sovereign bonds. The ECB’s announcement about the TPI instrument coupled
with the flexibility in reinvesting maturities in the PEPP supported investor confidence after which the spread
margin fell significantly again. In particular, retail investors and foreign investors increasingly emerged as buyers of
sovereign bonds.

The three-month Euribor increased significantly from 2.16% at the beginning of 2023 to 3.91% at year-end 2023
while the EUR swap rate with 10-year maturity fell from a level of around 3% to 2.5% in the same period. The
higher level of interest rates is positive for the net interest income of banks. The market is currently expecting
several interest rate cuts in 2024, although interest rate forwards are pricing in more interest rate cuts than the
consensus estimate of economists and there is still considerable uncertainty about the continued trend in interest
rates. The bond market showed a high level of fluctuation in 2023. In the USA, the return on ten-year US treasury
bonds rose from its lowest level of 3.3% in April 2023 to 5.0% in October 2023, then to fall again to 3.9% by year-
end 2023. The return on ten-year bonds of the Federal Republic of Germany likewise fell from its annual peak of
almost 3% in October 2023 to around 2% at year-end 2023.

Lending was down in the first half of 2023. New business with real estate loans remained under pressure from the
significant increase in interest rates and the sharp rise in construction costs. In Germany, the volume of new
business with housing loans extended to private households in the first nine months of 2023 was 43% lower than
the level in 2022. As regards lending to the business sector, the last ECB survey on lending in January 2024
showed continuing restraint in demand for corporate loans. The higher general level of interest rates and the
reluctance of businesses to invest in fixed assets continued to curb the demand for credit, especially for long-term
loans. At the same time, loan terms in the corporate banking business became more restrictive.
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The stock markets developed favourably overall in 2023, although the economic environment continued to
deteriorate. The main driver of positive share prices was less concern over Europe’s energy supply coupled with
lower inflation rates, which had a positive effect on the risk appetite. The EURO STOXX 50 rose by 19% in 2023.
By the end of February 2023, bank shares initially performed better than the overall market. However, the

EURO STOXX Banks (Price) Index fell disproportionately to the overall market in March 2023 following the crisis
involving some US regional banks but was able to catch up with the overall market again by the end of the year.
The rapid and comprehensive support measures put in place by the Federal Reserve and the US Federal Deposit
Insurance Association (FDIC) in the wake of the failure of some US regional banks bolstered investor confidence
and prevented this having a contagious effect on other regional banks. At the same time, more consolidations
were seen in the US banking market.

In March 2023, there was also a merger in Switzerland between the former Credit Suisse and UBS following the
intervention of the Swiss Federal Department of Finance, the Swiss National Bank and the Swiss Financial Market
Supervisory Authority (FINMA). Previously, Credit Suisse had come under pressure due to an outflow of customer
deposits. The merger was supported by a guarantee from the Swiss federal government and additional liquidity
assistance from the Swiss National Bank (SNB). A subject of controversial debate in the market was the complete
write-off of Credit Suisse’s AT-1 bonds totalling CHF 16 billion with Credit Suisse shareholders being partially
compensated through the exchange of Credit Suisse shares for UBS shares. However, European regulators
subsequently made it clear in a statement that within the European Union equity investors are the first to bear
losses and only after that investors in AT-1 bonds. Several successful new issues of AT1-bonds also contributed
to a rapid recovery of the market segment.

The topic of sustainability continues to be of major importance in the banking sector. On the one hand, the share
of ESG-compliant issues in the banking sector remained at a high level with more than 20% of the senior bonds
issued in the banking sector in 2023 being placed in line with ESG standards. On the other hand, banks worked on
further sustainability goals and data, in particular regarding the CO2 intensity of the credit book.
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Operating performance of HVB Group

All the statements regarding the operating performance of HVB Group in this Combined Management Report refer

to the structure of our income statement shown below.

In addition to the profit/loss after tax as the relevant measure of earnings for internal management purposes, the
following key performance indicators (KPIs) are used in internal management: the cost-income ratio based on the

segmented income statement and the return on allocated capital (RoAC).

1/1-31/12/2023 1/1-31/12/2022 CHANGE

INCOME/EXPENSE € millions € millions € millions in %
Net interest 2,739 2,626 113 4.3
Dividends and other income from equity investments 30 31 1) (3.2)
Net fees and commissions 1,165 1,120 45 4.0
Net trading income 1.564 932 632 67.8
Net gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value (117) 149 (266)
Net gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial instruments measured at cost 17) 29 (46)
Net other expenses/income (255) (138) (117) 84.8

of which net valuation/disposal of investment properties (69) 4) (65) >100.0
OPERATING INCOME 5,109 4,749 360 7.6
Payroll costs (1,334) (1,415) 81 (5.7)
Other administrative expenses (1,045) (1,087) 42 (3.9)
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses on intangible and tangible assets (150) (109) (41) 37.6
Operating costs (2,529) (2,611) 82 (3.1)
OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) 2,580 2,138 442 20.7
Net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments (167) (299) 132 (44.1)
NET OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) 2,413 1,839 574 31.2
Provisions for risks and charges 32 11 21 >100.0
Restructuring costs (309) (80) (229) >100.0
Net gains/(losses) on remeasurement of consolidated companies 3 (2) 5
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 2,139 1,768 37 21.0
Income tax for the period (404) (467) 63 (13.5)
PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX (CONSOLIDATED PROFIT/(LOSS)) 1,735 1,301 434 33.4

attributable to the shareholder of UniCredit Bank GmbH 1,736 1,301 435 33.4

attributable to minorities 1) — 1)
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Net interest

In the reporting period, net interest comes to €2,739 million compared with €2,626 million in the previous-year
period and is thus a noticeable €113 million (4.3%) higher than the previous-year figure. The rise in net interest is
largely due to wider margins in the deposit-taking business as a result of the higher interest rate environment. This
interest rate environment led to a sharp increase in interest income from financial assets accounted for at cost,
which rose from €3.0 billion in the previous-year period to €7.1 billion in the reporting period. In contrast, interest
expense for liabilities at cost were up from €1.1 billion to €3.8 billion. Overall, the discontinuation of the positive
effects from the TLTRO IIl programme in the previous-year period was more than compensated for.

Due to the further increase in interest rates, the Retail and Corporates operating segments benefited from higher
margins mainly in the deposit-taking business. In parallel, the rise in funding expenses for the held-for-trading
portfolio had a negative impact in the Corporates operating segment. This was offset by an increase in net trading
income on account of higher market interest rates.

Dividends and other income from equity investments
Dividends and other income from equity investments totalled €30 million in the reporting period and are thus
virtually unchanged compared with the previous-year period (€31 million).

Net fees and commissions

In the reporting period, net fees and commissions came to €1,165 million and are thus a marked €45 million
(4.0%) higher compared with the previous-year period. This is largely due to an increase in net fees and
commissions in securities services for customers and higher commission income in the lending business with
corporate customers.

Net trading income

In the reporting period, net trading income was up a sharp €632 million (67.8%) to €1,564 million. This was mainly
due to income from the rate derivatives business in the areas of fixed income, currencies and commodities, and
equities and credit trading. Key factors driving total income were stable customer demand for hedging transactions
at a high level and rising, high market interest rates. The countereffect can be seen in net interest.

Net trading income includes valuation discounts in the context of the fair value measurement of derivatives,
particularly credit value adjustments and funding value adjustments. The reduction in valuation discounts in
connection with the fair value measurement had a positive impact and resulted in income of €35 million. In the
previous-year period, income totalled €62 million.

Net gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value
A net loss of €117 million on financial assets and liabilities at fair value is recognised for the reporting period. A net
gain of €149 million was generated in the previous-year period.

There was a sharp decline in hedge accounting effects. In the reporting period, a loss of €202 million was
generated after a gain of €265 million in the previous-year period. This is attributable to a stabilisation of the
interest rate environment in the reporting period and the associated reduction in changes in the value of hedged
items and hedging transactions. Thus, for the portfolio fair value hedges as HVB’s main hedge relationships, on
the one hand, the fair value of the hedged items fell from €6,205 million in the previous year to minus

€1,722 million in the reporting year. On the other hand, the fair value of the hedging transactions rose from minus
€5,913 million in the previous year to €1,527 million in the reporting year. There were no hedge inefficiencies with
material effects.

16 Annual Report 2023 - HypoVereinsbank



In the reporting period, a net gain of €49 million was generated on financial liabilities designated at FVTPL
compared with a net loss of €113 million in the previous-year period. The positive change in the derivatives used
for economic hedging exceeds the negative change in the value of the securities issued. In the reporting period, a
gain of €15 million was generated on financial assets mandatorily at FVTPL compared with the loss of €66 million
in the previous-year period. In this case, the positive contributions from securities more than compensated for the
negative contributions from derivatives concluded for economic hedging.

This item also includes the sharp decline in the fair value measurement of equity instruments at a positive amount
of €20 million compared with the €46 million in the previous-year period. Besides income from the realisation of
share transactions, the decline is driven mainly by write-downs on property fund units held in the Wealthcap
subsidiary.

Net gains/losses on derecognition of financial instruments measured at cost

This item reports a loss of €17 million for 2023 after a gain of €29 million in 2022. The result is thus considerably
lower than the previous-year figure. The loss is primarily attributable to the sale of loans and receivables with
customers. Thresholds for sales of assets measured at cost were observed in this connection. These are generally
intended to be held and are sold only in exceptional cases. The gain in the previous-year period was largely due to
the premature derecognition of liabilities from the TLTRO IIl programme at the time on account of the ECB’s
adjustment of the conditions in 2022.

Net other expenses/income
Net other expenses/income shows a net expense of €255 million for the reporting period, which is thus a sharp
increase on the net expense in the previous-year period of €138 million.

Within this total, the negative balance of expenses/income from investment properties increased by €65 million to
€69 million in 2023 compared with the €4 million in the previous-year period. Moreover, the reporting period
contains €75 million in depreciation and write-downs on inventories (buildings measured compliant with IAS 2;
2022: no depreciation or write-downs). This development was partially offset by the lower bank levy, which was
down by €62 million.

At €179 million in the reporting period (2022: €241 million), the bank levy is the largest single item contained in net
other expenses/income. The lower expense for the bank levy is partly due to the expected general decline in
covered deposits (basis of assessment for the bank levy) in 2023 and to the reduction in liabilities relevant for
calculating the contribution at HVB as a further factor influencing the amount set for the bank levy.
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Operating costs

Operating costs totalled €2,529 million in the reporting period and are thus a marked €82 million (3.1%) lower than
the previous-year figure of €2,611 million. This shows that HVB Group has succeeded in reducing costs in line with
the UniCredit Unlocked strategic plan and in combating the effects of inflation at the same time.

Payroll costs declined noticeably by €81 million (5.7%) to €1,334 million in the reporting period compared with
€1,415 million in the previous-year period, especially against the backdrop of adjusted staffing levels. As a result,
wages and salaries as well as expenses for pensions declined overall. Other administrative expenses totalled
€1,045 million in the reporting period, which is a marked decrease of €42 million (3.9%) compared with the
previous-year period. Despite higher inflation rates, this decrease was achieved on the back of strict cost
management in line with our UniCredit Unlocked strategic plan.

An opposite trend was seen in depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
software and right-of-use assets that post a sharp increase of €41 million (37.6%) to €150 million in the reporting
period compared with €109 million in the previous-year period. This is mainly attributable to unscheduled write-
downs on properties owned and occupied by the Bank as a result of a decline in market values.

Operating profit (before net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments)
Operating profit (before net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments) amounted to
€2,580 million in the reporting period, which represents a sharp rise of €442 million (20.7%) over the previous-year
figure of €2,138 million.

The cost-income ratio (ratio of operating costs to operating income) is based on the segmented income statement,
which is relevant for the corporate management and planning of HVB Group, improved significantly to 44.3% in the
reporting period after 49.9% in the previous-year period and thus exceeded the forecast of a marked improvement.
The segmented income statement used for the cost-income ratio is shown in the Note “Income statement, broken
down by operating segment”.

Net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments

In the reporting period, net additions to net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments
totalled €167 million after net additions of €299 million to net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees
and commitments in the previous-year period. This represents a sharp decline of €132 million (44.1%). The
individual effects that offset each other are described below.

In the reporting period, a net amount of €113 million in portfolio allowances (general loan loss provisions - GLLP)
was reversed following a net addition of €261 million in the previous-year period. The models used to calculate
expected credit losses generally reflect effects from the adjustment of macroeconomic factors. In addition,
overlays were applied for certain sub-portfolios that are particularly sensitive to certain risks. These overlays are to
be considered supplementary measures to the expected loss models. On the one hand, these risks are
geopolitical risks caused by the sudden increase in energy costs, inflation and interest rates for both companies
and private individuals. On the other hand, these are risks that have arisen especially in the commercial real estate
and construction industry (CRE) as a result of the persistently high level of interest rates. Both overlays largely
offset each other since the geopolitical overlay results in a reversal (or a change to specific loan loss provisions)
and the CRE overlay in an addition.

18  Annual Report 2023 - HypoVereinsbank



Changes in methodology are a further factor for the reversal of a general loan loss provision which was entered in
2022 as a post-model adjustment for products for which the (entire) repayment is made shortly before the maturity
of the financing and was reversed in 2023. Contrary to expectations, detailed model implementation enabled a
lower loan loss provision to be calculated. There was a reversal also due to the adjustment made to the probability
of default (PD) parameters of the acquisition and leveraged finance model stemming from a time series expansion.
There was also an addition due to a post model adjustment to an imminent update to the loss-given default model.
In view of the macroeconomic situation, updated forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios (marginally lower
growth rates in the gross domestic product for 2024, 2025 and 2026 and the lower house price index) resulted in
additions to general loan loss provisions. Please refer to the Note “Impairment of financial assets” for further
information.

In the reporting period, net additions to specific loan loss provisions total €280 million after net additions of
€38 million in the previous-year period. Additions to specific loan loss provisions on account of defaults (no
concentration on a specific sector) were partly compensated for by reversals of existing specific loan loss
provisions. The need for specific loan loss provisions for direct Russia exposure in connection with the Russia-
Ukraine conflict remained at a relatively moderate level in the reporting period.

Provisions for risks and charges

In the reporting period, net income of €32 million was generated from the reversal of provisions for risks and
charges. In contrast, there was net income of €11 million from the reversal of provisions for risks and charges
reported in the previous-year period. No individual items of significance occurred in the reporting period or in the
previous-year period.

Restructuring costs
Restructuring costs totalled €309 million in the reporting period (previous-year period: €80 million).

Restructuring costs in the reporting year are based on measures that are built on the already existing UniCredit
Unlocked strategic plan. The strategic guidelines of the groupwide Unlocked plan in terms of simplification,
customer focus and digitalisation are still valid. In the reporting period, further strategic measures were started
within the framework of the UniCredit Unlocked strategic plan to support the achievement of the long-term goals of
the strategic plan. Among other things, this includes the reorganisation of the Digital & Information and Operations
business areas into the Digital & Operations business area, the simplification of HVB’s trading activities through
the gradual transfer of individual trading activities to UniCredit S.p.A. and further planned reorganisations.

These measures and the changes in framework conditions require further adjustments to be made in the Bank’s
staff planning. Therefore, most of the restructuring costs in the amount of €191 million relate to the planned,
socially compatible reduction in staffing levels, which is to be achieved above all by natural fluctuation, early
retirement solutions and severance agreements.
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HVB Group uses the UniCredit groupwide service offering of IT activities and certain other administrative activities
of UniCredit S.p.A. These services are charged to HVB Group by UniCredit S.p.A. according to origin based on
cost. In the course of the reorientation of the UniCredit corporate group, further restructuring measures involving
the IT activities concerned/other service areas are planned for 2023 and 2024. HVB Group is assuming the pro
rata costs of €90 million in 2023 for the areas of UniCredit S.p.A. to be restructured as these provide their services
almost exclusively for HVB Group. This one-time payment is offset by a significant reduction in costs in the future
as UniCredit S.p.A. can provide equivalent services more cost effectively in the future.

In the previous-year period, restructuring costs of €80 million relate, among other things, to measures for the
migration of various trading systems to a central trading system. The historically grown structure of HVB Group’s
trading systems is to be made considerably easier by transferring the activities concerned to one trading platform.
Furthermore, an amount of €46 million of the restructuring costs relates to payroll costs.

Profit before tax, income tax for the period and consolidated profit/loss
In the reporting period, HVB Group generated profit before tax of €2,139 million, which is a sharp €371 million
(21.0%) higher than the profit before tax of €1,768 million generated in the previous-year period.

Income tax expense amounted to €404 million in the reporting period and is therefore a substantial €63 million
(13.5%) lower than the income tax expense of €467 million for the same period in the previous year. The lower tax
expense in the reporting year is largely due to tax refunds for previous years as a result of the revaluation of tax
risks. For detailed information on the tax expense, please refer to the Note “Income tax for the period”.

After deducting income tax for the period, HVB Group generated a consolidated profit of €1,735 million in the
reporting period, which represents a sharp increase of €434 million (33.4%) compared with the consolidated profit
of €1.301 million in the previous-year period.

The forecast made in the 2022 Annual Report of a sharp increase in profit before tax and also a significant
increase in profit after tax for the 2023 financial year was confirmed in the reporting year and was exceeded for
profit after tax.

Return on allocated capital

The profitability ratio return on allocated capital (RoAC) shows the annualised consolidated profit of HVB Group in
relation to allocated capital. With RoAC, allocated capital is determined on the basis of the average risk-weighted
assets (including equivalents for market risk and operational risk) whereby 13.00% equity is allocated to the
average risk-weighted assets. In the reporting period, this ratio rose to 16.1% after 11.0% in the previous-year
period.

The RoAC is thus considerably higher than in the previous-year period and significantly higher than the figure
forecast for the reporting period. Compared with the 2022 financial year and the forecast, this is attributable to an
improvement in consolidated profit in 2023.
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Segment results by operating segment

The structure of the income statement used for internal management purposes is shown; any deviations to the
presentation of the operating performance are described in detail in the “Segment reporting” section of the
consolidated financial statements. When calculating totals, minor deviations might occur as a result of rounding.

OPERATING INCOME (€ millions) 11-31/12/2023  1/1-31/12/2022

Retail 1,548 1,359
Corporates 3,589 3,440
Other 292 250
Total 5,430 5,050

NET OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) (€ millions)

1/1-31/12/2023

1/1-31/12/2022

Retail 450 449
Corporates 2,202 1,594
Other 192 96
Total 2,844 2,140
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (€ millions) 11-31/12/2023  1/1-31/12/2022

Retail 194 436
Corporates 1,859 1,274
Other 75 91
Total 2,128 1,801

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX (CONSOLIDATED PROFIT/(LOSS)) (€ millions)

1/1-31/12/2023

1/1-31/12/2022

Retail 167 302
Corporates 1,476 865
Other 83 100
Total 1,725 1,267
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General comments on the business situation in 2023 and comparison with last year’s expectations
Similar to the previous year, the 2023 reporting year was characterised by the ongoing conflict between Russia
and Ukraine. Partly as a result of this, inflation rates in many countries remained at a significantly higher level. In
2023, key central banks, such as the ECB or the FED, continued to significantly tighten monetary policy, which
began in 2022, and raised interest rates further over the course of the year. Thus, the 3-month Euribor in 2023
rose from positive 216 basis points at the outset of 2023 to positive 391 basis points at year-end 2023.

Operating income was up by a substantial €360 million, or 7.6%, to €5,109 million in the reporting period

compared with the previous-year period. This was mainly due to the sharp rise of €632 million in net trading
income and the marked increase of €113 million in net interest. Net trading income benefitted from the high level of
rising market interest rates. Due to the rise in interest rates, a considerably higher interest margin was achieved in
the deposit-taking business, which was the key factor driving the increase in net interest. This more than offset the
decline in net gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value (down €266 million compared with 2022)
and lower net other expenses/income (down €117 million compared with 2022).

Compared with 2022, operating costs were down by a marked 3.1% to €2,529 million in the reporting period in line
with the UniCredit Unlocked strategic plan.

Net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments declined significantly from €299 million
in the previous-year period to €167 million in the reporting period. While additions to specific valuation allowances
rose from €38 million in the previous-year period to €280 million in the reporting period, there was a net reversal of
€113 million in portfolio valuation allowances (general loan loss provisions - GLLP) in 2023 after net additions of
€261 million in 2022. Net additions to general loan loss provisions, which were set aside for post-model
adjustments in 2022, were reversed in 2023 due to precise calculation through technical implementation for
expected credit losses on credit products maturing at the end of the term. Net additions to general loan loss
provisions for adjustments to the macroeconomic situation partly offset this effect.

After €80 million in the previous-year period, restructuring costs increased significantly to €309 million in the
reporting period as a result of the continuation of the UniCredit Unlocked strategic plan and particularly the
associated adjustments made in personnel planning.

There was a sharp rise of €371 million to €2,139 million in profit before tax in the reporting period after

€1,768 million in 2022. Compared with the forecast development of HVB Group in the 2022 Annual Report,
operating income rose more strongly. As forecast, a sharp decline was achieved in net write-downs of loans and
provisions for guarantees and commitments.

In the reporting period, profit after tax increased significantly from €1,301 million to €1,735 million compared with
the previous-year period for the reasons named above. Therefore, the projected significant rise in profit after tax
was exceeded.

At 44.3%, the cost-income ratio based on the segmented income statement, which is relevant for the corporate
management and planning of HVB Group, is considerably lower than the level in 2022 (49.9%) and thus exceeds
the projected development of a marked improvement. The RoAC rose sharply to 16.1% in the reporting period
after 11.0% in the previous-year period and thus exceeds the projected slight improvement over 2022.

22 Annual Report 2023 - HypoVereinshank



The CET1 capital ratio in accordance with approved consolidated financial statements comes to 22.7% at year-
end 2023 (year-end 2022: 19.6%) and thus exceeds the projected slight decline. The increase in the CET1 capital
ratio is attributable to the decrease in risk-weighted assets, also as a result of continued capital efficiency
measures.

Overall, the earnings position and profitability of HVB Group improved in the 2023 financial year, which is reflected
in a sharp increase in profit after tax and RoAC. The assets, liabilities and financial position of HVB Group also
continued to develop well, enabling an improvement in the regulatory capital ratios and the leverage ratio.
Furthermore, the liquidity position is still good, as can be seen from the increase in the liquidity coverage ratio
(LCR) and net stable funding ratio (NSFR) of HVB.

Financial situation

Total assets

The total assets of HVB Group come to €283.3 billion as at 31 December 2023 after €318.0 billion as at
31 December 2022 and are thus a significant €34.7 billion (10.9%) lower than year-end 2022.

On the assets side, cash and cash balances fell sharply by €13.5 billion and amount to €23,3 billion as at the
reporting date compared with €36.8 billion as at year-end 2022. This decline is due to lower credit balances with
central banks (down €13.4 billion), in particular as a result of the repayment of TLTRO-III funds (down

€14.9 billion). Credit balances with central banks amount to €22.9 billion at the reporting date compared with
€36.3 billion as at 31 December 2022. There was also a decline of €0.1 billion to €0.4 billion in cash on hand as at
the reporting date.

At €68.6 billion as at 31 December 2023, financial assets held for trading fell a sharp €13.7 billion or 16.6%
compared with €82.3 billion as at year-end 2022. This is the result of declines in the positive fair values of
derivative instruments (down €15.0 billion, largely due to interest rate derivatives) and fixed-interest securities
(down €0.5 billion). This was partially compensated by the increase in equity instruments (up €2.2 billion).

The portfolio of financial assets at FVTPL, which consists mainly of securities, fell sharply by €1.9 billion, or 37.6%,
to €3.2 billion as at the reporting date compared with year-end 2022. This decline is primarily due to securities
reaching final maturity.

The volume of financial assets at FVTOCI, which consists exclusively of securities, decreased a marked
€0.5 billion to €9.3 billion compared with the previous year-end (€9.8 billion). The decline is primarily due to the
maturities and sales of securities.

Loans and receivables with banks declined sharply by €3.7 billion to €19.6 billion, which is attributable to the
decreases in reverse repos (down €2.2 billion) due to the reduction in the repo business on the assets side, cash
collateral and pledged credit balances (down €1.7 billion) as a result of the decline in cash collateral for listed
derivatives, other loans to banks (down €1.3 billion) and current accounts (down €0.9 billion). This was offset by
securities (up €2.2 billion).

Loans and receivables with customers were down slightly by €0.4 billion to €154.5 billion, mainly due to other
loans and receivables (down €4.4 billion) as well as cash collateral and pledged credit balances (down
€1.0 billion). This was offset by an increase in securities (up €4.5 billion) and in mortgage loans (up €1.1 billion).
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On the liabilities side, the item “Deposits from banks” was down by a sharp €15.6 billion, or 30.5%, to €35.7 billion
as at the reporting date (year-end 2022: €51.3 billion). This year-on-year decline is attributable to the development
of deposits from central banks (down €14.5 billion) and term deposits (down €0.8 billion). The decline in deposits
from central banks reflects the repayment of TLTRO Il funds totalling €14.9 billion.

There was a marked reduction of €7.8 billion to €139.6 billion in deposits from customers, due mainly to the
outflow of individual larger deposits in Corporates. This primarily consisted of declines in current accounts (down
€16.4 billion), savings deposits (down €5.0 billion) as well as cash collateral and pledged credit balances (down
€0.7 billion). These were offset by increases in term deposits (up €12.8 billion), repos (up €0.9 billion) and other
liabilities (up €0.9 billion). Overall, there has been a shift in deposits from customers from sight and savings
deposits to term deposits as a result of the general interest rate environment.

Compared with year-end 2022, there was a significant increase of €3.2 billion to €34.3 billion in debt securities in
issue, which primarily serve to fund the medium- to long-term lending business. This increase is mainly due to a
higher volume of Mortgage Pfandbriefe (up €1.2 billion) and Public-sector Pfandbriefe (up €1.0 billion).

Financial liabilities held for trading fell sharply by €15.8 billion to €48.5 billion compared with year-end 2022. This
decline is solely attributable to the negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, with most of the
reduction relating to interest rate derivatives. Other financial liabilities held for trading remained stable.

At €4.7 billion as at the reporting date, financial liabilities at FVTPL fell slightly compared with 31 December 2022
(€4.8 billion).

Shareholders’ equity shown in the balance sheet was up slightly by €0.2 billion to €19.9 billion as at the reporting
date. This is due to the increase of €0.5 billion in profit available for distribution and was offset by the decline of
€0.4 billion in other reserves.

Further and more detailed information on the individual items in the balance sheet is contained in the “Notes to the
Balance Sheet” and in “Other Information” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Contingent liabilities and other commitments not recognised in the balance sheet amounted to €135.8 billion at the
reporting date compared with €132.8 billion at year-end 2022. This figure includes contingent liabilities in the form
of financial guarantees of €29.7 billion (year-end 2022: €29.6 billion) and other commitments of €106.0 billion
(year-end 2022: €103.2 billion) related to irrevocable and revocable credit commitments. The recognition of
contingent liabilities from lending commitments was adjusted in the reporting period. In addition to irrevocable
lending commitments, revocable lending commitments, which are generally subject to credit default risk, are also
recognised. The data reported for year-end 2022 have been adjusted accordingly. The previous year figure was
also adjusted by €6.5 billion. These contingent liabilities are offset by contingent assets of the same amount.
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Risk-weighted assets, key capital ratios and leverage ratio of HVB Group

The total risk-weighted assets of HVB Group (including market risk and operational risk) determined in accordance
with the Capital Requirements Regulation (Kapitaladaquanzverordnung — CRR II) amounted to €69.8 billion as at
31 December 2023 and were thus €12.3 billion lower than as at year-end 2022 (€82.1 billion), also as a result of
measures to increase capital efficiency (through an improvement in the collateralisation ratios, among other things)
in line with the group-wide UniCredit Unlocked strategic plan. Risk-weighted assets for credit risk (including
counterparty default risk) fell overall by €8.8 billion to €57.0 billion, partly due to lower exposure (through a
reduction in only marginally profitable lending business, among other things). Risk-weighted assets for market risk
fell by €3.5 billion and came to €4.3 billion (reduction in securities portfolios and improved method for calculating
risk in the commodities sector). Furthermore, risk-weighted asset equivalents for operational risk declined by

€0.1 billion to €8.5 billion.

As at 31 December 2023, Common Equity Tier 1 capital compliant with the CRR Il excluding hybrid capital (CET1
capital) totalled €15.9 billion and Tier 1 capital €17.6 billion. Tier 1 capital decreased slightly compared with year-
end 2022 (€17.8 billion in accordance with approved consolidated financial statements). The CET1 capital ratio
(ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 capital to the total amount of credit risk-weighted assets and risk-weighted asset
equivalents for market risk and operational risk) and the Tier 1 capital ratio under the CRR |l (including market risk
and operational risk) were 22.7% and 25.2% respectively as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 19.6%
and 21.6% respectively). Own funds came to €18.9 billion as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:

€19.2 billion in accordance with approved consolidated financial statements). The own funds ratio was 27.1% as at
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 23.4%). The increase in the ratios is attributable to the decrease in risk-
weighted assets.

The leverage ratio is determined by dividing the Tier 1 capital measure by the total exposure measure. The total
exposure measure is the sum total of the exposure values of all assets and off-balance sheet items. The leverage
ratio of HVB Group came to 5.7% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022 in accordance with approved
consolidated financial statements: 5.4%) and is higher than the minimum requirement of 3.0%.

Ratings

HVB'’s creditworthiness and credit rating are assessed by the credit rating agencies Moody’s Investors Service Inc.
(Moody’s), Fitch Ratings Limited (Fitch) and Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services Europe Limited (S&P). The
Moody’s, Fitch and S&P credit rating agencies are registered and certified as credit rating agencies in line with
Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 September 2009 (“CRA
Regulation”).
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Moody’s

Moody’s affirmed HVB’s issuer rating at ‘A2’ and deposit rating at ‘A2’/'P-1’ on 23 November 2023. The outlook
was adjusted from ‘negative’ to ‘stable’. This decision follows a rating move for Italy and the subsequent rating
decision for the Italian parent company UniCredit S.p.A. The rating outlook reflects Moody’s expectation that
HVB'’s financial profile and liability structure will remain stable. The outlook also confirms that Moody’s expects the
credit profile of the parent company UniCredit S.p.A. to remain resilient despite the prevailing macroeconomic
headwinds in the corporate group’s core markets.

HVB'’s stand-alone rating (BCA) was affirmed at ‘baa2’. Moody’s continues to emphasise the strong capital base,
the good asset quality and solid liquidity position of HVB. Moody'’s is still limiting the rating gap between HVB'’s
stand-alone rating to a notch higher than that of its parent company which, from Moody’s perspective, recognises
the existing interdependencies due to the Bank’s role as the global investment banking hub for the corporate group
and Moody’s assumptions regarding the resolution strategy.

As part of the rating decision, HVB’s ratings for preferred senior unsecured bonds and the counterparty risk rating
(CRR) were affirmed at ‘A2’ and ‘A1’/‘P-1’ respectively.

Fitch Ratings

On 19 January 2024, Fitch affirmed HVB'’s ratings with a ‘stable’ outlook in the course of its ongoing annual
review. The rating outlook continues to reflect HVB’s solid capital base and profitability. HVB’s issuer default rating
(IDR) stands at ‘BBB+'/‘F2’, the derivative counterparty rating at ‘A- (dcr) and the rating for deposits as well as for
preferred senior unsecured bonds remains at ‘A-’/'F2’. HVB'’s long-term issuer default rating (IDR) continues to be
determined by the Bank’s viability rating (stand-alone rating) which is ‘bbb+’. In its credit rating assessment, Fitch
emphasises the very good capital base, the improved profitability and the consistently robust refinancing and
liquidity profile of HVB.

Standard & Poor’s

S&P affirmed HVB'’s ratings during a routine credit review on 28 February 2023. The outlook for these ratings is
‘stable’. HVB'’s issuer credit rating (ICR) stands at ‘BBB+'/‘A-2’, the resolution counterparty rating is ‘A-'/'A-2’ and
the rating for preferred senior unsecured debt instruments is ‘BBB+'. The rating outlook reflects S&P’s expectation
that HVB’s capital base will remain at a high level despite a deterioration expected in the economic environment
and that HVB’s financial results will continue to remain stable. In addition, the outlook shows that HVB'’s financial
and operating interdependencies will not increase in the context of implementing UniCredit's Single Point of Entry
(SPE) resolution strategy. Although S&P rarely awards a rating to subsidiaries with an SPE resolution strategy
higher than that of the parent company, HVB's rating is a notch higher than the rating of UniCredit S.p.A. In its
credit rating assessment, S&P emphasises that HVB'’s ratings continue to be supported by a strong capital base,
the Bank’s solid market position in corporate banking, its diversified and stable funding base and other measures.
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Group parent company information (HGB)

UniCredit Bank GmbH (HVB) has made use of the option provided in Section 315 (5) of the German Commercial
Code (Handelsgesetzbuch — HGB) in conjunction with Section 298 (2) HGB and has combined HVB'’s
Management Report with the Group Management Report of HVB Group.

As the Group parent company, HVB determines the business development of HVB Group. The management is
carried out on the basis of IFRS results in line with the internal management of UniCredit S.p.A. The statements
made for HVB Group in this Combined Management Report also apply to HVB to a large extent.

Due to the different accounting standards (HGB instead of IFRS), the operating performance and financial position
of HVB is dealt with separately. This is done below. Please see the notes to the annual financial statements of
HVB for further details.

Relations of UniCredit Bank GmbH (formerly UniCredit Bank AG) with affiliates

We have prepared a separate report on our relations with affiliates in the 2023 financial year which contains the
following declaration made by the Executive Board in accordance with Section 312 of the German Stock
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz — AktG):

“We declare that in the 2023 financial year, based on the circumstances known to us at the time the legal
transactions listed in this report were entered into and the measures listed in this report were undertaken or
omitted, UniCredit Bank GmbH received appropriate consideration for each transaction and did not suffer any
disadvantage as a result of measures undertaken or omitted, or any disadvantages arising were compensated.”
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Operating performance of UniCredit Bank GmbH (HVB)

1/1-31/12/2023 1/1-31/12/2022 Change
INCOME STATEMENT € millions € millions € millions in%
Interest income 8,440 3,786 4,654 122.9
Cunfe_nt ir}come from equity selcuritife_s and other variable-yield securities, 245 714 (469) (65.7)
participating interests, shares in affiliates
Income earned under profit-pooling and profit-and-loss transfer agreements 83 32 51 159.4
Interest payable (6,038) (1,062) (4,976) n/a
Net interest income 2,730 3,470 (740) (21.3)
Fees and commissions receivable 1,758 1,513 245 16.2
Fees and commissions payable (366) (341) (25) 7.3
Net fees and commissions 1,392 1,172 220 18.8
Net income from the held-for-trading portfolio 1,231 609 622 102.1
Other operating income 388 457 (69) (15.1)
Other operating expenses (68) (491) 423 (86.2)
Other operating income less other operating expenses 320 (34) 354 n/a
OPERATING INCOME 5,673 5,217 456 8.7
Wages and salaries (1,367) (1,210) (157) 13.0
Social security costs and expenses for pensions and other employee benefits (206) (597) 391 (65.5)
Payroll costs (1,573) (1,807) 234 (12.9)
Other administrative expenses (1,515) (1,613) 98 6.1)
of which standard amor_tisation and depreciation on intangible assets and (51) (10) (41) n/a
property, plant and equipment
General administrative expenses (3,088) (3,420) 332 9.7)
gzgi‘:g:f\;lzsfgsu BEFORE PROVISIONS FOR LOSSES ON LOANS 2,585 1,797 788 43.9
Write-downs and i_m_pairments of receivables and certaﬁn securi?ies as well as (148) . (148)
allocations to provisions for losses on guarantees and indemnities
Income from write-ups of receivables and certain securities as well as from the
reversal of provisions for losses on guarantees and indemnities - 29 (29) (100.0)
Provisions (148) 29 177) n/a
Write-downs and_i_mpairments of participating interests, shares in affiliates and (71) . (71)
investment securities
Lr;c;c;n;ﬁeféom write-ups of participating interests, shares in affiliates and investment . 13 (13) (100.0)
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses on intangible and tangible assets (240) — (240)
Expenses from absorbed losses (119) 3) (116) n/a
Other income less other expenses (430) 10 (440) n/a
Extraordinary expenses — (14) 14 (100.0)
Extraordinary income 650 1 649 n/a
Extraordinary income/expenses 650 (13) 663 n/a
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2,657 1,823 834 45.7
Tax (524) 527 (1,051) n/a
NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR 2,133 2,350 (217) 9.2)
Transfer to the reserve for shares in a controlling or majority interest-holding company (33) — (33)
Withdrawal from the reserve for shares in a controlling or - 9 ©) (100.0)
majority interest-holding company
Transfer to other retained earnings (408) (1,199) 791 (66.0)
Withdrawal from other retained earnings 33 — 33
PROFIT AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION 1,725 1,160 565 48.7

n/a — of no informative value or change greater than 200%
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Net interest income

At €2,730 million, net interest income generated in the reporting period — interest income less interest payable —
including current income from equity securities and other variable-yield securities, participating interests and
shares in affiliates as well as income from profit-pooling and profit-and-loss transfer agreements is very
significantly lower than the previous-year figure at €3,470 million. The sharply higher interest expenses of

€6,038 million (previous year: €1,062 million) were primarily responsible for the decline in net interest income. This
is mainly due to the increase in interest rates in the short-term deposit-taking business. Interest income less
interest payable declined in the reporting period to €2,402 million (previous year: €2,724 million). In the previous-
year period this amount took into account, among other things, the positive effects of the ECB’s TLTRO llI
programme.

Income from profit-and-loss transfer agreements rose in the reporting period to €83 million after €32 million in the
previous-year period. Furthermore, the low current income of €245 million (previous year: €714 million) contributed
to the decline in net interest income. This was mainly due to the absence of the contribution to earnings from
affiliated (real estate) companies as a result of the merger of these companies and HVB.

Net fees and commissions

At €1,392 million in the reporting year, net fees and commissions were very significantly higher than the previous
year’s level of €1,172 million. This is attributable to the increase in fees and commissions receivable from the other
service and lending business, the securities and portfolio business as well as to the income from payments.

Net income from the held-for-trading portfolio

Net income from the held-for-trading portfolio increased very significantly compared with the previous-year period
from €609 million to €1,231 million in the reporting period. This was mainly due to income from the rate derivatives
business in the areas of fixed income, currencies & commodities as well as equities & credit trading. Key factors
driving total income were stable customer demand for hedging transactions on a high level and rising, high market
interest rates. A corresponding counter-effect can be seen in net interest income.

Other operating income less other operating expenses

Other operating income less other operating expenses saw a very significant increase from minus €34 million in
the previous year to €320 million in the 2023 financial year. This is attributable mainly to the sharply reduced net
negative earnings contributions from liabilities from pension obligations: minus €5 million in the reporting period
after minus €414 million in the previous-year period. Owing to the relatively stable level of interest rates, plan
assets to fulfil liabilities from pension obligations, which are largely based on the interest rate sensitivity of the
obligation, developed positively and almost compensated for the expenses from the change in pension obligations.
Furthermore, rental and ancillary cost income increased from €6 million to €60 million as a result of the merger of
affiliated (real estate) companies with HVB. However, there was a decline in net reversals of and additions to
provisions not affecting the lending and securities business (€170 million, previous year: €299 million.
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General administrative expenses
General administrative expenses were down significantly compared with the previous-year period by €332 million
to €3,088 million (previous year: €3,420 million).

This is the result, among other things, of the decline in payroll costs of €234 million to €1,573 million (previous
year: €1,807 million). Higher restructuring costs (€233 million) for severance payments or early retirement
schemes compared with the previous-year period were compensated by lower expenses for pensions

(€381 million).

Furthermore, other administrative expenses decreased by €98 million to €1,515 million (previous year:

€1.613 million) also as a result of a lower bank levy (down €62 million), declining expenses for buildings and office
space (down €65 million) as well as the restructuring expenses for real estate recorded in the previous year. In
addition, expenses in connection with banking operations were reduced further.

This was set against increased expenses for scheduled write-downs on real estate as well as plant and office
equipment (up €41 million). These were essentially the result of the merger of affiliated (real estate) companies
with HVB in 2023 and the transfer of various properties to HVB.

As part of reorientation of the UniCredit corporate group, further restructuring measures for IT activities/other
service areas are planned for the years 2023 and 2024. HVB has assumed pro rata costs for this of €90 million for
areas of UniCredit S.p.A. to be restructured, which provide their services almost exclusively for HVB.

Operating result before provisions for losses on loans and receivables

The operating result before provisions for losses on loans and receivables rose sharply year on year by

€788 million to €2,585 million. This development is due to sharp increases in net income from the held-for-trading
portfolio, other operating income less other operating expenses and the decline in general administrative
expenses.

This results in a very significantly lower cost-income ratio (ratio of general administrative expenses to operating
income) of 54.4% after 65.6% in the previous-year period.

Provisions for losses on loans and receivables

Provisions for losses on loans and receivables amounted to minus €148 million in the reporting period (previous
year: positive balance of €29 million). The net measurement loss on lending operations contained in provisions for
losses on loans and receivables amounted to €166 million (previous year: net measurement gain of €322 million).

In the 2023 financial year, a net amount of €111 million in general loan loss revisions (GLLP) was reversed. The
models used to calculate expected credit losses generally reflect effects from the adjustment of macroeconomic
factors. In addition, overlays were applied for certain sub-portfolios that are particularly sensitive to certain risks.
These overlays are to be considered supplementary measures to the expected loss models. On the one hand,
these risks are geopolitical risks caused by the sudden increase in energy costs, inflation and interest rates for
both companies and private individuals. On the other hand, these are risks that have arisen especially in the
commercial real estate and construction industry (CRE) as a result of the persistently high level of interest rates.
Both overlays largely offset each other since the geopolitical overlay results in a reversal (or a change to specific
loan loss provisions) and the CRE overlay in an addition.
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Changes in methodology are a further factor for the reversal of a general loan loss provision which was entered in
2022 as a post-model adjustment for products for which the (entire) repayment is made shortly before the maturity
of the financing and was reversed in 2023. Contrary to expectations, detailed model implementation enabled a
lower loan loss provision to be calculated. There was a reversal also due to the adjustment made to the probability
of default (PD) parameters of the acquisition and leveraged finance model stemming from a time series expansion.
There was also an addition due to a post model adjustment to an imminent update to the loss-given default model.
In view of the macroeconomic situation, updated forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios (marginally lower
growth rates in the gross domestic product for 2024, 2025 and 2026 and the lower house price index) resulted in
additions to general loan loss provisions. Please refer to the Note “Impairment of financial assets” for further
information.

In the reporting period, net additions to specific loan loss provisions total €316 million after net additions of

€59 million in the previous-year period. Additions to specific loan loss provisions on account of defaults were
partially compensated by reversals of existing specific loan loss provisions. The specific loan loss provision
requirement for the direct Russia exposure in connection with the Russia-Ukraine conflict remained on a relatively
moderate level in the reporting year.

A net gain of €18 million was generated with securities held for liquidity purposes in the reporting year after a net
loss of €293 million the previous year.

Other income less other expenses
Other income less other expenses fell very significantly in the 2023 financial year from €10 million in the prior-year
period to minus €430 million in the reporting period.

Various properties were transferred to HVB as part of the merger of affiliated (real estate) companies with HVB in
2023. Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment totalled €240 million in the reporting period, mainly as a
result of the negative market development of real estate.

In addition, a net amount of minus €119 million was recognised from loss transfers, which are mainly attributable
to affiliated companies of HVB and its subsidiaries. Amortisation and depreciation on participating interests, shares
in affiliates and securities treated as fixed assets amounted to minus €71 million in the reporting period. The
expense is the result of losses on the sale of securities (minus €52 million) and the write-down of the carrying
amount of an affiliated company in the amount of €18 million.

Extraordinary income/expenses

Extraordinary income/expenses of €650 million in the reporting period is the result of the gains generated on the
merger of affiliated (real estate) companies with HVB. Extraordinary income/expenses amounted to minus

€13 million in the previous-year period and were attributable to a merger loss.
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Profit before tax

At €2,657 million, profit before tax increased sharply compared with the previous-year profit of €1,823 million. This
is largely due to the very significant rise compared to the previous-year period in net income from the held-for-
trading portfolio, significantly lower general administrative expenses and the sharp increase in the “Extraordinary
income/expenses” item as a result of the gains generated on the merger of affiliated (real estate) companies with
HVB.

Tax

There was tax expense of €524 million in the 2023 financial year (previous-year period: tax income of

€527 million). This is attributable to the positive earnings trend in the reporting period. The tax expense in the
reporting period includes income from previous years totalling €315 million (in particular as a result of the
revaluation of tax risks).

The tax income for 2022 included tax income of €1,190 million owing to the first-time exercise of the capitalisation
option for deferred tax assets, which more than compensated for current tax expense in the previous-year period.

Net income for the year and appropriation of profit

In the 2023 financial year, the profit available for distribution disclosed in the annual financial statements of HVB,
which forms the basis for the appropriation of profit, amounts to €1,725 million. This consists of the net income for
the year of €2,133 million generated in the reporting year less the amount of €408 million transferred to other
retained earnings. We will propose to the Shareholders’ Meeting that the profit available for distribution of

€1,725 million be paid to UniCredit S.p.A. (UniCredit), Milan, Italy. This represents a profit distribution of around
€2.15 per share after a dividend of around €1.45 per share for the 2022 financial year. The profit available for
distribution of €1,160 million reported in the previous year was distributed to UniCredit S.p.A. on 30 March 2023 in
accordance with a resolution adopted by the Shareholders’ Meeting on 27 March 2023.

Financial position

Total assets

HVB'’s total assets amounted to €272.9 billion as at 31 December 2023. This represents a significant decline of
€38.8 billion compared with year-end 2022.

At €2.3 billion, the “Cash and cash balances” item is virtually unchanged compared with 31 December 2022.
Within this total, the balances with central banks amounted to €1.9 billion (year-end 2022: €1.8 billion). Cash on
hand came to €0.4 billion (year-end 2022: €0.5 billion).

Loans and receivables with banks fell sharply by €18 billion to €31.3 billion compared with year-end 2022. The
main reason for this is the decrease in overnight deposits (down €13.5 billion) under the deposit facility of the
Deutsche Bundesbank, which is largely attributable to the repayment of TLTRO Il funds in 2023.

Loans and receivables with customers also declined by €6.2 billion to €121.3 billion. Among other things, the main
factors for this were declines in the volume of bank loans (€2.4 billion) and of €1.6 billion in fixed-term deposits.

The holdings disclosed under securities (without held-for-trading portfolios) increased by €4.3 billion to
€63.3 billion as at the reporting date. There were increases in both own bonds (up €1.2 billion) and third-party
bonds (up €3.8 billion).

32 Annual Report 2023 - HypoVereinshank



At €49 4 billion, financial assets held for trading were sharply lower than the level of €68.7 billion at year-end 2022.
This decline is due in large part to the €5.3 billion decrease in derivative financial instruments and the €14.4 billion
decrease in CO2 emissions rights.

Compared with year-end 2022, the shareholdings disclosed under participating interests and shares in affiliates fell
by €0.8 billion to €0.7 billion, primarily due to the merger of affiliated (real estate) companies with HVB.

In the 2023 reporting year, property, plant and equipment was up by €1.5 billion to €1.6 billion. This rise is due to
the merger of affiliated (real estate) companies with HVB and the associated transfer of the property portfolio.

There was a decrease in volumes on the liabilities side in line with the development on the assets side. The
change in deposits from banks (down €16.2 billion to €30.7 billion) is mainly the result of the partial repayment of
loans under the TLTRO IIl programme of €14.9 billion.

Deposits from customers were down by €7.1 billion to €144.6 billion. This decline is primarily attributable to
decreases of €5.0 billion in savings deposits and €25.1 billion in demand deposits from current customer accounts.
This is offset by increases of €12.7 billion in fixed-term deposits and €8.8 billion in call money.

Debt securities in issue rose by €3.7 billion to €34.9 billion as a result of new issues.

There was a very significant decline in liabilities held for trading (down €20.2 billion to €26.8 billion). Within this
total, €14.9 billion relates to CO2 emission rights, €5.1 billion to derivative financial instruments and €0.4 billion to
securities holdings. In contrast, the volume of repurchase transactions rose by €0.1 billion.

At €3.7 billion, the “Provisions” item matched the level recorded in the previous year.

Shareholders’ equity increased by €1.0 billion to €16.6 billion compared with year-end 2022. The dividend payout
of €1.2 billion for the previous year is offset by net income for the year of €2.3 billion in 2023. The subscribed
capital and the additional paid-in capital remained unchanged compared with the previous year.

The return on assets is defined in Section 26a KWG as the ratio of net profit to total assets. This amounted to
0.782% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 0.754%).

Contingent liabilities and other commitments not recognised in the balance sheet increased slightly to €99.0 billion
(year-end 2022: €98.1 billion). This figure includes contingent liabilities (€29.7 billion) from general loan
guarantees (€0.8 billion), transaction-related guarantees (€27.1 billion) and trading-related guarantees

(€1.8 billion). Other commitments of €69.4 billion (year-end 2022: €68.6 billion) consist solely of irrevocable
lending commitments.
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Risk-weighted assets, key capital ratios, leverage ratio and liquidity ratios of HVB

The total risk-weighted assets of HVB (including market risk and operational risk) determined in accordance with
the Capital Requirements Regulation Il (Kapitaladaquanzverordnung — CRR II) amounted to €70.2 billion as at

31 December 2023 and were thus €10.3 billion lower than at year-end 2022. This is mainly due to the risk-
weighted assets for credit risk (including counterparty default risk) that recorded a decline of €6.8 billion to

€57.9 billion. The risk-weighted assets for market risk were down by €3.5 billion to €4.1 billion while risk-weighted
asset equivalents for operational risk remained stable at €8.2 billion. As at 31 December 2023, the total risk-
weighted assets of HVB in accordance with HGB are for the first time higher than the total risk-weighted assets of
HVB Group in accordance with IFRS. On the one hand, this is due to the merger of affiliated real estate companies
including the properties held by these companies with HVB. On the other hand, it must be taken into account that
HVB'’s regulatory stand-alone report must show data before consolidation.

Common Equity Tier 1 capital compliant with CRR Il excluding hybrid capital (CET1 capital) amounted to

€15.0 billion as at 31 December 2023, while Tier 1 capital of HVB came to €16.7 billion. These figures rose as
compared with 31 December 2022 (€14.7 billion and €16.4 billion respectively). The CET1 capital ratio (ratio of
Common Equity Tier 1 capital to the total amount of credit risk-weighted assets and risk-weighted asset
equivalents for market risk and operational risk) and the Tier 1 capital ratio under CRR Il (including market risk and
operational risk) amounted to 21.4% and 23.8% respectively as at 31 December 2023 in accordance with
approved financial statements (31 December 2022: 18.2% and 20.3% respectively). This rise is attributable to an
increase in capital and a decline in risk-weighted assets. Own funds totalled €18.1 billion as at 31 December 2023
(31 December 2022: €17.8 billion in accordance with approved financial statements). The own funds ratio was
25.8% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 22.1% in accordance with approved financial statements).

The leverage ratio of HVB was 5.1% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 4.5% in accordance with
approved financial statements) and is higher than the minimum requirement of 3.0%.

The liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) is calculated as the ratio of high-quality liquid assets to total net cash flows.
HVB’s LCR amounted to 148% on a twelve-month average as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 142%).
The required LCR of a minimum of 100% to ensure that an institution is able to meet its short-term payment
obligations was also consistently observed in the course of 2023 at the level of the combined liquidity sub-group
consisting of HVB and UniCredit Leasing Finance GmbH.

The net stable funding ratio (NSFR) is calculated as the ratio of the amount of available stable funding to the
amount of required stable funding. HVB’s NSFR amounts to 118.5% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022: 115.6%). The valid NSFR requirement of a minimum of 100% to ensure the availability of a reasonable
share of stable funding was consistently met in the course of 2023.
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Forecast Report/Outlook

The Combined Management Report and the rest of the Annual Report include statements, expectations and
forecasts also concerning the future. These statements, expectations and forecasts are based on plans and
estimates that are supported by the information available to us at the present time. We assume no obligation to
update these statements in the light of new information or future events. Forward-looking statements may entail
known or unknown risks and uncertainties and the actual results and developments may thus differ significantly
from those expected at present. Such discrepancies may result particularly from changes to the general economic
situation and the competitive situation, developments on international capital markets, the possible default of
borrowers or contracting parties in commercial transactions, the implementation of restructuring measures,
amendments to national and international legislation relating in particular to supervisory and tax regulations, the
reliability of our risk-management procedures and methods as well as other risks, some of which are described in
detail in the Risk Report.

However, past experience has shown that there is a greater fluctuation range in the percentage changes
particularly in smaller amounts in the items of the income statement. As a result, statements have frequently been
made in relation to these smaller items that indicate a very significant increase or decline. On the whole, such a
description of the intensity overstates how relevant these are for the operating performance of HVB Group. To
improve the transparency and informative value of the Management Report, HVB Group has decided to adjust the
definitions of the adjectives used to describe intensity. These new terms applied to describe intensity are initially
only used for the forecast for 2024 while the previous descriptions are retained in presenting the performance in
the 2023 financial year in order to ensure comparability with the forecast for 2023 set out in the 2022 Annual
Report.

To describe the intensity of changes more appropriately, the following adjectives are now used: “virtually

LT

unchanged”, “moderate”, “noticeable” and “significant”. To date, the adjectives “slight, “noticeable” or “marked”,

“significant”, “very significant” and “sharp” have been used. The ranges used to describe the changes remain

unchanged. The strongest change is thus described as “significant”; “very significant” or “sharp” are no longer
used.

General economic outlook

After global GDP growth of 3.1% in 2023, the global economy is likely to cool somewhat in 2024 before picking up
at a moderate pace again in 2025. HVB Group is assuming growth of 2.7% in 2024 followed by 3.0% in 2025 (The
UniCredit Macro & Markets Outlook: Central banks’ pivot set to support market sentiment, published on

23 November 2023). The moderate slowdown in the global economy in 2024 is indicated by the still significantly
higher interest rates as a result of the tightening carried out by central banks such as the Fed and the ECB, which
are only likely to show their full dampening impact with a time lag. In addition, the surplus savings accumulated by
private households during the pandemic have been used up for the most part in the eurozone, while they have
been significantly reduced in the USA. Moreover, there is a less expansionary fiscal policy in industrialised
countries. In China, the weak economy is set to continue as the situation on the property market is likely to remain
difficult. From a fundamental perspective, however, there is only a small risk of a hard landing of the global
economy in 2024. On the one hand, further declines in inflation rates are expected to reduce the drag on
purchasing power for private households and companies. On the other hand, the cushion from low debt levels in
the private sector in many industrialised countries and comparatively robust labour markets are likely to prevent an
even stronger slowdown in the economy. However, the tense geopolitical situation is increasing risks for the global
economy. For example, abrupt price swings on financial and commodities markets coupled with a persistently high
level of uncertainty due to geopolitical events could weigh on the global economy.
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HVB Group expects that the US economy will not be able to maintain the pace of growth it saw in 2023 (2.5%) and
will only pick up moderately by 1.0% in 2024 and 2025 respectively. Firstly, the full effect of significantly higher key
interest rates and the associated stricter lending conditions for companies and private households will only be felt
in the US economy after a time lag. Secondly, private consumption is likely to lose momentum. The remaining
surplus savings are held for the most part by the wealthier section of the population and are thus less likely to
boost private consumer spending due to the lower propensity to spend. The savings rate, which in 2023 was
temporarily less than half the level before the pandemic, will presumably increase as the labour market is likely to
continue to weaken moderately with private households becoming more cautious. From the second quarter of
2024, HVB Group expects interest rate cuts by the US Federal Reserve, which are likely to total 125 basis points
by year-end 2024 (The UniCredit Macro & Markets Outlook: Central banks’ pivot set to support market sentiment,
published on 23 November 2023).

The development of the real estate market is expected to remain weak and the population will presumably decline
further, most likely contributing to China's growth remaining rather bumpy and subdued by historical standards.
After growth of 5.2% in 2023, HVB Group expects growth of 4.5% in 2024, followed by 4.3% in 2025 (The
UniCredit Macro & Markets Outlook: Central banks’ pivot set to support market sentiment, published on

23 November 2023).

For the eurozone, HVB Group anticipates slight growth of 0.5% for 2024 followed by a moderate recovery with
GDP growth of 1.2% in 2025 (The UniCredit Macro & Markets Outlook: Central banks’ pivot set to support market
sentiment, published on 23 November 2023). The inflation rate is expected to average 2.2% in 2024 and 1.8% in
2025 after 5.4% in 2023. The ECB is likely to gradually lower the key interest rates from the second quarter of
2024 so that the interest rate cuts are likely to total 75 basis points by year-end 2024 (The UniCredit Macro &
Markets Weekly: Fed in no hurry to cut rates, published on 26 January 2024).

At country level in the eurozone, HVB Group expects slight growth of 0.4% in GDP in Germany in 2024 (2025:
1.3%). By contrast, economic performance in the other larger countries of the eurozone should develop better in
2024. For France, HVB Group expects growth of 0.8% (2025: 1.1%) and for Italy, growth of 0.6% (2025: 1.1%, The
UniCredit Macro & Markets Outlook: Central banks’ pivot set to support market sentiment, published on

23 November 2023).

A slight economic recovery in Germany is suggested by the fact that the reduction of high inventories in the
manufacturing and retail sectors is likely to come to an end. As inflation is also expected to fall further, it will be
less of a drag on the purchasing power of private households. However, a more restrictive course in fiscal policy
might dampen the economy in 2024. In addition, the sharp decline in building permits, especially in residential
construction, is expected to have a negative impact on construction activity after order backlogs were increasingly
reduced by construction companies. Consumer prices are expected to rise by a 2.5% on average in 2024 and by
1.7% in 2025 (2023: 5.9%, The UniCredit Macro & Markets Weekly: Earnings season a litmus test for risk appetite,
published on 12 January 2024).
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Banking sector development in 2024

In the second half of 2023, the high level of inflation in the USA and Europe fell significantly and after September,
the European Central Bank did not raise interest rates any further. However, economic momentum remained
subdued in Germany in particular. At the same time, the fundamental indicators for the European banking sector
are still very good. In particular, net interest income in the European banking sector saw a significantly favourable
development in 2023, while credit risk costs were maintained at a moderate level.

The trend on the income side in the banking sector remained extremely dynamic in the first half of 2023. The ECB
deposit rate rose by 2.0 percentage points in 2023, whereas the interest rate on sight deposits from businesses
rose by only 0.65 percentage points and on sight deposits from households by only 0.30 percentage points in
2023. The significant improvement on the income side combined with cost control and only low risk costs led to a
significant increase in profitability. The return on equity of European banks stood at 10.7% in the first nine months
of 2023 compared with 7.6% in 2022 and less than 4% in the period from 2009 to 2022 (European Banking
Authority). Due to expected interest rate cuts by the ECB in 2024 and another subsequent adjustment of deposit
rates, a decline in net interest income is expected. Nevertheless, the consensus estimate for the return on equity
of European banks in 2024 is more than 11%.

On the structural side, the profitability of European banks continues to improve, which bolsters the profit outlook for
2024. Firstly, an acceleration in digital customer interaction was seen as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic,
enabling a further structural adjustment of branch networks. Secondly, there were a number of national bank
mergers primarily in Spain and Italy, which is likely to additionally boost profitability in the sector in the medium
term. There was also a merger between the two largest banks in Switzerland. The consolidation in the banking
sector continued in Germany too. By the end of November 2023, the number of banks reporting to the Deutsche
Bundesbank fell by 4.0% to 1,334 compared with the previous year (Deutsche Bundesbank). It is to be assumed
that the process of consolidation among European banks will continue, although still focusing on domestic
consolidation instead of large cross-border mergers. Moreover, the trend towards streamlining and focusing banks’
business models continues, with a concentration on core areas and markets in strong competitive positions
generating correspondingly higher margins. On the costs side, most banks are also continuing to adapt their office
space to the new hybrid working environment, enabling a further optimisation of the cost structure.

The liquidity position of the banking sector remained very good despite TLTRO Ill repayments. At the end of
September 2023, the average liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) was 160.7% and the net stable funding ratio (NSFR)
126%, meaning that both liquidity ratios were considerably higher than the regulatory minimum requirements of
100%. The surplus liquidity of European banks declined further in 2023 and stood at €3.5 trillion as at 6 February
2024. In October 2022, the ECB decided to adjust the conditions for TLTRO Il operations. As a result, banks
prematurely repaid a large amount of the TLTRO Ill funds and a further €477 billion in TLTRO Il operations were
due at the end of June. As at year-end 2023, only €392 billion in TLTRO Il funds were still outstanding compared
with the original €2.2 trillion that was drawn down. The large repayment of TLTRO Il funds in 2023 totalling almost
€900 billion went smoothly and the banking sector had a long time to prepare for the repayments. This also
explains, among other things, the high volume of covered bonds issued in 2022 and 2023. In 2024, the remaining
TLTRO-III funds will finally fall due, as a result of which excess liquidity will decline further but still remain at a
historically high level.
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As regards customer deposits, private customer deposits at banks in Europe increased slightly in 2023, whereas
deposits from the corporate sector declined by 0.5%. However, there were considerable differences between
individual countries. While deposits in Spain, Italy and France declined more significantly, a slight increase in
deposits was seen in Germany (European Central Bank). On the whole, banks’ refinancing in 2023 was very
stable despite the crisis at some regional banks in the USA and the problems encountered by a large Swiss bank.
This, in turn, highlights the stability of the European banking sector. Volatility is still to be expected in the US
regional banking sector in 2024 as almost a third of the US regional bank loans involve commercial property
financing and further loan defaults are likely.

The risk costs of European banks amounted to 0.45% of the loans outstanding in the first three quarters of 2023,
which is well below the average of 0.54% over the past five years. The relative volume of non-performing loans
remained constant at 1.8% of the loans outstanding loans in 2023 compared with year-end 2022. The proportion of
loans showing a significant increase in credit risk and classified at Level 2 according to IFRS9 also decreased to
9.2% as at 30 September 2023 compared with 9.4% at year-end 2022. The high proportion of Level 2 loans shows
that the asset quality of European banks is expected to develop moderately negatively in 2024, but to a
manageable extent due to the availability of risk provisions and the significant improvement in profitability in the
banking sector (European Banking Authority). The banks themselves anticipate slightly higher risk costs in 2024
according to the information provided in quarterly reports for the fourth quarter of 2023. The focus is currently
primarily on commercial property financing, which accounts for 6.8% of the outstanding loans in the European
banking sector.

Banks’ capital base remains at a high level. At the end of September 2023, the average CET1 capital ratio of
European banks stood at 15.8% (on a fully loaded basis, EBA data). This more than met the regulatory minimum
requirements, which are 9.8% for 2024 on average for banks supervised by the ECB. Over the course of 2024, the
minimum capital requirements will increase, particularly as a result of the increase in the countercyclical capital
buffer in several countries. This will narrow the gap to the minimum capital requirements for banks somewhat but
banks will continue to significantly exceed the capital requirements on average. The average CET1 capital ratio in
the banking sector increased by 0.4 percentage points in the first three quarters of 2023, despite a greater focus
on dividends and share buybacks. This increase in capitalisation was mainly due to the high level of retained
earnings while risk-weighted assets remained constant (European Banking Authority).

To summarise, the banking sector in Europe is in good shape and is well prepared for an economic slowdown and
a possible increase in defaulting loans. The momentum driven by the increase in net interest income is highly likely
to abate in 2024 as the European Central Bank is expected to make the first interest rate cuts. However,
profitability will continue to be supported by higher interest rates in the medium term and a return to negative
interest as seen from 2014 to 2022 is currently unlikely. Despite this, banks will need to continue making further
structural adjustments, such as digitalising their business processes, adjusting branch networks and consolidating
further in the banking sector.

On the regulatory side, the centre of attention in 2024 will be on the transition to the finalised Basel Il rules
applicable from 1 January 2025. In addition, banks must disclose their green asset ratio (GAR) as a new taxonomy
and key figure for the first time in 2024. In 2024, the European Central Bank will also carry out a stress test on
banks directly supervised by it for cyber resilience, the results of which are to be presented in the summer. In this
context, the focus will not be on whether banks can prevent a cyber attack but how they respond to an attack and
restore their business operations.
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Development of HVB Group

We are continuing to follow the guidelines of our UniCredit Unlocked strategic plan embedded in the group-wide
strategic plan. The following statements on future development are based on the corporate planning of HVB Group
and thus on the rules governing the segmented income statement.

Based on the corporate planning adopted in November 2023 for the 2024 financial year, we expect HVB Group to
generate significantly higher profit before tax and after tax in the 2024 financial year compared with 2023 despite
the still challenging macroeconomic and geopolitical environment (increased inflation and Russia-Ukraine conflict,
among other things).

Owing to the decline in interest rates on average, we expect a noticeable decrease in net interest compared with
2023. In the event of a deviating development of macroeconomic parameters, we expect a sensitivity of approx.
minus €30 million per 25 basis points for our net interest.

By contrast, significant increases are expected in net fees and commissions and net trading income compared
with the previous-year period. This growth can be achieved through higher commission income from the securities
business as a result of a robust or slight increase in capital markets, active capital market operations of corporate
customers in open markets and a good investment climate coupled with a return of demand in the lending
business partly due to political clarity regarding the road to decarbonisation.

Overall, we expect a moderate rise in operating income compared with 2023.

Thanks to the consistent implementation of the UniCredit Unlocked strategic plan and efficient cost management,
we anticipate a moderate decline in operating costs in the 2024 financial year compared with 2023.

Compared with 2023, we expect a moderate improvement in the cost-income ratio in 2024.

After the high costs in previous years, we anticipate net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and
commitments to return to normal. For the 2024 financial year, we expect a significant decline in new net write-
downs of loans and provisions to be recognised compared with the previous-year period.

With regard to provisions for risks and charges, we expect a significant decline compared with 2023, in particular
due to a lower bank levy.

For the RoAC, we anticipate a significant improvement in 2024 compared with the previous year.

In the Corporates operating segment, we expect profit after tax to remain virtually unchanged compared with the
2023 financial year with a moderate improvement in both the RoAC and the cost-income ratio. The Retail
operating segment is expected to see a significant improvement in profit after tax in the 2024 financial year, partly
due to the expected elimination of negative one-off effects in 2023. This applies likewise to the RoAC while the
cost-income ratio is likely to improve noticeably. For the Other business area, we expect a significant decline in
profit after tax in 2024 compared with the previous-year period. This business area is expected to see a significant
decline in the RoAC with a significant increase in the cost-income ratio.
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For the 2024 financial year, we anticipate a solid capital base for HVB Group with a CET1 capital ratio that is
virtually unchanged compared with the figure in 2023.

UniCredit is striving to simplify the structure of its trading activities. While the trading activities of the UniCredit
corporate group are currently bundled at HVB, these will be gradually transferred to UniCredit S.p.A. beginning in
the second half of 2024. HVB Group is expected to benefit from the positive impact this will have in future on
profitability, capital ratios and leverage ratio and, at the same time, see a reduction in risks, profit volatilities and
complexity. The transfer of a first tranche of trading activities is planned for the first half of 2024; the timing
depends on customer approval and IT migration. The purchase agreement was signed at the end of December
2023. The planned transfer of the first tranche in the second half of 2024 will not change the expectations
described above of a significant increase in HVB Group’s profit after tax, cost-income ratio and RoAC for the 2024
forecast year compared with 2023.

Opportunities in terms of future business policy and corporate strategy, performance and other
opportunities

The opportunities described below are offset by risks, such as the geopolitical tensions between Russia and
Ukraine, the Middle East conflict and strategic competition between the USA and China, which can restrict the
exploitation of those opportunities and plans. The risks arising from the business policy and corporate strategy are
described in the Risk Report.

As a universal bank, HVB Group is a member of one of the largest banking groups in Europe, UniCredit.

HVB Group is one of the largest private financial institutions in Germany and operates in a domestic market which
is the largest in the whole of Europe in terms of economic power and size of population. Moreover, Germany is
one of the few countries in the world that continues to enjoy a financial rating of AAA. All in all, HVB Group can
thus exploit its regional orientation combined with the network of a large European banking group covering four
core regions.

Overall, there are a number of opportunities:

HVB Group’s objective in accelerating the implementation of the UniCredit Unlocked strategic plan is to increase
profitability and capital efficiency. Its main focus is on growth in selected customer segments to increase the market
share combined with an efficient service model and the creation of a unique customer experience. We will therefore
be investing in automation and front-to-back process optimisation in the coming years. We are also forging ahead
with a holistic approach to sustainability in accordance with the ESG principles.

We are continuing to make use of resources and opportunities to cooperate within UniCredit across country and
company lines. In this context UniCredit is striving to simplify the structure of its trading activities. While the trading
activities of the UniCredit corporate group are currently bundled at HVB, these will be gradually transferred to
UniCredit S.p.A. beginning in the second half of 2024. HVB Group will benefit from the positive impact this will
have on profitability, capital ratios and leverage ratio in future.
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HVB Group has opportunities to recruit highly qualified employees and managers. Both the size of UniCredit and
the strategic positioning of HVB Group have a beneficial impact on the recruitment of employees and managers.
Promoting female managers at junior level is an explicit and essential component of our business strategy. Our
corporate culture is based on a clearly defined system of values consisting of integrity, ownership and caring.

On account of its capital base, HVB Group is, in our opinion, already well prepared for the upcoming regulatory
requirements and can take advantage of the growth opportunities that arise in the market.

The opportunities for the individual operating segments are as follows:

In the Retail operating segment, we are continuing to pursue our growth strategy. In Wealth Management and
Private Banking, we intend to establish ourselves as one of Germany’s leading providers in the coming years while
further accelerating our growth path with high net worth individuals. Supported by our positioning as a quality
provider, we are thus concentrating on growth and on increasing customer loyalty. We will also continue to
fundamentally modernise the Private Clients Bank by enhancing our smart banking service model.

The Corporates operating segment is continuing to seek profitable, capital-efficient growth and an expansion of
market shares in its corporate banking business through a high level of market penetration, its positioning as a
principal or core bank and the acquisition of new customers. As a strategic partner, Corporates provides in-depth
support for the entrepreneurial activities of its customers. Among other things, the most important challenges for
customers include the topic of sustainability and digitalisation alongside the current geopolitical and
macroeconomic uncertainties. For this reason, the growth initiatives of the Corporates operating segment are
geared to these customer requirements. In addition, we will continue to forge ahead with the digital expansion of
our processes and product solutions.

The operating segments benefit from the Client Solutions product unit. This unit underpins its commitment to
quality in the customer business by focusing on a further exploitation of cross-selling potential through product
solutions, such as intensifying the international payments and working capital business, as well as the close
cooperation with Corporates with improved access to investment banking products and products with low capital
commitment for retail customers.
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HVB Group as a risk-taking entity

By their very nature, the business activities of HVB Group are subject to risk. HVB Group defines risk as the
danger of suffering losses on account of internal or external factors. In the course of our business activities, risks
are identified, quantified, assessed, monitored and actively managed. We therefore regard it as one of our core
duties to apply these considerations in order to integrate risk-management, risk-controlling and risk-monitoring
processes in all operating segments and functions of our Group. These activities are the precondition for providing
adequate capital backing and maintaining an adequate liquidity base.

All HVB Group companies that are included in the consolidated financial statements of HVB Group prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) are incorporated in the risk management
programme of HVB Group. As part of the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), these Group
companies are classified into the categories “large”, “medium”, “small plus” and “small” by applying various criteria
such as market position, scope of business activities and complexity of the risk profile or portfolio structure. With
the exception of the Group companies classified as “small”, which are subject to a simplified approach to risk
measurement, the economic capital is measured differently for the individual risk types. Within the framework of
the ICAAP, the Bank differentiates between the two perspectives required by the regulatory authorities to ensure
capital adequacy, the normative and the economic perspective. In the economic perspective, all risks that can lead
to economic losses are covered by the internal capital, which is calculated on the basis of internal processes and
methods. This is the basis for the risk-taking capacity as a measure used by HVB Group for economic capital
adequacy. In the normative perspective, capital adequacy is additionally ensured by means of multi-year capital
planning.

Risk types

Credit risk is defined as the potential losses arising in the value of a credit exposure due to an unexpected
change in credit quality of a contracting party (borrower / financial investment / small legal entity, counterparty,
issuer or country). This potential loss may be brought about either by a default by the borrower who is thus no
longer in a position or willing to meet its contractual obligations in full, or its rating has been downgraded as a
result of a deterioration in its credit quality.

Market risk is defined as the risk of incurring losses on positions held on and off the balance sheet in the trading
or investment books as a result of unfavourable changes in the market value of securities or financial derivatives.
The most relevant of these market prices are interest rates (used to determine and discount cash flows), share
prices, credit spreads (including, but not limited to, changes in these spreads due to credit defaults or rating
changes), spot exchange rates, commaodity prices and derived prices such as volatilities and correlations between
these parameters. Market risk also includes the behavioural model risk, which represents the statistical uncertainty
involved in the model assumptions for sight and savings deposits as well as the early repayment of mortgage
loans.

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that HVB Group will not be able to meet its payment obligations as they fall
due without incurring unacceptable losses.
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In line with the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR), HVB Group defines operational risk as the risk of losses
resulting from inadequate or deficient internal processes and systems, human error or external events. This
definition includes legal risk but excludes strategic and reputational risk.

These risk types are described in detail in the section entitled “Risk types in detail”. All other risk types of
HVB Group are summarised in the section entitled “Other risks”, which is presented in an abridged form.

The following risk types are summarised as other risks:

— Real estate risk covers potential losses resulting from fluctuations in the market value of the Bank’s own real
estate portfolio. This comprises the real estate owned by Group companies (owned or leased in accordance with
IFRS 16), real estate holding companies and special purpose vehicles. No land or properties are included that
are held as collateral. These are included under credit risk.

— Business risk is defined as a measure of the gap between unexpected disadvantageous changes in the Bank’s
future earnings and expected changes over a one-year risk horizon. Business risk can result above all from a
serious deterioration in the market environment, changes in the competitive situation or customer behaviour but
also from changes in the cost structure.

— Pension risk can occur on both the assets side and the liabilities side (pension commitments). This may be
caused by a decline in the fair value of plan assets on the assets side due to disadvantageous changes in
market prices as well as an increase in the obligations on the liabilities side, due for instance to a reduction in
the discount rate. Furthermore, there are actuarial risks such as longevity risk (changes to the mortality tables)
on the obligation side. In this context, pension risk is the risk that the pension provider will have to provide
additional capital to service the vested pension commitments.

— Financial investment risk covers potential losses arising from fluctuations in the measurement of HVB Group’s
equity interests. HVB Group’s financial investment risk stems from the occurrence of losses in equity provided in
connection with a financial investment in other companies that are not consolidated in HVB or included in market
risk. Financial investment risk is accounted for in the risk analysis via credit risk and market risk.

— Strategic risk results from management either not recognising early enough or not correctly assessing
significant developments or trends in the Bank’s environment. As a result, fundamental management decisions
could, in retrospect, prove to be disadvantageous in terms of the achievement of the Bank’s long-term goals. In
addition, some decisions may be difficult to reverse or not be able to be reversed directly. In the worst case, this
can negatively impact the profitability and risk profile of HVB Group.

— Reputational risk is defined as the risk of negative effects on the income statement caused by adverse
reactions by stakeholders due to a changed perception of the Bank. This changed perception may be triggered
by a primary risk such as credit risk, market risk, operational risk, liquidity risk, business risk, strategic risk or
independently of any triggering primary risk.

— Model risk defines the risk of model weaknesses due to data errors, incorrect assumptions or incorrect
methodology within the scope of the ICAAP calculations. It thus refers to the possibility of the economic capital
being estimated incorrectly. For this reason, a model risk charge is added to the aggregated economic capital for
the established risk types.
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— Sustainability risk defines risks with any financial impact arising from the current or future influence of
sustainability factors on its counterparties (e.g. borrowers, customers or issuers) or invested assets (especially
risks arising from the core activities of HVB Group). Sustainability factors are environmental, social or corporate
governance issues that could have a negative impact on the balance sheet, earnings or liquidity position of
HVB Group. Sustainability risk is not currently a standalone risk type, but is being successively integrated into
relevant risk types.

Integrated overall bank management

Risk management
HVB Group’s risk management programme is built around the business strategy adopted by HVB’s Executive
Board, the Bank’s risk appetite and the corresponding risk strategy.

The risk-taking capacity upon achievement of the set targets is assessed on the basis of the risk strategy and the
business and risk plans, using the available risk coverage potential. At the same time, limits are defined in the
planning process to ensure that the risk-taking capacity is maintained.

Pursuant to the Minimum Requirements for Risk Management (Mindestanforderungen an das Risikomanagement
- MaRisk), multi-year budgeting is performed in relation to the internal capital. This involves analysing the relevant
risk types over a time horizon of at least three years and taking into account a deteriorating macroeconomic
environment. Two scenarios with negative consequences are examined independently of each other to permit an
assessment of the effect of a deteriorating macroeconomic business environment. In the planning process for
2023, these planning scenarios, referred to as adverse scenarios, have been derived against the backdrop of
macroeconomic developments (scenario 1) and additional non-macroeconomically motivated drivers (scenario 2).
Whereas the first scenario compared to the base scenario assumes a continued rise in inflation in 2023 and a
smaller decline in 2024 coupled with a recession and lower market interest rates in most euro countries, the
second scenario takes account of further effects, such as a reduction in the new business margin in the lending
business and a general deterioration in HVB’s credit portfolio, in addition to the factors underlying scenario 1.
Since the risk coverage potential is considered with the same scenarios, it is possible to make a statement about
how the risk-taking capacity will evolve overall over three years, taking into account the macroeconomic scenarios.

Implementation of the risk strategy is a task for the Bank as a whole and is essentially carried out by the Chief Risk
Officer (CRO) organisation. The CRO organisation is responsible for risk management and risk policy guidelines
set by the Executive Board. The CRO reports on a regular basis to the Executive Board and the Risk Committee of
the Supervisory Board on the Group’s risk situation.

New releases and updates to instructions, policies and the risk strategy are communicated through the Bank'’s
internal information system.
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Separation of functions

In addition to Bank-wide risk management, integrated overall bank management is accompanied by
comprehensive risk controlling and risk monitoring that are functionally and organisationally independent in
accordance with the MaRisk rules.

Risk controlling

Risk controlling is defined as the operational implementation of the risk strategy. Credit Risk Operations (CRP) is
responsible for the operational management of credit risk for the operating segments. The credit specialists take
lending decisions in the defined “risk-relevant business”. They thus make it possible for the operating segments to
take on risk positions in a deliberate and controlled manner within the framework of the risk strategy and to
evaluate whether it is profitable to do so from the overall perspective of the customer relationship and on the basis
of risk-return considerations. In the “non-risk-relevant business”, the operating segments are authorised to take
their own lending decisions under conditions set by the CRO organisation. The Financial Risk (CMR) unit is
responsible for monitoring the implementation of the market risk strategy and the ALM & Funding unit within the
Finance organisation for controlling liquidity risk. The Non-Financial Risks unit is responsible for controlling
operational risk and reputational risk with the support of the relevant operational risk managers.

Controlling the business risk consists mainly of the planning of earnings and costs by the individual operating
segments, which the Finance organisation proactively coordinates. The relevant operating segments are
responsible for controlling the financial investments. The real estate risk arising from the property portfolio within
the Group is controlled centrally by the Operations division. Within HVB Group, this is performed by the Real
Estate units (ORS1 and ORS6). HVB Group has undertaken to provide a range of different pension plans, which
are largely financed by various investment vehicles, some of which are external. Under the capital investment
process, there are separate rules covering the specific risk controlling of the different pension plans in each case.
Some of these are subject to supervision by the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt
fur Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht - BaFin), specifically by the Insurance and Pension Funds Supervision unit, and
therefore need to comply with external rules and regulations. Controlling of strategic risk is the shared
responsibility of HVB’s Executive Board.

Risk monitoring

The central risk monitoring function within the CRO organisation is responsible for identifying, measuring and
evaluating the risks at HVB Group. It is structured according to risk types. The risk monitoring functions for the
following risk types: market risk and liquidity risk (for the liquidity risk, however, exclusively the risk monitoring
functions of stress tests, calculation and monitoring of early warning indicators, calculation of the short-term
concentration risk, evaluation of the funding plan) are bundled in the Financial Risk unit, while operational risk and
reputational risk are bundled in the Non-Financial Risks unit. In addition, the Financial Risk unit also monitors the
market risk component of pension risk at regular intervals using a separately developed model (aggregated view of
the plan assets and liabilities) as well as the behavioural model risk. As part of the asset management of the plan
assets, the options for risk positioning are limited by both external and internal regulations. Ongoing monitoring of
the respective rules is performed in accordance with the specific policies of the various pension plans. With regard
to the monitoring of liquidity risk, some tasks are performed by the Financial Risk unit while further risk monitoring
functions for this risk type are the responsibility of the ALM & Funding unit within the Finance organisation
(continuous monitoring of the liquidity risk situation and compliance with limits). The Strategic Credit & Integrated
Risks unit monitors credit risk, business and real estate risk as well as the aggregate economic capital and the
internal capital requirement. Financial investment risk is depicted via market risk and credit risk. The monitoring of
strategic risk is the shared responsibility of HVB’s Executive Board. Sustainability risk materialises via the
traditional risk types (credit risk, market risk, operational and reputational risk, liquidity and funding risk) and is
gradually being integrated into risk monitoring in the course of a project.
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The following are quantifiable risk types: credit risk, market risk (including behavioural model risk), operational risk,
business risk, financial investment risk (covered under credit risk and market risk), real estate risk, pension risk,
reputational risk, and the model risk quantified as risk charge on the established risk types. The available risk
coverage potential is defined, quantified and compared with the risk capital in order to analyse the risk-taking
capacity.

Liquidity risk is also a quantifiable risk but is not included in the calculation of the risk-taking capacity.

A qualitative approach is used to monitor strategic risk.

Divisions

Chief Risk Officer

The controlling and cross-business area management of risk at HVB Group fall within the competence of the Chief
Risk Officer (CRO). This is where all the key functions involved in the identification, analysis, assessment and
reporting of risk are performed together with the ongoing tracking, handling, monitoring and controlling of risk.
These activities are supported and complemented by various CFO units, notably with regard to liquidity risk.

The CRO organisation is divided into units that deal with lending business in the back office. The main functions of

these units include:

— operational functions in the credit-decision and credit-monitoring processes for the risk-relevant lending
business, complete with monitoring of the issuer and counterparty limits

— identification and control of risk at the preliminary stages in order to reduce risk

— restructuring activities with a view to minimising losses for the Bank

At the same time, there are units that cover operational and strategic aspects of risk monitoring. Their main

functions include:

— the development, enhancement, parameterisation and calibration of the rating models used to determine the
probability of our customers defaulting

— validation of Pillar | and Il systems for risk measurement that contain the following components: models,
associated processes, IT systems and data

— the development of concepts used to identify and control credit risk and concentrations, including country risk

— responsibility for the measurement methods and the refinement of the measurement methods and systems, and
for the management and measurement of market risk and liquidity risk

— responsibility for the measurement methods and the refinement of the measurement methods and systems, and
for the management and measurement of operational risk as well as responsibility for reputational risk and its
management

— the determination of the internal capital and the economic capital base

— ensuring ICAAP compliance, ensuring compliance with the MaRisk rules as part of the responsibility for credit
risk and economic capital and the performance of stress tests

— ensuring compliance with regulatory rules regarding internal and external reports

— risk reporting
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Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
The ALM & Funding and Planning units from the Finance (CFO) organisation play a major role in risk monitoring.

The ALM & Funding unit notably covers the management of short- and long-term liquidity at HVB Group (Asset
Liability Management) acting in concert with the front office units and asset/liability management.

Planning (CCP) has been tasked with central business management and cost controlling of HVB Group. CCP has
responsibility for the processes involved in preparing the income budgets and the income projections as well as
the preparation and plausibility checks of the internal segment report according to IFRS. CCP is also responsible
for managing holdings, managing capital and capital allocation as well as the risk-return methodology.
Furthermore, CCP includes the business segment-related controlling departments for all the segments apart from
the Corporate Center. The reconciliation of net trading income for Client Risk Management is carried out between
CCP and Accounting. The reconciliation of net trading income for Treasury is carried out between Accounting and
Finance.

Asset Liability Management

The ALM & Funding unit controls Asset Liability Management by managing short-term and long-term liquidity
within HVB Group. Its main objectives are to ensure that HVB Group has adequate liquidity at all times and to
optimise the funding structure and costs. Asset Liability Management monitors trends and happenings on the
money and capital markets and manages liquidity and funding requirements. As part of liquidity risk management,
the ALM & Funding unit performs ongoing monitoring of the liquidity risk situation, in addition to the activities on
the part of CRO, and manages funding activities together with the front office units. Within the framework of a
liquidity cost allocation mechanism for all significant business activities, the internal transfer prices for the lending
and deposit-taking activities are continually reviewed for appropriateness and regularly adjusted to reflect the
market situation, for instance. The measures implemented in connection with these functions serve to support
HVB Group’s return targets.

Internal Audit

A number of important tasks regarding the implementation of an efficient risk management system have been
entrusted to the Internal Audit department as described in the section entitled “Monitoring the effectiveness of the
ICS”.

Committees
The committees and their procedures, composition, tasks and responsibilities are each laid down in their own
internal regulations. The most important committees are listed below, but the list is not exhaustive.

HypoVereinsbank - Annual Report 2023 47



Financial Statements (1) | Combined Management Report

R|Sk Re pO rt (ConTINUED)

Financial and Credit Risk Committee

The Executive Board has entrusted the following tasks to the Financial and Credit Risk Committee (FCRC),

subject to its management competence and its ultimate decision-making authority at any time:

— decisions regarding suitable policies and methods, especially for credit risk and credit portfolio management as
well as other risk topics, including issues relevant to market and liquidity along with asset/liability management
issues

— discussion of and decision on strategic risk policy issues
A submission is always made to the Executive Board when required for legal reasons, for instance (such as to
comply with the MaRisk rules).

The FCRC generally meets once a month and consists of two separate sessions: Credit Risk Session and
Financial Risk Session.

Local Transactional Committee

The Local Transactional Committee (LTC) is responsible - within the scope of the authorisation for credit activities
and the associated thresholds assigned to it — for assessing and approving the acceptance and review of credit
lines. This committee is also charged with certain tasks in connection with equity investments and equity-related
investments resulting from debt-to-equity-swap transactions.

Loan Loss Provision Committee
The Loan Loss Provision Committee (LLPC) approves decisions on loan loss provisions/write-downs and
impairment losses from an amount of €5 million on customer group level and meets once a quarter.

Non-Financial Risk and Control Committee

The Non-Financial Risk and Control Committee (NFRCC) makes decisions on coordination between the
operational business units, Risk Management, Compliance and Internal Audit with the goal of identifying non-
financial risks (e.g. external events, regulatory, emerging risks such as anti-fraud, ICT, digital security, business
continuity management, third-party risk management and reputations) and to review the effectiveness of related
measures.

Implementation of overall bank management

Strategy

The business strategy and the risk strategy define the cornerstones of business and risk policy for HVB Group.
The subsidiaries, outsourcing, sustainability (ESG), and information and communication technology (ICT) are
incorporated in both the risk strategy and the business strategy. The HVB Group business strategy describes the
strategic starting point and the organisational structure, the strategic cornerstones at overall bank level and the
sub-strategies of the individual operating segments.
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The HVB Group risk strategy is derived consistently from the business strategy, supplementing it with the relevant
aspects of risk management. The HVB Group risk strategy controls the risk types, credit risk and market risk
(including financial investment risk components for each), operational risk, pension risk, reputation risk, real estate
risk and business risk using the economic capital, supplemented by an explanation of the model risk. This control
is supplemented by risk-type-specific limits in credit risk and market risk. Liquidity risk is managed quantitatively in
terms of cash flow analyses and integrated into the planning process via the funding plan. A qualitative description
is provided of the strategic objectives for strategic risk, sustainability risk and for outsourcing. The risk strategy is
supplemented by the Industry Credit Risk Strategy, which specifies the risk appetite within the individual industries.

The strategies approved by the Executive Board of HVB are reviewed on both an ad hoc and an annual basis and
modified when necessary.

Overall bank management

The metrics defined for the overall bank management of HVB Group are reviewed in the annual budgeting process
and used to assess the success of the business strategy and the risk strategy. Earnings targets, risk targets,
liquidity targets and capital targets are defined in the budgeting process together with the targeted risk-taking
capacity at overall bank level. The limits for internal capital are defined and monitored in order to guarantee the
risk-taking capacity. For the purposes of operating segment management, the economic capital limits are
distributed for the credit, market and real estate risk to ensure that the planned economic risks remain within the
parameters defined by the Executive Board of HVB.

Key performance indicators (KPIs) generally applicable across the operating segments have been defined for the
management of HVB Group. These KPls serve to entrench the aspects of profitability and growth, as well as
constraints and sustainability.

The value-oriented management of HVB Group focuses on the measurement of the business activities in
accordance with return and risk considerations, with a risk-return target set for each of the business units of HVB
Group. The expected economic returns are calculated using the allocated capital principle that is applied group-
wide by UniCredit. Within the scope of the principle of dual control, both regulatory capital, in the sense of used
core capital (Common Equity Tier 1), and internal capital are allocated to the operating segments. Both resources
are expected to yield an adequate return, the amount of which is derived from the returns expected by the capital
market.

In line with the parameters defined in the business and risk strategies, the defined targets are broken down to
operating segment level and then translated into operational metrics for sales management. The defined targets
are monitored using a standardised report to the Executive Board of HVB. After corresponding analysis, the
Executive Board of HVB initiates countermeasures in response to significant deviations from the targets defined in
the budgeting process.
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Regulatory capital adequacy

Used core capital (Common Equity Tier 1)

For the purposes of planning and monitoring risk-weighted assets, the operating segments are required to have
core capital backing of equivalent risk-weighted assets arising from credit, market and operational risks equal to an
average of 13.0%. The expected return on investment is derived from the average used core capital (Common
Equity Tier 1).

Management of regulatory capital adequacy requirements
Essentially, the following three processes have been defined from the normative capital perspective to safeguard
an adequate capital base over the long term:

Yearly budgeting of the regulatory capital taking account of regulatory requirements, while applying the three
capital ratios listed below, which are managed within HVB Group’s risk appetite framework using internal target,
trigger and limit levels:

— Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio: ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 capital to the sum of risk-weighted assets
arising from credit risk positions and the equivalent risk-weighted assets from market and operational risk
positions

— Tier 1 capital ratio: ratio of Tier 1 capital to the sum of risk-weighted assets arising from credit risk positions and
the equivalent risk-weighted assets from market and operational risk positions

— total capital ratio: ratio of equity funds to the sum of risk-weighted assets arising from credit risk positions and the
equivalent risk-weighted assets from market and operational risk positions

Quarterly performance of stress tests of the regulatory capital ratios under various scenarios (details on the stress
tests can be found in the section entitled “Stress tests”).

Monthly performance of a rolling eight-quarter projection to provide an ongoing forecast of the capital ratios of
HVB Group. This projection is supplemented on a quarterly basis by a 3-year simulation of the capital ratios based
on three different scenarios to completely map the normative capital perspective.

More details on the development of these capital ratios are presented in the sections entitled “Risk-weighted
assets, key capital ratios, and leverage ratio of HVB Group” and “Operating performance of HVB Group” in the
section entitled “Financial Review” of this Combined Management Report.

The total capital ratio of HVB Group is 27.1% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 23.4%).

Economic capital adequacy

The internal capital is the sum of the aggregated economic capital for all quantified risk types (with the exception of
liquidity risk). The economic capital measures the potential for unexpected loss over a time horizon of one year
with a confidence level of 99.90%.

When the aggregated economic capital is determined, risk-mitigating diversification effects are taken into account
between the individual risk types. HVB Group deploys UniCredit’s group-wide model for risk aggregation that uses
parameters that are uniform throughout the Group for determining interdependencies between the risk types. In
terms of methodology, the model is based on a copula approach where the parameters are estimated using the
statistical Bayesian method.
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An all-round overview of the risk situation of HVB Group is obtained by assessing the risk-taking capacity on a
quarterly basis, as shown in the table “Internal capital after portfolio effects”.

Internal capital after portfolio effects (confidence level 99.90%)

2023 2022

Broken down by risk type € millions in % € millions in %
Credit risk 2,860 37.7 4,077 41.4
Market risk' 2,770 36.6 3,634 36.9
Pension risk 976 12.9 1,100 11.2
Operational risk 413 54 428 43
Real-estate risk 138 1.8 129 1.3
Business risk 188 25 215 22
Reputational risk 72 1.0 47 0.5
Aggregated economic capital 7,417 97.9 9,629 97.9
Model risk charge 160 2.1 211 21
Internal capital of HVB Group 7,577 100.0 9,840 100.0

Included diversification effects -1,046 -1,086
Risk coverage potential of HVB Group 17,674 19,306
Risk taking capacity of HVB Group, in % 233.3 196.2

" Including behavioural model risk
Contains rounding differences.

Internal capital fell by €2,263 million in comparison to 31 December 2022. The decline is mainly due to reductions
in credit, market and pension risk based on methodological changes or recalibration in the model. The main
changes are described under the respective risk type.

Internal capital (without pension risk and without the model risk charge) broken down by operating
segment (confidence level 99.90%)

2023 2022
Broken down by operating segment € millions in % € millions in %
Retail 547 8.5 640 7.5
Corporates 3,403 52.8 4,517 53.0
Other 2,491 38.7 3,373 39.5
Internal capital (without pension risk and without 6,441 100.0 8,530 100.0
the model risk charge) of HVB Group

The decline in the Corporates segment is primarily driven by credit risk. It is attributable to methodological
changes, the most significant of which was implemented in the credit portfolio model, where the database for
default risks was improved. The decline in the Other segment (central functions) is due to the reduction in market
risk, which is driven by the behavioural risk model. This risk is allocated in particular in the Other segment (central
functions).
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Risk appetite

The risk appetite is defined as part of the annual strategy and planning process for HVB Group, whereby selected
metrics are monitored only for HVB. The risk appetite metrics comprise specifications that are broken down into
regulatory metrics and managerial metrics and subdivided into categories such as capital, liquidity and interest rate
risk, credit risk or risk and earnings. For the most part, targets, triggers and limits are defined for these metrics that
allow excessive risk to be identified and countermeasures to be initiated at an early stage. The matter is escalated
to the appropriate persons with authority, committees and the Executive Board of HVB, should the defined limits
be exceeded or not reached.

Consistent going concern approach

Since 2019, HVB Group has managed its risk-taking capacity from an economic perspective as part of an
approach to the ongoing protection against risks and the continuation of business activities from a capital
perspective (continuity of operations). At the same time, targets, triggers and limits are defined for regulatory
capital backing as well as for risk-taking capacity.

Recovery plan

The preparation of recovery plans (RPs) is intended to facilitate the restructuring of systemically important financial
institutions. Until the end of 2023, UniCredit S.p.A. was identified as systemically important at a global level and
HVB at national level. Supervision of HVB passed to the ECB when the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM)
came into effect in November 2014. According to a decision of the Joint Supervisory Team (JST), HVB, as part of
UniCredit, has not been required to prepare an HVB Group recovery plan since 2015. For this reason, HVB works
in close collaboration with UniCredit S.p.A. each year to prepare a joint “UniCredit Group Recovery Plan”. This
Recovery Plan was officially submitted to the ECB on 29 September 2023 and has been in effect since then.

Risk-taking capacity

As part of an analysis of the risk-taking capacity, HVB Group measures its internal capital against the available risk
coverage potential (available financial resources). Furthermore, the risk-taking capacity is analysed across a
defined multi-year period as part of the planning process.

HVB Group uses an internal definition for the risk coverage potential that, like risk measurement, has been based
on a going concern approach since 2019. Under this approach, available financial resources are sufficient to
continuously hedge against risks so as to ensure business operations are maintained. The risk-taking capacity is
defined by comparing unexpected losses at the confidence level (internal capital) with the ability to absorb losses
using the available financial resources (risk coverage potential). When determining the risk coverage potential,
regulatory core capital is taken as the starting point. To maintain consistency with internal risk quantification,
certain capital deductions (particularly expected losses and securitisation positions) within the definition of equity
are brought into line with the internal economic perspective and some future profits are taken into account. The
risk coverage potential at HVB Group totalled €17,674 million as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
€19,306 million).

With internal capital (including the model risk charge) of €7,577 million, the risk-taking capacity of HVB Group is
233.3% (31 December 2022: 196.2%). This figure is higher than the target of 160% HVB Group set itself in the
2023 risk appetite framework. The increase of 37.1 percentage points in comparison with 31 December 2022 for
HVB Group is attributable to the reduction in internal capital. The internal capital declined by €2,263 million or 23%
in 2023. The risk coverage potential is €1,632 million or 8.5% lower due to the amendment of the definition in 2023
(additional Tier 1 capital instruments are no longer recognised within the risk coverage potential).
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Limit concept

The risk limit system is a key component of the ICAAP at HVB Group. Its purpose is to guarantee the Bank’s risk-
taking capacity at each reporting date by means of an integrated controlling process. A wide-ranging, consistent
limit system that includes the specification of limits for internal capital and economic capital, risk-type-specific limits
and limits for risk concentrations has been implemented to ensure this. This covers all the risks that need to be
backed with capital, which are currently the credit, market (including pension risk and behavioural model risk),
operational, business, real estate and reputational risk. In addition, any model risks are included in the internal
capital by means of a charge.

This system of limits reflects the business and risk strategies, taking into account the risk appetite and the risk
coverage potential, at the level of HVB Group, and ensures compliance with the risk-taking capacity. The risk limits
are approved by HVB’s Executive Board each year during the strategy process.

The internal capital limits are allocated at the level of HVB Group, broken down by risk type and for the internal
capital as a whole. Based on the aggregate limit set for internal capital, the risk-taking capacity of HVB Group is
guaranteed at each reporting date.

In order to identify at an early stage any potential overshooting, HVB Group has specified triggers in the form of
early warning indicators in addition to the defined limits. The utilisation of, and hence compliance with, the limits is
presented in the Bank'’s reports. Any overshooting of limits is immediately escalated and the return to compliance
with limits is monitored.

Stress tests
The MaRisk rules call for stress tests to be carried out regularly using various scenarios.

Various macroeconomic downturn scenarios and a historical scenario were calculated for the cross-risk-type

stress tests in 2023:

— Recession scenario (from June 2022) — recession in Europe driven by rising energy prices

— Hawkish scenario (until September 2023) — deep recession in Europe forces the ECB to raise interest rates

— Global trading and energy shock scenario (from December 2023) — deep recession in Europe due to high
inflation

— No recovery scenario (from June 2023) — recession in Germany with only a mild recovery in 2025

— Historical scenario (from December 2020) — historical scenario based on the 2009 financial crisis

— China slowdown scenario (from September 2023) — weakening of the Chinese economy with global contagion
effects

— Financial intermediary scenario - a tougher version of the historical scenario (additionally maps the default of the
financial intermediary with the highest stressed counterparty risk exposures)

The stress tests across risk types are presented and analysed on a quarterly basis in the Financial and Credit Risk
Committee and any measures required are presented to HVB’s Executive Board. Both the risk-taking capacity and
the minimum requirements for regulatory capital ratios of HVB Group were met and complied with after the
occurrence of the stress test scenarios listed. The risk-taking capacity within the scope of the stress test was
established with a confidence level of 99.90%.
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Furthermore, inverse and ad hoc stress tests are carried out.

Inverse stress tests involve analysing what events could endanger the continued existence of the Bank as a going
concern. The continued existence as a going concern is considered at risk when the original business model
proves to be no longer feasible or viable. The hypothetical events analysed included fraud by a trader, rating
downgrades, a bank run and default by customers and industries.

Ad hoc stress tests are carried out in response to internal and external events that might have a considerable
impact on HVB Group.

Concentrations of risk and earnings

Concentrations are accumulations of risk positions that react in a similar way to specific developments or events.
Concentrations may have an impact within a risk type or equally across risk types. They indicate increased
potential losses resulting from an imbalance of risk positions held with customers and in products or specific
industries and countries.

Concentrations are analysed, monitored, managed and reported at least once a year with regard to the relevant
risk drivers for credit, market, liquidity and operational risk. In particular, appropriate instruments and processes
ensure the prompt identification of concentrations. Monitoring, the suitability of which is reviewed each year, is
used as the steering approach for the risk types financial investment risk, real estate risk and pension risk.

Risk management processes for concentrations have been set up with a view to interlinking risk drivers across risk
types, such that concentration risk is integrated into assessment and controlling functions.

The concentration of earnings with individual customers or in operating segments, products, industries or regions
represents a business-related strategy risk for the Bank. Risks arising from concentrations of earnings are
monitored each year, as avoiding these is an important indicator of sustainable diversification and hence the
viability of the business model in crisis situations.

Risk inventory

The scheduled comprehensive yearly risk inventory at HVB Group was started in the first quarter of 2023. Existing
and potential new risks are analysed and critically evaluated by means of structured interviews with numerous
decision-makers within HVB Group and by means of questionnaires, among other things. This interview also
covers aspects concerning the Russia-Ukraine conflict as well as sustainability topics. The outcome of the 2023
risk inventory was presented to HVB’s Financial and Credit Risk Committee in October 2023 and included in the
calculation and planning of the risk-taking capacity. The risk inventory serves to review the overall risk profile of
HVB Group. Various topics are identified, some of which are included in the stress test and in the validation of the
measurement methods used for the material risk types and other ICAAP components.

54 Annual Report 2023 - HypoVereinshank



Internal reporting system

The internal reporting system supports risk monitoring at portfolio level in particular. Within the framework of the
internal reporting system, information is provided on the overall risk to HVB'’s Executive Board and the Risk
Committee of the Supervisory Board on a monthly basis, to the full Supervisory Board at least on a quarterly basis
and also on an ad hoc basis. In addition, further monthly risk reports focusing on specific countries and industries
are created.

Risk types in detail
1 Credit risk

Categories

Credit default risk

Credit default risk is considered to occur with regard to a specific contracting party when one or both of the

following criteria are satisfied:

— The Bank assumes the contracting party is probably not in a position or willing to meet its entire contractual
obligation towards HVB Group, without having to take recourse to measures like the sale of collateral (where
present).

— The contracting party is more than 90 days in arrears in terms of a material loan receivable of HVB Group.

Credit default risk also encompasses counterparty risk and issuer risk.

Counterparty risk

Counterparty risk arises from the possible loss of value due to the default of the counterparty in trading activities
(such as derivatives involving interest rates, foreign exchange, equities/indices, or other futures or derivative
contracts). It is divided into the following components:

— settlement risk

— pre-settlement risk

— money market risk (cash risk)

Issuer risk

Issuer risk is defined as credit default risk in the securities holding resulting from the downgraded credit rating or
default of an issuer that can lead to a loss of value through to total loss. Issuer risk arises from the purchase of
securities, securities issuance activities, credit derivatives and the placement of securities.

Country risk

Country risk is the risk of losses caused by events attributable to actions by the government of a given country.
This includes the repayment of capital in a specific country being prevented by government intervention, which
gives rise to various risks (such as transfer risk, expropriation risk, legal risk, tax risk, security risk). It also includes
the risk of repayment of capital being prevented by a deterioration in the economic and/or political environment
(such as through recession, a currency and/or banking crisis, natural disasters, war, civil war, social unrest).
Country risk encompasses:

— sovereign risk (state as counterparty)

— transfer and conversion risk
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Strategy

A risk strategy has been approved for HVB Group that operationalises the strategic controlling of credit risk. This is
done by setting targets and limits for different metrics as needed. Controlling using economic capital, together with
volume and risk metrics, is particularly important in this regard. The planning of the targets and limits is embedded
in HVB Group’s annual plan and takes into account ceilings arising from the requirements regarding the capital
base. The limits are intended to leave scope for implementation of the business planning and also to set upper
limits, specifically with regard to economic capital.

Systematic controlling and setting of limits for credit risk are essential for sustaining HVB Group’s strategic
orientation. The risk strategy is intended to make it possible for both the sales controlling and risk management
functions to back transactions with concrete, measurable criteria in order to optimise the risk profile of the credit
portfolio. To achieve this, the expected and unexpected losses of a given borrower are determined. These form
the basis for drawing up limits and in some cases target portfolios for the different risk types, exposures and risk
metrics.

The Industry Credit Risk Strategy includes an assessment of the opportunities and risks for every industry, from
which controlling signals and quantitative ceilings for new business are derived.

Limit system

The credit risk strategy defines limits for risk metrics and risk types for individual portfolios. These are allocated at
the following levels:

— HVB Group

— HVB and subsidiaries, or groups of subsidiaries of HVB Group

— operating segments of HVB Group and HVB

— products and special portfolios

The following criteria are analysed with regard to the performing portfolio: exposure, expected loss and risk
density. An overshooting of the limits is generally not permitted.

In order to avoid concentrations of risk in credit default risk, the following concentration limits and, where
appropriate, target portfolios are used for controlling purposes:

— single-name concentrations

— industry concentrations

— concentration limits for countries and regions

The utilisation of the individual limits is classified using a traffic light system:

— green: limit utilisation is below a defined trigger

— yellow: limit utilisation is below the limit but above the defined trigger

— red: limit utilisation is above the limit

If a limit or a trigger is exceeded, an escalation process is initiated to eliminate the overshooting or prevent an
overshooting of the limit in the event that a trigger is exceeded. The corresponding responsibilities are defined in
the escalation process to ensure the permanent controlling effect of the limits.
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Credit risk mitigation
In new lending, HVB pursues the strategy of applying loan collateral that would present an economic benefit to the
Bank in the event of default.

For the reduction of credit risk, only such collateral is used as meets the requirements of the Advanced Internal
Ratings Based (A-IRB) approach in accordance with Basel III.

Methods have been implemented to value collateral that meet the requirements of Basel Ill. Empirically
determined loss ratios (LGD secured), realisation periods and haircuts are employed in the valuation. The land
charges are calculated using a statistical model to update the current and forecast fair values at the time of
realisation. The fair values are adjusted on an annual basis to reflect the market developments actually observed,
and the forecast is reviewed and, where necessary, adjusted. Special simulation methods for valuing collateral
have been devised for collateral types with a low default history. In the case of securities, HVB resorts to its own
haircut calculations based on historical data. In addition, collateral is taken into account using a substitution
approach if permissible under the CRR.

The most significant collateral types in terms of value in the lending business are land charges, guarantees and
pledges of financial collateral, which together account for approximately 90% of all valued collateral.

In trading activities, over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives, security financing transactions (SFTs) and exchange-
traded derivatives (ETDs) are hedged on the basis of the respective contractual provisions with the counterparties.
In the case of OTCs, these are essentially the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA), the
German Master Agreement for Derivatives (Deutscher Rahmenvertrag fir Finanztermingeschafte — DRV) and the
Credit Support Annex (CSA, appended to an ISDA master agreement), the CRD (Credit Support Deed) or BRV
(appended to a DRV master agreement). In the case of SFTs, these are the Global Master Repurchase
Agreement (GMRA) or the Global Master Securities Lending Agreement (GMSLA). For credit risk reduction, only
collateral recognised as eligible under the CRR is permitted for regulatory purposes. Internally, the collateral policy
defines conditions for accepting collateral in trading activities. The back office has a consultation and veto right in
this regard. Collaterals from the trading business are measured on the basis of current market prices. The
counterparty risk exposure is forecast using a refined internal model for predicting the amount of collateral needed
and the value of the collateral provided (simulation method).

Measurement
We use the following risk measurement methods and metrics to assess our credit risk.
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Probability of default (PD)

The internal customer-segment-specific rating and scoring methods of HVB Group that are available for all
significant credit portfolios form the basis for the measurement of credit default risk. The reliable determination of
our customers’ PDs is critical for credit decisions, pricing and core capital backing under Basel Il (A-IRB model) as
well as for the internal credit risk model.

The PDs determined on the basis of the rating and scoring methods lead to allocation to a rating class on a ten-
point scale. The rating classes 1 to 7 are set aside for performing loans and the rating classes 8 to 10 for non-
performing loans, with the rating classes 8-, 9 and 10 representing default classes.

In contrast to ratings at customer level for which the customer represents the risk for the Bank, in the case of a
transaction rating the risk relates to the transaction. In this instance, the customer is not considered the risk-
bearing entity; the individual transaction is rated with its clearly specified risk instead. Typical examples for which
transaction ratings are applied are structured loans and securitisations.

Loss given default (LGD)

The LGD indicates what proportion of the underlying portfolio of receivables would almost certainly be lost in the
event of a default. The expected proceeds from the collateral used to reduce credit default risk have a major
influence on the amount of the LGD. At the same time, the amount of the LGD is determined by borrower-related
criteria. The reliable determination of our customers’ LGD is critical for credit decisions, pricing, core capital
backing under Basel Il (A-IRB model) and our internal credit risk model.

Exposure at default (EAD)

The EAD is the expected amount of the receivable at the time of default. It covers current arrears together with the
probable future utilisation by the borrower. These probable future utilisations are determined on the basis of
historical data and validated on an annual basis. Off-balance-sheet exposures such as unused, externally
committed credit lines are also employed as the reference point for the EAD parameters. The EAD parameters are
also incorporated in the credit decision, pricing, core capital backing under Basel Ill (A-IRB model) and the internal
credit risk model.

The market-value-risk-oriented calculation of exposures and limits based on jump-to-default-zero values (allowing
for netting effects) is also carried out for issuer risk in the trading book. A credit-risk-oriented, nominal-value-based
exposure is used to limit the banking book and asset-backed security (ABS) positions. Netting effects are taken
into account when the limits are set.

In terms of counterparty risk, a simulation method is used to determine future exposure figures for the pre-
settlement risk within the scope of an internal model. The default conditional metric used in the internal model to
determine the future exposures makes it possible among other things to incorporate the correlation effects
between market risk and credit risk, and notably the specific wrong-way risk. The simulation is carried out for up to
50 future dates on the basis of 3,000 market data scenarios for each calculation date.
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Expected loss (EL, standard risk costs)

The expected loss shows the credit default losses to be expected from the credit portfolio over the next 12 months,
taking into account the current ratings and collateral on hand. Among other things, it is used for risk identification,
as both an absolute and a relative value, in pricing, for profitability calculations and for limitation purposes.

Risk density

The risk density is another risk metric alongside the EAD and EL that is used to manage the individual HVB Group
sub-portfolios. HVB Group calculates the risk density as the ratio of expected loss to performing exposure in basis
points (bps). It indicates the development of risk in a given portfolio.

Unexpected loss (economic capital, EC)

The economic capital measures the amount of capital required to cover the unexpected loss beyond the expected
loss, which, with a probability of 99.90%, will not be exceeded over the next 12 months. This risk metric makes the
risk content of the various sub-portfolios comparable, taking into account the concentration risks in the portfolio. It
is also used in pricing and the Bank’s risk-adjusted profitability calculations.

Internal credit risk model

HVB Group has been using the credit portfolio model used throughout UniCredit to measure the economic capital
of credit risk. The group model follows the structural Merton approach under which correlations between the
borrowers are mapped using a multi-factor model, taking into account fluctuations in value arising from rating
changes (migration risk) for certain sub-portfolios as well as the pure credit default risk.

The credit portfolio model covers all banking book positions and counterparty risks arising from derivative positions
that are relevant pursuant to the definition of credit risk. Issuer risk from the trading book continues to be recorded
using the incremental risk charge (IRC) model, which forms part of the market risk in the presentation of the
ICAAP.

Country risk is integrated using appropriate PD add-ons. Risk-reducing factors are included by applying reductions
to the LGDs and PDs.

Impairment Overlays

Although the models used to determine impairments are generally able to depict a tense economic market
environment, these were expanded to include what are known as overlays in order to adequately capture the
effects of the numerous current industry-specific crises. The total overlay (geopolitical and CREF overlay) amounts
to €188 million as at year-end 2023 (after €194 million as at 31 December 2022). The methodology of the overlays
as well as all major adjustments are submitted to the local Financial and Credit Risk Committees for adoption. In
keeping with the temporary nature of overlays, the Bank plans to transfer these to the models in the medium term
if the overlay was not fully utilised or was not reversed as the original reason for setting up the overlay no longer
applied.
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Geopolitical overlay
Geopolitical overlays were applied in 2022 to take account of risks resulting from the Russia-Ukraine conflict that
led to an increase in energy costs, inflation and interest rates for both companies and private individuals.

The geopolitical overlay is still required to ensure a fair extent of impairments at Level 1 and 2 for the specific
segments at risk. This cannot be captured by the Group’s macro dependency model (“satellite model”) because
industry-specific estimates cannot be derived from this. Although some effects of the Russia/Ukraine conflict have
weakened somewhat compared with the previous year, for example energy availability, the current
macroeconomic context is still subject to a high level of uncertainty — primarily due to geopolitical tensions in the
Middle East. As a result of this, the situation on energy markets remains very uncertain. Furthermore, inflation is
still high and domestic price pressure is as strong as before. A rapid and noticeable reduction in the level of
interest rates by the ECB is not in sight either. In this environment, downturn risks remain high and the Bank has
therefore applied a complementary geopolitical overlay of €64 million to sub-segments also for the fourth quarter
2023 in the expectation that it will be fully utilised. In the current review process for the overlays applied,
customers were identified in 2023 that have developed from Level 2 to Level 3, meaning that a part of the overlay
has been utilised.

The geopolitical overlay is based on the following components:
— Companies from energy-intensive sectors as these are more susceptible to the consequences of the Russia-
Ukraine crisis, in particular in terms of energy supply and the related increase in prices
— Individual customers,
- with a variable interest mortgage loan (without overdue instalments) as these are seen as being
particularly susceptible to rising interest and inflation rates, or
- that are overdue with one instalment payment on at least one loan, as these customers are seen as
being particularly vulnerable in the light of the current situation.

Commercial real estate business overlay

In addition, the persistently high level of interest rates is increasingly affecting the commercial real estate and
construction industry, which is struggling with fewer orders, higher construction costs due to inflation, property
prices falling in some cases and an increase in refinancing risks. In some areas, there is also a gap due to
continued low rental income as long-term lease agreements cannot be adjusted in the short term to include the
increase in costs. As this is a specific industry effect and no specific industry estimates can be derived from the
Group’s macro dependency model (“satellite model”), the Bank has decided to supplement the existing geopolitical
overlay by a new commercial real estate finance — CREF— overlay. This covers the entire building construction
and real estate sector in addition to CRE companies. There is no overlapping of the geopolitical and CREF
overlay. The methodological approach in this regard functions in the same way as the geopolitical overlay. Based
on the default rates of specific segments, an additional flow is expected in the non-performing portfolio. As a result,
higher impairments are already being recognised in the performing portfolio. The additional impairments entered in
this way amount to €124 million as at year-end.
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Cross-border overlay

In 2022, impairments for companies directly affected by the conflict in Ukraine came to €16 million. These were
reversed in 2023 for reasons of immateriality as some of the companies affected changed to a non-performing
status, business relations were terminated with some of the companies and most of the remaining companies
received a new rating.

Risk-based and market-oriented pricing

To manage risk and profitability in the lending business, pricing methods and tools are used that take into account
all cost components — in particular the expected standard risk costs and the cost of capital — and that are each
adjusted to reflect the current parameters and bank management. Lending decisions are made under risk/return
considerations that are determined in the obligatory pre-calculation prior to a transaction being concluded.

Monitoring and controlling
Risk monitoring takes place at the level of individual exposures. In addition, various instruments are used at
portfolio level.

Individual exposures are monitored in both lending and trading operations with the aid of classical monitoring
systems, such as rating analysis and early warning systems. Individual exposure limits are also defined in line with
the probability of default to limit the risks entered into. Monitoring and reporting of any limit overshootings take
place on a monthly basis.

Special features of counterparty risk and issuer risk

We employ limit systems as a key element of the management and controlling of counterparty risk as well as
issuer risk to prevent an increase in our risk position that does not comply with the strategy. Each new trade is
entered and applied to the corresponding limit without delay (the same day). The pre-settlement risk is established
on the basis of an internal model method (IMM) and is recognised by the banking supervisory authorities for
calculating capital requirements. To reduce counterparty risk relating to financial institutions, HVB Group uses
derivative exchanges in its function as a central counterparty.

Quantification and specification

The economic capital for credit risk at HVB Group, without taking account of diversification effects between the risk
types and without the model risk charge, amounts to €3,055 million, which is €1,228 million lower than the reported
figure as at 31 December 2022 (€4,283 million). The main change in credit risk relates to a methodological
adjustment in the credit portfolio model. The database of default rates has been improved and the correlation
estimates based on it revised, resulting in a decreasing effect of economic capital in credit risk.
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Credit default risk
The following tables and charts for credit default risk show the aggregate exposure values (total of non-performing

and performing exposure) of HVB Group including issuer risk from the trading book. Issuer risk from the trading
book is also included in the regulatory market risk analysis by way of the incremental risk charge. Comments in
this regard can be found in the section covering market risk.

The aggregate exposure to credit default risk is referred to as credit default risk exposure, or simply exposure, in
the following. Account balances on the entry date are included in the calculation of exposure.

The remaining exposures assigned to the former Real Estate Restructuring business area are excluded from the
analysis because the portfolio does not include any further new business and is earmarked for elimination. The
portfolio has been reduced consistently in recent years and now stands at €16 million (31 December 2022:

€17 million).

Development of metrics by operating segment

EXPECTED LOSS' RISK DENSITY?
€ millions in bps
Broken down by operating segment 2023 2022 2023 2022
Retail 103 97 24 23
Corporates 234 274 15 17
Other 3 3 1 —
HVB Group 340 374 13 14

1 Expected loss of the performing exposure without issuer risk in the trading book.
2 Risk density as a ratio of expected loss to performing exposure without issuer risk in the trading book in basis points (bps); 100bps = 1%.

In 2023, the expected loss of HVB Group was reduced by €34 million, the risk density improved by 1bp.

The key contributor to this development was the Corporates operating segment, which recorded decreases of
€40 million in expected loss and 2bp in risk density. Decisive factors in this connection were rating upgrades and

reductions in exposure, among other things.

Breakdown of credit default risk exposure by operating segment and risk category

OF WHICH ISSUER OF WHICH ISSUER
CREDIT DEFAULT RISK OF WHICH RISK IN BANKING RISK IN TRADING
. EXPOSURE COUNTERPARTY RISK BOOK BOOK
Broken down by operating
segment (€ millions) 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Retail 42,723 43,122 70 70 — — — —
Corporates 162,637 169,365 17,459 22,324 18,235 16,527 1,568 1,545
Other 54,363 65,210 106 1,142 32,351 28,497 0 0
HVB Group 259,723 277,697 17,635 23,536 50,586 45,024 1,568 1,545

HVB Group’s credit default risk exposure declined by €17,974 million in 2023.
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This is primarily due to the decrease in exposure of €10,847 million in the Other operating segment as a result of
reduced deposits at Deutsche Bundesbank.

In addition, exposure in the Corporates operating segment decreased by €6,728 million, particularly in the
following sectors: financial institutions, construction, building materials, as well as energy and chemicals,
pharmaceuticals and health sectors.

In the Retail operating segment, exposure fell slightly by €399 million.

Breakdown of credit default risk exposure by rating class (€ millions)

1 Not rated.

The rating structure of HVB Group changed in the course of 2023, primarily as a result of the decrease in
exposure in rating classes 1 to 6. Decisive factors in this connection were rating migrations, in addition to the
business development of various customers.
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Development of metrics by industry group

CREDIT DEFAULT RISK OF WHICH ISSUER RISK IN
EXPOSURE TRADING BOOK EXPECTED LOSS' RISK DENSITY?
€ millions € millions € millions in bps

Broken down by industry group 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Financial institutions 59,126 74,746 1,008 1,117 16 40 3 5
(incl. foreign sovereigns)

Real estate 33,499 33,510 12 19 49 54 15 16
Special products 24,488 19,899 1 2 14 5 6 3
Public sector 17,597 18,574 47 43 — — — —
(incl. German sovereign,

excl. public service companies)

Energy 12,204 13,287 55 44 13 12 11 9
Machinery, metals 11,515 12,276 42 21 27 29 24 24
Chemicals, pharma, healthcare 10,693 11,851 51 41 40 33 39 28
Automotive 10,100 10,578 77 28 11 17 11 17
Consumer goods 8,794 6,984 15 21 21 16 24 23
Services 6,707 6,754 49 33 29 21 45 32
Construction, building materials 6,666 8,219 9 11 15 18 23 22
Telecommunication, IT 6,481 6,835 63 37 12 8 19 12
Food, beverages 5,938 6,468 6 20 10 12 18 19
Transport, travel 5,107 5,662 50 22 7 13 14 23
Electronics 3,480 3,428 15 5 6 6 19 18
Agriculture, forestry 3,391 3,634 1 6 8 7 24 19
Media, paper 2,261 2,325 8 17 5 14 23 60
Tourism 2,253 2,623 1 1 4 21 43
Textiles 1,674 1,879 4 10 5 4 38 21
Shipping 1,047 1,308 — — 2 15 55
Public service companies 1,017 1,072 49 44 1 1 5 6
Private customers 25,765 25,742 — — 45 48 18 19
Other 20 43 5 3 — — 63 2
HVB Group 259,723 277,697 1,568 1,545 340 374 13 14

1 Expected loss of the performing exposure without issuer risk in the trading book.
2 Risk density as a ratio of expected loss to performing exposure without issuer risk in the trading book in basis points (bps); 100bps = 1%

How the top five industry groups developed by exposure within HVB Group is described below.

Financial institutions (including foreign sovereigns)

The exposure in the financial institutions (including foreign sovereigns) industry group fell by €15,620 million as at
31 December 2023 compared with year-end 2022, primarily due to reduced deposits at Deutsche Bundesbank.
The portfolio’s expected loss decreased by €24 million and the risk density by 2bps, as a result of the business
development of various customers.

Part of the exposure in the financial institutions (including foreign sovereigns) industry group resulted from credit
risk exposure to UniCredit S.p.A. and other entities affiliated to UniCredit (upstream and downstream exposure) on
account of the strategic positioning of HVB as the group-wide centre of competence for the client risk management
and investment banking of UniCredit and other business activities (such as export finance and guarantees).
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Real estate

In the real estate industry group, exposure as at 30 December 2023 was at an almost unchanged level (€33,499)
compared to year-end 2022, with both the expected loss decreasing by €5 million and the risk density falling by
1bp. This was mainly due to a generally weaker real estate market with fewer transactions in commercial real
estate and a volatile market interest rate trend over the course of the year. The financing business remains
focused on Germany.

Special products

Special products transactions include ABS/CDO bond investments, customer-related securitisations,
securitisations of UniCredit's own assets, structured credit products such as structured working capital finance,
margin loan finance and other structured financial transactions (not including project and acquisition finance).

In the special products industry group, exposure increased by €4,589 million in 2023 compared with year-end
2022. In this context, the focus remained on customer-related securitisations and ABS/CLO bond investments,
which is also in line with the 2023 risk strategy. The latter determined a strategy of growth within clearly defined
parameters involving conservative credit standards (for instance in relation to asset classes and rating quality) for
sub-segments of the special products portfolio. Although this growth led to an increase in the expected loss and
the risk density, these key ratios, at €14 million and 6bps respectively, continue to remain at a very low level
compared with other industry groups.

Public sector (including German sovereign, excluding public service companies)

The public sector (including German sovereign, excluding public service companies) industry group essentially
contains public authorities and the customer group comprising legal entities under public law in general. As the
German states and the development banks enjoying the formers’ full liability represent important counterparties for
internal liquidity management, the vast majority of the exposure is due to HVB’s own liquidity reserves.

In the public sector industry group (including German sovereign, excluding public service companies), exposure
decreased by €977 million in 2023. This decline is primarily attributable to the change in a customer’s allocation to
an industry group. On the other hand, the exposure of the Bank’s own liquidity reserves increased in 2023.

Energy

Exposure in the energy industry group decreased by €1,083 million in 2023. The reduction was influenced mainly
by the continuing major volatility of energy and raw material prices. As our focus for new energy business is on
large international companies with strong credit ratings, as defined in the risk strategy and in line with our internal
sustainability standards, the portfolio quality remained almost constant overall with an expected loss of €13 million
(previous year: €12 million) and a risk density of 11bps (previous year: 9bps). Project financing in the renewable
energy area is within the scope of the 2023 risk strategy and the financing standards.
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Exposure development of countries/regions
The following tables provide a comprehensive view of the concentration risk at country level. The exposure figures
are shown with regard to the risk country of the customer.

Development of credit default risk exposure of eurozone countries

CREDIT DEFAULT RISK OF WHICH ISSUER RISK IN
EXPOSURE TRADING BOOK
Broken down by eurozone countries (€ millions) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Germany 173,934 191,353 166 117
France 12,626 12,631 265 151
Italy 8,851 6,359 329 248
Spain 7,662 6,629 23 41
Ireland 6,816 6,866 1 4
Netherlands 4,183 4,736 48 31
Luxembourg 4,030 4,532 13 26
Austria 2,787 2,163 88 173
Belgium 800 711 8 16
Finland 681 606 — 1
Slovakia 90 2 26 2
Portugal 80 88 5 8
Slovenia 26 9 — 1
Estonia 22 22 — —
Greece 17 16 — —
Cyprus 12 14 — —
Croatia’ 9 8 3 4
Lithuania 1 5 1 4
Malta — 42 — —
Latvia — — — —
Supranational organisations and multilateral banks 4,259 2,783 81 223
HVB Group 226,886 239,575 1,057 1,050

1 Croatia has been a member of the eurozone since 1 January 2023. The previous-year figures have been adjusted accordingly.

Italy

The size of the portfolio results from HVB Group’s role as group-wide centre of competence for the client risk
management and investment banking of UniCredit. The exposure to Italy also includes the exposure with
UniCredit S.p.A.
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Development of credit default risk exposure by country/region outside the eurozone

CREDIT DEFAULT RISK OF WHICH ISSUER RISK IN TRADING

Broken down by country/region outside the eurozone EXROSUREIE BOOK
(€ millions) 2023 2022 2023 2022
USA 11,456 10,929 238 239
Switzerland 5,755 6,072 34 97
United Kingdom 5,669 6,936 28 16
Asia/Oceania (without Japan, China, Hong Kong) 1,821 2,311 — 1
Western Europe (without Switzerland, UK) 1,641 1,780 27 1
Eastern Europe (without euro countries)' 1,279 1.226 162 128
Africa 991 779 — —
Near/Middle East 859 981 — —
CIS/Central Asia (without Turkey) 764 928 6

including Russia 566 705 5 6

including Ukraine 3 4 — —

including Belarus — 1 — —
Japan 725 3,383 — —
Turkey 655 725 — —
North America (without USA) 539 488 4 6
China (including Hong Kong) 433 1,412 — —
Central/South America 250 172 14 1
Without country classification — — — —
HVB Group 32,837 38,122 512 495

1 Croatia has been a member of the eurozone since 1 January 2023. The previous-year figures have been adjusted accordingly.

In 2023, the total exposure to customers in countries/regions outside the eurozone fell by €5,285 million. The
exposure to customers in Russia decreased by a further €139 million in 2023.
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Financial derivatives

Alongside the goal of generating returns, derivatives are employed to manage market price risks resulting from
trading activities (in particular, risks arising from interest-rate fluctuations and currency fluctuations), and also
serve to provide cover for on- and off-balance-sheet items within asset/liability management. Besides market risk,
derivatives entail counterparty risk and, in the case of credit derivatives, which additionally serve to manage credit
risk, also issuer risk.

For purposes of credit default risk, the positive fair values are relevant as replacement values for OTC derivatives.
These represent the potential costs that HVB Group would incur to replace all of the original contracts with
equivalent transactions in case of the simultaneous default by all counterparties.

On the basis of these replacement values and not taking into account any risk-reducing effects, the maximum
counterparty risk for HVB Group as at 31 December 2023 totalled €233.0 billion (31 December 2022:

€308.3 billion). The decline of €75.2 billion compared with year-end 2022 is primarily attributable to interest rate
derivatives (down €68.1 billion), and here in particular to OTC interest rate swaps (down €64.5 billion). In addition,
cross-currency swaps were down by €2.5 billion while equity/index derivatives were down by €1.7 billion and other
transactions were down by €1.8 billion.

In accordance with the regulatory provisions under the CRR and taking account of the internal model method
(IMM) that has been approved by the regulatory authorities for use by HVB to determine counterparty risk, risk-
weighted assets for counterparty risk in HVB Group’s derivatives business were €5.0 billion as at 31 December
2023 (31 December 2022: €6.5 billion).

The following tables provide detailed information on the nominal amount and fair values of all derivative
transactions and credit derivative transactions of HVB Group.
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Derivative transactions

NOMINAL AMOUNT FAIR VALUE
RESIDUAL MATURITY TOTAL RESIDUAL MATURITY TOTAL
MORE
THAN MORE
UP TO 1TO THAN
€ millions 1 YEAR 5 YEARS 5 YEARS 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Interest rate derivatives 2,858,563 2,652,661 2,301,426 7,812,650 6,876,005 216,113 284,185 213,467 281,745
OTC products
Forward rate agreements 1,661,427 286,494 — 1,947,921 1,228,589 1,544 2,602 1,556 2,721
Interest rate swaps 1,055,588 2,196,808 2,180,623 5,433,019 5,276,850 209,495 274,036 207,991 273,961
Interest rate options
- purchased 20,214 72,162 55,845 148,221 130,980 3,724 4,857 376 198
- written 23,643 75,420 64,612 163,675 145,923 479 249 3,540 4,677
Other interest rate derivatives 15,429 2,906 346 18,681 33,909 871 2,441 4 188
Exchange-traded products
Interest rate futures 27,318 6,871 — 34,189 50,754 — — — —
Interest rate options 54,944 12,000 — 66,944 9,000 — — — —
Foreign exchange derivatives 239,288 39,451 1,095 279,834 273,516 3,306 4,440 3,077 4,410
OTC products
Foreign exchange forwards 167,785 33,697 1,053 202,535 212,935 2,450 3,579 2,606 3,800
Foreign exchange options
- purchased 28,388 2,105 21 30,514 25,177 277 274 171 163
- written 32,440 3,649 21 36,110 29,104 240 264 300 447
g;ﬂi;{ﬁ/fsign ex-change 10,658 — — 10658 6,275 339 323 — —
Exchange-traded products
Foreign exchange futures 17 — — 17 25 — — — —
Foreign exchange options — — — — — — — — —
Cross-currency swaps 39,612 102,057 56,937 198,606 214,365 4,604 7,076 6,227 8,859
Equity/index derivatives 95,227 55,483 6,724 157,434 212,174 6,456 8,167 5,141 6,002
OTC products
Equity/index swaps 2,118 9,702 2,219 14,039 27,223 791 2,181 265 359
Equity/index options
- purchased 2,641 2,872 846 6,359 12,008 236 532 4 110
- written 18,052 7,927 2,321 28,300 55,257 372 358 588 909
Other equity/index derivatives 29,781 828 24 30,633 19,511 2,556 1,946 35 39
Exchange-traded products
Equity/index futures 14,471 5,067 1,211 20,749 28,700 — — — —
Equity/index options 27,342 28,678 90 56,110 67,399 2,501 3,150 4,249 4,585
Equity swaps 822 409 13 1,244 2,076 — — — —
Credit derivatives! 1,200 10,966 261 12,427 53,628 185 256 203 564
Other transactions 31,344 14,228 354 45,926 58,900 2,369 4,139 1,272 3,675
HVB Group 3,265,234 2,874,846 2,366,797 8,506,877 7,688,588 233,033 308,263 229,387 305,255

1 For details of credit derivatives, please see the tables “Credit derivatives” and “Credit derivatives by reference asset” below.

Derivative transactions with a residual maturity of up to three months accounted for a nominal total amount of
€1,197,466 million as at 31 December 2023 (of which credit derivatives on a pro-rata basis: €214 million).
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Derivative transactions by counterparty type

FAIR VALUE FAIR VALUE
POSITIVE NEGATIVE
€ millions 2023 2022 2023 2022
Central governments and central banks 3,572 3,647 1,150 1,291
Banks 124,100 163,379 123,587 163,480
Financial institutions 100,445 134,680 100,946 134,187
Other companies and private individuals 4,916 6,557 3,704 6,297
HVB Group 233,033 308,263 229,387 305,255
Credit derivatives
NOMINAL AMOUNT FAIR VALUE
RESIDUAL MATURITY TOTAL RESIDUAL MATURITY TOTAL
MORE
THAN 1 MORE
UPTO1 TO5 THAN

€ millions YEAR YEARS 5 YEARS 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Banking book 300 485 43 828 889 — 4 1 —
Protection buyer

Credit default swaps 50 10 — 60 120 — — — —

Total return swaps — — — — — — — — —

Credit-linked notes 250 466 43 759 762 — 4 1 —
Protection seller

Credit default swaps — — — — — — — — —

Total return swaps — — — — — — — — —

Credit-linked notes — 9 — 9 7 — — — —
Trading book 901 10,480 218 11,599 52,739 185 252 202 564
Protection buyer

Credit default swaps 223 5,246 — 5,469 25,570 — 11 183 233

Total return swaps 68 50 — 118 1,448 — 1 15 267

Credit-linked notes 131 335 58 524 570 14 7 2 2
Protection seller

Credit default swaps 321 4,567 134 5,023 24,546 170 233 1 20

Total return swaps — — — — 128 — — — 40

Credit-linked notes 158 282 26 465 477 1 — 1 2
HVB Group 1,201 10,965 261 12,427 53,628 185 256 203 564
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Credit derivatives by reference asset

NOMINAL AMOUNT
CREDIT TOTAL CREDIT-
DEFAULT RETURN LINKED TOTAL TOTAL
€ millions SWAPS SWAPS NOTES 2023 2022
Public sector bonds 62 — 31 93 355
Corporate bonds 10,269 118 968 11,355 49,798
Equities — — — — —
Other assets 221 — 758 979 3,475
HVB Group 10,552 118 1,757 12,427 53,628

Single-name credit derivatives make up 18.6% of the total; multi-name credit derivatives, relating notably to
baskets or indices, account for a share of 81.4%.

Stress tests

By carrying out stress tests in the credit portfolio, credit risk managers obtain information on a quarterly basis
about the possible consequences of a negative change in the underlying economic conditions in addition to the
monthly analysis of the real portfolio development. The focus here is on the risk metrics of risk-weighted assets,
expected loss and economic capital, and the changes in the portfolio quality. Ad hoc stress tests, inverse stress
tests and sensitivity analyses are carried out alongside the stress tests based on macroeconomic scenarios
(results of which are included in the cross-risk-type stress test calculations, among others).

2 Market risk

Categories
We define interest rate risk as the risk of values changing on account of fluctuations in interest rates.

Foreign currency risk arises from fluctuations in exchange rates.

Stock and commodity risk is defined as the risk arising from changing rates on the stock and/or commodity
markets.

We define the credit spread as the premium on the interest rate compared with a risk-free investment. Fluctuations
in the credit spread give rise to credit spread risk. The credit spread risk refers to the fluctuation of the credit
spread resulting from spread changes and from a potential default or a change of rating.

The risk that results in particular from changes in volatilities is included in option risk.
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Strategy
Market risk essentially arises in the Corporates operating segment. As was already the case in previous years, the
focus in 2023 was on customer transactions.

One part of the market risk is entailed in trading books while the other part — mainly invested in interest-bearing
securities — lies in strategic investments or in liquidity reserve portfolios. All positions exposed to market risk are
subject to corresponding limits.

Limit system
All market risk-bearing transactions of HVB Group recognised at fair value are aggregated every day to form
value-at-risk (VaR) metrics and set against the risk limits for internal control purposes.

In accordance with the 2023 risk strategy, the existing framework for managing market risks has been confirmed.
The main purpose of this new framework is to focus on the fluctuation of the values in profit and loss accounting.
VaR limits are set for items recognised at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) and for items recognised at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The risk limits are approved annually by the Management
Board of HVB and adjusted as required. Both groups of limits are equally binding and compliance with them is
equally enforceable.

When the 2023 risk strategy was adopted, the FVTPL limit for HVB Group was set at €49 million and the FVOCI
limit at €20 million.

Monitoring of the regulatory metrics (stressed VaR) and incremental risk charge (IRC) to be used additionally for
the internal market risk model is ensured by setting limits for the risk values that are reported on a weekly basis.

Alongside management using the VaR approach, the risk positions of key units are restricted by an additional
bundle of granular limits. These limits relate to sensitivities, stress test results and nominal volumes in various risk
classes.

Measurement

The VaR shows the maximum expected loss caused by market price fluctuations that with a certain probability
(confidence level) will not be exceeded over a given period. We use a confidence level of 99.00% and a holding
period of one day for internal risk reports, management and risk limits.

We use a historical simulation to calculate the VaR. This method makes it possible to calculate the VaR without
having to make any fundamental assumptions regarding the statistical distribution of the movements in the
portfolio value. It encompasses the generation of the hypothetical distribution of earnings (gains and losses) from a
portfolio of financial instruments directly using the historical daily market price fluctuations of the last 250 days.
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HVB Group has defined several further market risk metrics under the current CRR rules for risk management as

well as the VaR:

— The stressed VaR is calculated in the same way as the VaR; however, the associated 12-month observation
period is selected in which the most significant negative market changes for HVB'’s trading portfolio have
occurred. The amount calculated for the regulatory report relates to a holding period of ten days and a
confidence level of 99.00%.

— The incremental risk charge (IRC) for credit-risk-sensitive positions is the internal approach used to determine
the specific risks (specific price risk for net interest positions). This includes credit default risk and migration risk,
meaning that both the change in ratings (migration) and the potential default on a credit product are taken into
account. The calculated amount for both regulatory and internal reporting relates to a holding period of one year
and a confidence level of 99.90%.

— In addition, further risks not taken account of in the internal market risk model are covered by the regulatory
standard approach. This essentially relates to the specific risk entailed in securitisations and risk positions in the
form of units in undertakings for collective investment (UCI) and risks arising from shares and indices caused by
implicit fluctuations in the repo rate.

— Based on the CRR regulations, we calculate risks with regard to the credit valuation adjustment (CVA). The CVA
risk shows the risk of losses in value based on changes in the expected counterparty default risk for all relevant
OTC derivatives under CRR. We use our own internal model to calculate the vast majority of the CVA. For the
regulatory report, the internal model calculates both the CVA VaR and the stressed CVA VaR on the basis of a
10-day holding period and a confidence level of 99.00%.

Monitoring and controlling

The market risk positions recognised at fair value are monitored using a hierarchical limit system that restricts the
potential loss from market risk. This involves restricting the VaR totals from FVTPL and FVOCI positions by setting
appropriate limits.

The VaR figures are reported daily along with the limit utilisation and the profit and loss figures (P/L) to the
Management Board member responsible and the persons responsible in the Corporates operating segment.
Whenever limits are exceeded, an escalation process is triggered immediately and the reduction of the positions in
question monitored.

The Market Risk Management department has direct access to the front-office systems used in trading operations.
The monitoring of trading activities comprises prompt allocation to counterparty and market risk limits and detailed
validation and coordination of the P/L on the following day. In this context, both the daily changes in the market
price risk profile and the P/L generated from new business are calculated.

In addition to the daily reports, the management is informed on a weekly and monthly basis about the results of the
risk analysis, including the results of back-testing and stress tests as well as sensitivity ratios.
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HVB Group calculates economic capital on the basis of the assumption that operations will continue (continuity of
operations). To calculate and allocate the economic capital requirements for market risk, the hypothetical
distribution used to determine the VaR is based on an observation period of 500 trading days, in which connection
only interest rate movements are taken into account for positions carried at cost. Any hedge effect of the model
book for own funds is not included. The results from the credit valuation adjustment (CVA) and funding valuation
adjustment (FVA) risk are added to this hypothetical distribution, whereby the FVA risk is derived from the
expected future funding costs of derivative transactions. Furthermore, market risks are also added that arise from
the Incremental Default Risk Charge (IDRC), which in contrast to the regulatory IRC approach only takes account
of issuer default, the market risk standard approach and add-ons, in particular for risks from gap options, share
repo rates and behavioural models. All risks, with the exception of the add-ons, are scaled accordingly to obtain a
holding period of one year and a confidence level of 99.90%.

The regulatory capital requirement for market risk encompasses the VaR and stressed VaR for, in each case, a
10-day holding period together with the IRC and the market risk standard approach. The CVA risk is also taken
into account. When calculating the capital requirement, the individual risk metrics are aggregated by regulatory
averages, maximum calculation and scaling.

Quantification and specification

The economic capital for market risk at HVB Group, without taking account of diversification effects between risk
types, amounts to €2,975 million (31 December 2022: €3,857 million). The decline in economic capital is largely
due to the behavioural risk model it contains, which is significantly lower, mainly due to a recalibration. Compared
to the previous year the contribution from the model for demand and savings deposits is sharply lower. This is the
result of the declining trend in deposit volumes, their interest rate elasticity and, in particular, a lower uncertainty in
determining them.

The following table shows the aggregated market risk for internal risk controlling at HVB Group in a year-on-year
comparison. Most of the market risk arises from positions of the Corporates operating segment of HVB Group.

Market risk of HVB Group (VaR, 99.00% confidence level, one-day holding period)

MARKET RISK MARKET RISK
OF POSITIONS RECOGNISED AT FVTPL OF POSITIONS RECOGNISED AT FVTOCI
AVERAGE PERIOD END AVERAGE PERIOD END
€ millions 2023 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 2023 31/12/2023 31/12/2022
Credit spread risk 5.2 3.3 5.4 8.7 71 9.1
Interest rate positions 59 3.8 9.6 8.5 11.0 3.0
Foreign exchange positions 1.8 1.1 3.9 0.1 0.1 0.4
Equity/index positions’ 2.7 1.3 13.8 — — —
Commodity risk 4.0 0.9 13.8 — — —
HVB Group' 8.2 7.6 31.5 8.0 8.9 7.9

1 Because of the diversification effects between the risk categories. the total risk is less than the sum of the individual risks.

The decrease in market risk was caused by the reduction of securities portfolios as well as by a methodological
improvement in the risk calculation in the commodity sector.
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The regulatory capital requirements for the quarter-ends of the previous year are described below. broken down by
the relevant risk metrics.

Regulatory capital requirements of HVB Group

€ millions 31/12/2023 30/9/2023 30/6/2023 31/3/2023 31/12/2022
Value at risk 49 65 79 82 160
Stressed value at risk 102 118 118 135 239
Incremental risk charge 85 79 93 82 87
Market risk standard approach 35 32 32 40 47
CVA value at risk 12 15 16 13 14
Stressed CVA value at risk 31 30 30 33 37
CVA standard approach 32 33 38 34 34

Regulatory back-testing of the internal model at HVB

The forecasting quality of the VaR measurement method is reviewed by means of daily back-testing that compares
the computed regulatory VaR figures with the changes in the hypothetical portfolio value and additionally with the
actual profit/loss. Reportable back-testing outliers occurred in the last 250 days. On two days the hypothetical loss
was greater than the VaR figure; furthermore, on three days the actual daily loss was greater than the forecast
VAR figure.

In addition to back-testing. further methods are used to check the quality of the model. These involve analysing the
risk factors used and adjusting them as required. Risks that cannot be adequately modelled are also monitored
and limits set for them if they are material. Furthermore. the suitability of the modelling of the UniCredit risk model
used throughout the Group is validated by the “Group Internal Validation” unit.

Market liquidity risk

Market liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Bank will suffer losses due to the disposal of assets that can only be
liquidated on the market at a discount. In an extreme case, HVB Group may not be able to sell such an asset, as
the market does not offer enough liquidity, or the Bank holds a position that is too large relative to market turnover.
The CRO organisation is responsible for managing market liquidity risk and conducts advanced market liquidity
analyses. These uncertainties in the amount of €34 million are taken into account in the income statement in the
form of valuation adjustments and in capital withdrawals via additional valuation adjustments of €61 million.

Stress tests

In addition to calculating the VaR and the other risk metrics, we conduct stress tests on a monthly basis to
determine the potential losses in our market risk positions resulting from extreme market movements and
extraordinary events. The scenarios we examine range from large movements in interest rates, currency and
equity markets through to disruptions in the underlying volatilities. Further scenarios are also considered for
HVB Group, such as a widening of credit spreads. We also analyse macroeconomic stress test scenarios based
on real market upheavals in the past (historical stress tests) or current threats (hypothetical stress tests).
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Interest rate risk in the banking book

The interest rate risk in the banking book describes the risk relating to the Bank’s capital and income caused by
changes in interest rates. The strategy of the interest rate risk in the banking book aims to reduce fluctuations in
net interest income as a result of interest rate movements over several years by hedging deposits and capital as
well as early mortgage loan repayments in line with internal models. Parameters are based on statistical analyses.
Market risk also includes the behavioural model risk, which represents the statistical uncertainty involved in the
model assumptions for sight and savings deposits as well as the early repayment of mortgage loans.

HVB Group measures and monitors interest rate risk in terms of the change in the economic value as well as the
income of the Bank. In this context, consistent methods and models as well as limits or thresholds are ensured for
the sensitivity of net interest and the present value. Interest rate risk exposure from commercial banking
transactions is managed and hedged by the Treasury department. The market risk of the Treasury department is
monitored on a daily basis. Present value-based measurement shows the effects of fluctuations in the interest rate
on the economic value of assets and liabilities as a relevant risk measure. The absolute change in present value
and the coefficients from the change in present value and regulatory own funds are calculated on a monthly basis,
taking into account the supervisory requirements, in the event of a 200bps increase or a 200bps decrease in
interest rates. In addition, six further interest rate scenarios are calculated as early warning indicators, in which,
however, the changes in present value are considered in relation to the core capital. In December 2023, the
200bps increase in interest rates and the parallel shift upwards as an early warning indicator resulted in the
greatest negative changes in present value. The interest rate scenarios stated are calculated according to the
BaFin Circular 6/2019 (BA) on interest rate risk in the banking book. The evaluations are carried out as required
without taking account of the hedge effect from the model book for own funds from a regulatory perspective. In
accordance with the European Banking Authority, additional modified model assumptions have been included in
the calculation of sight and savings deposits.

Information on interest rate risk in the banking book

31/12/2023 31/12/2022
€ millions in % € millions in %
+ 200 basis points (1,796) (9.5) (1,954) (10.2)
- 200 basis points 816 4.3 906 4.7

HVB Group is well below the specified 20% mark, above which the banking supervisory authorities consider a
bank to have increased interest rate risk, and below the 15% mark, which is seen as an early warning indicator.
These figures include HVB’s positions as well as the positions of the material Group companies, customer margins
are not included.

In addition to the present value approach, a simulation of net interest in the banking book is performed for HVB
Group on a monthly basis. This analysis focuses on the impact that changes in interest rates have on net interest
income compared with the benchmark scenario over a defined time horizon. The scenarios are limited internally
with parallel shifts in the yield curve by 25bps to 100bps upwards (parallel upwards) or downwards (parallel
downwards), with the yield curve shifted by 50bps in EUR in each case. This means that yield shifts were halved in
EUR in internally limited scenarios compared with the previous year. Assumptions regarding the elasticity of sight
and savings deposits are also taken into account. Depending on the contractual agreement with the customer, a
floor of 0% could be employed for commercial banking products. In such a case, the interest rate shock
downwards would not be fully applied. The simulation is calculated based on the assumption that the balance
remains constant. The sensitivity of income (NIl sensitivity) is then obtained from the resulting changes in income
in relation to the planned net interest income (NIl budget) for the current financial year. The results are below the
internal early warning indicator of minus 12.0%.
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Effects of interest rate changes on net interest

31/12/2023 31/12/2022
€ millions in % € millions in %
Parallel upwards 50 1.8 (195) (8.5)
Parallel downwards (50) (1.8) 74 3.2

The changes in results compared with the previous year can be explained by the changed positions and the new
interest scenarios.

Furthermore, additional stress test scenarios are considered to estimate the basis risk (resulting from the imperfect
correlation in interest rate benchmarks for different instruments and products) and the effects of nonparallel
shocks.

3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk consists of the following categories:
— intraday/ operational liquidity risk

— short-term liquidity risk

— structural liquidity risk (funding risk)

— contingency liquidity risk

— market liquidity risk

Categories

Intraday/operational liquidity risk

Intraday operational liquidity risk arises when a financial institution cannot meet its current day-to-day payment
obligations (payment obligations within one trading day) from its current incoming and outgoing payments, hence
becoming technically insolvent. This can be considered a special type of short-term liquidity risk. An intraday
cushion is set up as part of the short-term liquidity cushion with a view to balancing the intraday liquidity
requirement and covering unforeseen payment obligations.

Short-term liquidity risk
Short-term liquidity risk relates to the risk of a discrepancy in the amount and/or maturity of incoming and outgoing
payments in the short run (one year or less).

Structural liquidity risk

The structural liquidity risk (funding risk) is defined as the risk of not being able to raise the necessary refinancing
funds at an appropriate ratio between medium- to long-term assets and liabilities (over one year), at acceptable
prices and in a stable and sustainable manner without adversely affecting the Bank's day-to-day operations or
financial position. It could potentially have an impact on the funding costs (own credit and market funding spread)
and thus on the future earnings of the company.
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Contingency liquidity risk

Contingency liquidity risk refers to a liquidity crisis with a high impact but low probability of occurrence. In this case
there is a contingency process that can be effectively activated in the event of a crisis and follows an approved
procedure.

Market liquidity risk
Information on the market liquidity risk is provided in the section entitled “Market risk”.

Strategy

Liquidity management at HVB Group is divided into short-term liquidity management (one year or less) and long-
term liquidity management (more than one year). Risk drivers that may be the cause of potential liquidity outflows
have been identified for the various segments.

Furthermore, various dimensions of liquidity risk management have been defined to which appropriate instruments
and controlling mechanisms have been assigned depending on the type of risk involved.

The risk appetite is defined with regard to liquidity risk on the basis of the business activities and taking into
account risk sources and risk drivers. This forms the foundation for the management and limit mechanisms, such
as liquidity reports, projections and plans, and the definition of liquidity cushions to be maintained for unexpected
outflows of liquidity during the day. The result is the specification of limits, triggers and a minimum survival period
that matches the risk appetite. The specific limits are specified annually during the “Risk Appetite Framework”
process for the various, short-term and structural liquidity ratios. In each case these must be considered as strict
conditions for overall bank management with a distinction between regulatory and economic ratios. In the case of
regulatory ratios the limits are defined with a sufficient buffer to the minimum legal requirements in order to ensure
a sufficient response time in the event of potential negative developments and allow the timely introduction of
corresponding steering measures.

Limit system

A limit has been set for intraday/operational liquidity risk as part of short-term liquidity risk by implementing a
minimum balance to be observed during the day, by means of which liquidity is maintained to cover unforeseeable
outflows (intraday liquidity cushion).

For the management of short-term liquidity risk, we have put in place a cash-flow-oriented limit system that
presents the relevant balances within HVB Group per working day and limits the positions appropriately.

The difference between the calculated potential liquidity requirement and the existing liquidity reserves is limited.
Funding risk or structural liquidity risk is restricted by defining a limit for the ratio of liabilities to assets.

The effects arising from the change in funding spreads are to a very large extent taken into account by limiting
funding risk. In addition, the internal transfer prices for the lending and deposit-taking activities are continually
reviewed for appropriateness and regularly adjusted to reflect the market situation.
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Reduction

Among other things, specific processes, the implementation of an early warning system complete with early
warning indicators and a limit system as well as the management of highly liquid assets made available as
collateral serve to reduce the liquidity risk.

Measurement

Short-term liquidity risk

To measure short-term liquidity risk, cash flow profiles are produced on a daily basis. The resulting balances are
compared with the available liquidity reserves, which consist primarily of the available highly liquid securities
eligible at all times as collateral for central bank borrowings. The cumulative balance of the above-named
components is backed with limits for all maturity buckets of up to three months for the relevant units of HVB Group.

The aggregate amount for the three-month maturity bucket is published in the Risk Report for short-term liquidity
risk as the relevant figure for managing the Bank’s liquidity risk.

Furthermore, stress-test scenarios based on the liquidity profiles of the HVB Group units are simulated at regular
intervals and the impact on liquidity is calculated. The corresponding stress-test scenarios take account of both
company-specific influences (e.g. potential HVB Group-specific incidents) and external factors (e.g. disruptions in
global financial markets), as well as a combination of company-specific and external factors (e.g. the scenario
demanded under the MaRisk rules). A time horizon of up to two months is defined for the individual stress-test
scenarios, during which the available liquidity reserves are expected to exceed the simulated outflows of liquidity.
In addition, the defined early warning indicators and relevant concentration risks are determined and monitored at
regular intervals. This ensures that countermeasures can be initiated promptly, if required.

Calculating the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) is intended to ensure that an institution is able to meet its short-term
payment obligations under the assumption of an acute stress test scenario over a period of 30 calendar days.

Structural liquidity risk

To measure structural liquidity risk (funding risk), the long-term funding requirements based on the expected
business development are determined and updated in a coordinated process. The long-term funding requirements,
which are used to set the funding targets and are presented to the Financial and Credit Risk Committee in the
context of a financial risk session, take into account the assets and liabilities falling due in the planning period. The
key assumptions underlying the risk measurement methods are reviewed on a regular basis to assess their
appropriateness. The net stable funding ratio (NSFR) is used as the key indicator for measuring funding risk
according to CRR Il requirements. Furthermore, the funding risk is calculated using an internal ratio, the “Structural
Liquidity Ratio (SLRY)”, for the time horizon greater than one year and greater than three years. These ratios
usually take into account the contractual cash flows of assets and liabilities, or internal models for non-terminated
products, such as sight deposits and savings deposits. In addition, both the loan-to-deposit ratio and the funding
gap are recorded.
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Monitoring and controlling

Short-term liquidity risk

The task of monitoring the short-term liquidity situation at HVB Group has been entrusted to the ALM & Funding
unit in the Finance organisation. This essentially involves analysing and controlling the short-term liquidity profiles
within the scope of the limits defined and monitored by the CRO organisation on a daily basis. The monitoring and
controlling of intraday liquidity risk are essentially performed on the basis of various minimum balances that must
be observed during the day and at the beginning of the day. These are set against the current volumes in the
relevant accounts on a regular basis and monitored. Responsibility for monitoring and controlling developments on
the respective local markets rests with the local Treasury units, which report to the ALM & Funding unit as and
when necessary.

For short-term liquidity risk, moreover, monthly stress analyses based on various scenarios allow us to make
projections on the impact of sudden disruptions on the liquidity position, enabling us to take the necessary
management measures as early as possible. Units in the CRO organisation are responsible for monitoring and
analysing the stress-test scenarios and the early warning indicators, while the Finance organisation has been
tasked with monitoring and analysing the portfolio of freely disposable securities eligible as collateral for central
bank borrowings that can be used at short notice to cover unexpected liquidity outflows as well as concentration
risk. Additional market liquidity analyses are carried out by the CRO organisation during the stress tests.

Structural liquidity risk

The task of monitoring the structural liquidity situation at HVB Group has similarly been entrusted to the ALM &
Funding unit in the Finance organisation. This essentially involves analysing and controlling the long-term
mismatches in the maturities of assets and liabilities within the scope of the defined limits and also specified
funding targets. Compliance with the long-term funding ratios is monitored on a monthly basis. The structural
liquidity risk (funding risk) of HVB Group is broken down by product, market and investor group. The front-office
units implement the volume and product parameters derived from the funding targets cost-efficiently upon
consultation with the ALM & Funding unit. This activity is similarly supported by a liquidity cost allocation
mechanism — known as Funds Transfer Pricing (FTP) — for all significant business activities, the principles of which
are defined in the FTP policy.

The Financial and Credit Risk Committee and the Executive Board are regularly informed about the current
liquidity and funding situation. A contingency plan is in place to allow the impact of potential liquidity crises to be
managed. This plan describes and regulates the distribution of responsibilities, internal reporting requirements,
decision-making powers and potential measures.

The rules and regulations governing liquidity management are defined in a liquidity policy adopted by the
Executive Board of HVB. The key points contained in the policy relate to the ability to satisfy financial obligations at
all times in line with the defined risk appetite. Its objectives include the following: optimising the projected cash
flows, restricting the cumulative short-term liquidity differences, performing stress tests at regular intervals and
restricting the long-term maturity mismatches between the liabilities side and the assets side.

The liquidity policy and contingency plan together with supplementary remarks are updated at regular intervals by
the CRO organisation with support from the Finance organisation. The liquidity policy is implemented by the
operational business units and coordinated and monitored for the relevant units of HVB Group by the Financial
Risk unit in the CRO organisation.
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Quantification and specification

Short-term liquidity risk

Within the framework of our limit system, we showed an overall positive balance of short-term liquidity risk of
€43.4 billion at HVB Group for the three-month maturity bucket as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
€54 .1 billion). The holding of available securities eligible as collateral for central bank borrowings that can be
employed on the next banking day to compensate for unexpected outflows of liquidity, increased to €41.5 billion at
the end of 2023 (31 December 2022: €18.8 billion), mainly due to the long-term refinancing business with
Deutsche Bundesbank during the year.

Institution-specific, market-wide and combined scenarios are included in the calculation of our stress tests. The
calculations at the end of 2023 showed that the available liquidity reserves will cover our funding requirements
beyond the minimum period required in each case.

The liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) of at least 100% to ensure that an institution is able to meet its short-term
payment obligations was met throughout the course of 2023. The weighted average liquidity cover ratio according
to the EU directive on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms is at 148% for the twelve-
month average at the end of 2023 (31 December 2022: 142%). The following table shows the individual
components of the weighted liquidity cover ratio.

Adjusted total value

(weighted)
Liquidity cover ratio components 31/12/2023 31/12/2022
Number of data points used in calculating the average values (weighted) 12 12
High quality liquid assets (HQLA) in € billions 61,9 66,5
Total net average outflows in € billions 41,8 46,7
Liquidity cover ratio (LCR) in % 148 142

Structural liquidity risk

The structural liquidity risk (funding risk) of HVB Group was again low in 2023 thanks to our broad funding base in
terms of products, markets and investor groups. This ensured that we were able to obtain adequate funding for our
lending operations in terms of volume and maturity within the framework of our limit system. Until the end of
December 2023, HVB Group provided a funding of €7.6 billion on a long-term basis (31 December 2022:

€8.5 billion); our Pfandbriefe continue to be an important funding instrument, in 2023 a volume of €3.9 billion

(31 December 2022: €3.9 billion) was funded externally on the capital market. For the NSFR, a minimum
regulatory rate of 100% has been in place since June 21. At the end of 2023, the HVB ratios based on the CRR Il
requirements was at 118.5% (31 December 2022 at 115.6%), the internal ratios “structural liquidity ratio for more
than one year and more than three years” have been above 100% throughout the course of 2023.
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Breakdown of sources of funding of HVB Group in %
Deposits from customers 56.6
Deposits from banks 10.2
Debt securities (including Pfandbriefe) 12.0
Repos' 1.2
Equity 7.6
Central banks 8.4
Financial liabilities held for trading? 23
Other (0.1)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1.9

1 Repos from the items “Financial liabilities held for trading”, “Deposits from customers” and “Deposits from banks".
2 Without the item “Negative fair values arising from derivative financial instruments".

Stress tests

Stress analyses are carried out at regular intervals, enabling us to make projections on the impact of sudden
disruptions to our liquidity position on the basis of various scenarios so that we can initiate appropriate
management measures as early as possible.

We include Bank-specific (for example outflows on unsecured funding, low funding plan fulfilment rates, no stress
haircuts on the bond position), market-wide (for example outflows on unsecured funding, outflows due to margin
requirements from derivatives transactions, stress haircuts on the bond position) and combined scenarios when
conducting our stress tests. The calculations at the end of 2023 showed that the available liquidity reserves were
sufficient to cover the funding requirements over the minimum period demanded.

4 Operational risk

Strategy

The risk strategy pursues the goal of reducing operational risk (OpRisk) to a reasonable level from a profitability
perspective and taking the defined risk appetite into account. The primary aim is to reduce or avoid significant
losses by taking appropriate measures and also helps to generate a sustainable improvement in earnings.

To make the risk strategy more specific, Bank-wide and business-segment-specific action areas are defined on the
basis of influencing factors and strategic risk areas relevant to operational risk.

Limit system
Operational risk is part of the internal capital, with a limit set for HVB Group accordingly.
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Reduction

HVB Group has a group-wide organisational structure for operational risk management. The individual business
areas of HVB and each subsidiary of HVB Group are responsible for identifying, analysing and managing
operational risk.

Loss events that have occurred and significant risks are reported to the Executive Board at regular intervals. On a
local level, operational risk managers report losses and relevant risks to their senior management on a quarterly or
half-yearly basis.

Information technology (IT)

UniCredit S.p.A. provides most IT services for HVB Group. IT services needed to meet special requirements of
HVB subsidiaries are provided by additional selected providers. In this connection, both HVB and HVB Group
adhere to a control framework set by the UniCredit corporate group in order to monitor and manage all significant
IT and cyber risks adequately within the ICT management processes, among other things. Any such outsourcing
of activities to further providers is subject to clear IT compliance guidelines and will also be monitored in the
context of the overarching control processes.

Business continuity management, IT service continuity management and crisis management

The business continuity, IT service continuity and crisis management function demonstrated its effectiveness and
appropriateness by successfully mastering critical situations. In addition, the precautions taken for crisis and
emergency situations are adapted constantly to accommodate new threats. In principle, responsibility for
managing these risks lies with the person responsible for the process and the associated senior management.
Comprehensive monitoring and reporting of the residual risks identified is carried out by the Business Continuity &
Resilience unit.

Legal risk and compliance risk

Legal risk as a subcategory of operational risk is defined as the possibility of losses, damage or costs caused by
lack of knowledge of the current legal situation or by a delay in reacting to changes in the law, insufficient and/or
inadequate application of the law or unforeseeable changes to case law and/or the interpretation of the law by the
authorities.

The Legal department is responsible for managing legal risk and provides advice on legal matters to all units of
HVB. Excluded from this are tax law, labour law, data protection and the legal areas covered by compliance, which
are overseen by the respective functional departments.

Compliance risk is defined as an existing or future risk to income or capital as a consequence of infringements of
or non-compliance with laws, regulations, statutory provisions, agreements, mandatory practices or ethical
standards. This may result in fines, compensation for damage and/or contracts being rendered null and void in
addition to damaging a bank’s reputation.
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The management of compliance risk is normally a task of the Bank’s Executive Board. Pursuant to Section 25a of
the German Banking Act (Kreditwesengesetz — KWG), it is required to ensure that a proper business organisation
is in place, encompassing in particular effective risk management, including an internal control system (ICS). Part
of the ICS is the compliance function (second line of defence), which helps the Executive Board to manage
compliance risk. In terms of the three lines of defence, however, the business units have the task (first line of
defence) of knowing, managing and mitigating their own compliance risks.

The Minimum Requirements for Compliance (MaComp) and MaRisk both require a compliance function to be put
into place. Both also contain rules on how such a compliance function should be structured. At HVB, both
functions are combined in the Compliance unit in order to ensure a uniform approach. Anti-money laundering and
fraud prevention as well as preventive measures against infringements of financial sanctions and embargos are
also assigned to the Compliance unit. Comprehensive risk assessment is ensured by this approach. On account of
its high degree of specialisation, tax compliance is managed and refined within the finance organisation
exclusively by the Tax Affairs unit.

Legal risks

HVB and other companies belonging to HVB Group are involved in various legal proceedings. The following is a
chronological summary of cases against HVB and other companies belonging to HVB Group, which individually or
collectively in the respective subject areas have a value in dispute exceeding €50 million or are of substantial
significance for HVB for other reasons.

In many cases, there is substantial uncertainty regarding the outcome of the proceedings and the amount of
possible damages. These cases include criminal or administrative proceedings by the relevant authority and
claims in which the petitioner has not specifically quantified the amounts in dispute. In all proceedings where a loss
is considered likely, and it is possible to reliably estimate the amount of possible losses, provisions have been set
up based on the circumstances and consistent with IFRS accounting principles applied by HVB Group. Whether
and to what extent a provision has been set up in proceedings is not disclosed if the outcome of the proceedings
could be affected by such disclosure.

VIP 4 Medienfonds

Various investors in Film & Entertainment VIP Medienfonds 4 GmbH & Co. KG to whom the Bank issued loans to
finance their participation, brought legal proceedings against HVB. In the context of the conclusion of the loan
agreements, the plaintiffs claim that the Bank provided inadequate disclosure about the fund structure and the
related tax consequences. A settlement was reached with the vast majority of the plaintiffs. An outstanding final
decision with respect to the question of HVB's liability for the prospectus in the proceeding pursuant to the Capital
Markets Test Case Act (Kapitalanleger-Musterverfahrensgesetz) which is pending at Munich Higher Regional
Court, will affect only a few pending cases.
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Proceedings related to claims for withholding tax credits

On 31 July 2014 the Supervisory Board of HVB concluded its internal investigations into the so-called “cum-ex”
transactions (the short selling of equities around dividend dates and claims for withholding tax credits on German
share dividends) at HVB. In this context, criminal investigations have been conducted against current or former
employees of HVB and HVB itself as an ancillary party by the Prosecutors in Frankfurt/Main, Cologne and Munich.
With respect to HVB, all proceedings originally initiated by the aforesaid prosecution offices were finally closed
with payment of a fine or the payment of a forfeiture.

In December 2018, in connection with an ongoing investigation against other financial institutions and former Bank
employees, HVB was informed by the Cologne Prosecutor of the initiation of a new investigation in connection with
an administrative offence regarding “cum-ex” transactions involving Exchange Traded Funds (“ETF”). In April 2019
these investigations were extended to so called ex/ex-transactions, in which an involvement of the Bank in the
sourcing of cum/ex transactions of other market participants on the ex-day is suspected. The facts are being
examined internally. HVB is cooperating with the authorities.

On 28 July 2021, the Federal Criminal Court (BGH) rendered a decision through which the principle criminal
liability of cum/ex structures was determined the first time. With its decisions of 6 April 2022, 17 November 2022
and 20 September 2023 the BGH confirmed three criminal judgements in other cum-ex cases of the Regional
Court of Bonn, thus further solidifying its case law. HVB is monitoring the development.

In June 2023, the Munich tax authorities completed a regular field audit of HVB for the years 2013 to 2016 which
includes, among other things, a review of transactions in equities around the dividend record date (so called
cum/cum transactions). During these years HVB performed, among other things, securities-lending transactions
with different domestic counterparties which include, but are not limited to, different types of cum/cum transactions.
It still remains to be clarified whether, and under which circumstances, tax credits can be obtained or taxes
refunded with regard to different types of cum/cum transactions. Some of the taxes credited from the cum/cum
transactions are currently not recognized for tax purposes by the tax audit. HVB appealed against the tax
assessments for 2013 to 2015, which were amended based on the findings of the tax audit regarding cum/cum
transactions. Moreover, with respect to cum/cum transactions in which the counterparty of HVB claimed tax credits
in the past, it cannot be ruled out that HVB might be exposed to third party claims under civil law.

Claim in relation to collateral enforcement

In late 2019, a holding company of a German industrial group brought a claim against HVB, in its capacity as
security agent for a group of noteholders and lenders, aiming at obtaining the annulment and/or damages in
relation to an allegedly fraudulent collateral enforcement. The claimant has withdrawn the claim in 2023.
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Financial sanctions matters

Following the settlement in April 2019, the U.S. and New York Authorities require an annual external review
regarding the evolution of the process implementation. In light of the request, in 2020, the Group appointed an
external independent consultant. Following the interaction with the independent consultant and also considering
the mandatory commitments towards the Authorities, HVB has implemented additional requirements and controls,
about which the bank makes periodic reports to the Authorities. According to the positive outcomes of the reviews,
the Federal Reserve has suspended the external independent consultant’s review going forward.

Euro-denominated bonds issued by EU countries

On 31 January 2019 UniCredit S.p.A. and HVB received a Statement of Objections from the European
Commission referring to the investigation by the European Commission of a suspected violation of antitrust rules in
relation to European government bonds. The subject matter of the investigation extended to certain periods from
2007 to 2011 and included activities by HVB between September and November 2011. The European
Commission concluded its investigation by issuance of its decision on 20 May 2021. The decision provides for the
imposition of a fine of €69.4 million on the parent company UniCredit S.p.A and HVB. UniCredit S.p.A. and HVB
contest the European Commission's findings and brought an action for the annulment of its decision before the
General Court of the European Union on 30 July 2021.

On 11 June 2019, HVB and UniCredit Capital Markets LLC were named, among other financial institutions, as
defendants in a putative class action already pending in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York. The third amended class action complaint, filed on 3 December 2019, alleges a conspiracy among
dealers of Euro-denominated bonds issued by European central banks to fix and manipulate the prices of those
bonds, among other things by widening the bid-ask spreads they quoted to customers. The putative class consists
of those who purchased or sold Euro-denominated bonds issued by European central banks in the US between
2007 and 2012. On 23 July 2020, the court granted motions to dismiss the third amended complaint by certain
defendants, including HVB and UniCredit Capital Markets LLC, without prejudice. Plaintiffs filed their fourth
amended class action complaint on 9 February 2021, repleading their claim against HVB and UniCredit Capital
Markets LLC and other financial institutions. Like earlier pleadings, the fourth amended class action complaint
does not include a quantification of damages claimed. On 14 March 2022, the court granted UniCredit Capital
Markets LLC motion to dismiss while denying HVB’s motion to dismiss. The court has since denied HVB’s motion
for reconsideration, HVB has answered the operative complaint, and discovery has commenced. On

25 September 2023, the court granted plaintiffs leave to file a fifth amended class action complaint, which plaintiffs
did on 16 October 2023 and continued to name HVB among others (but not UniCredit Capital Markets LLC) as a
defendant. HVB reached a settlement with the plaintiffs and the putative class in May 2023, and the court
preliminarily approved that settlement on 16 May 2023. The court will consider final approval of the settlement at a
hearing scheduled for 23 February 2024.

Claims in relation to a syndicated loan

HVB, together with several other financial institutions, has been named as a defendant in complaints filed by the
judicial administrator and foreign representative of a Brazilian oil and gas conglomerate in July 2021 in the United
States before the Southern District of New York court claiming damages in connection with the repayment of a
syndicated loan for two oil drilling rigs in which HVB participated that defendants are alleged to have unlawfully
obtained.
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Claim in relation to interest rate swap
In December 2021 HVB was named as defendant in a case pertaining to an interest rate swap commenced by an
Italian region before the Court of Bologna in Italy. HVB and the region settled the case in 2023.

Claims in relation to sanctions legislation

Two aircraft leasing companies filed lawsuits in March and April 2022 against HVB'’s foreign branch in London
before a London court. The claims relate to payments arising under certain letters of credit, all of which are
governed by English law. The disputes hinge on the interpretation of sanctions legislation and its effect on the
letters of credit. After the trial, the required UK licences authorising payments under the letters of credit were
granted and HVB London branch made payments of the principal under the letters of credit to the claimants in
autumn 2022. In spring 2023, HVB London branch was nevertheless ordered to pay interest and legal costs. HVB
London branch has been granted permission to appeal this decision. The substantive appeal will be heard in May
2024.

Claims in relation to guarantee payments and sanctions

In August 2023, HVB was named as a defendant in a lawsuit pertaining to guarantee claims totaling approx. €444
million commenced by a Russian energy company before a court in Saint Petersburg, Russia. HVB had issued
part of a guarantee package in favour of the Russian company on behalf of a German guarantee client. The
Russian company had drawn down the guarantees by making payment claims to HVB, which HVB could not fulfil
under the applicable EU sanctions. The guarantees are governed by English law and contain an arbitration
agreement providing for ICC arbitration seated in Paris. On 29 January 2024, the English Court of Appeal reversed
an earlier decision denying a permanent anti-suit injunction (ASI) and granted a final ASI requiring the Russian
company to immediately take all steps necessary to withdraw the Russian proceedings. On 12 February 2024, the
UK Supreme Court granted the Russian company permission to appeal staying the effects of the permanent ASI,
but continuing the prohibitory injunction preventing the Russian company from taking any steps to progress the
Russian proceedings. A hearing before the Supreme Court is expected to take place in April. The Russian court
has rejected HVB's jurisdictional defenses and scheduled the next hearing for the second quarter of 2024.

Measurement

The operational risk of HVB Group is calculated for HVB and its material subsidiaries — HVB Immobilien AG and
UniCredit Leasing GmbH (together with subsidiaries) — using an internal model in accordance with the Advanced
Measurement Approach (AMA model). The standard approach is applied for all other subsidiaries in the respective
area of application.

The AMA model is based mainly on internal and external loss data. The process involves computing loss
distributions for each model risk category. A model risk category is determined by combining the Basel loss event
category and the product category of the loss event. Scenario data are used to complete the data for rare yet
extreme events. The method used to aggregate the individual data sources is based on the Bayesian model and is
applied to the loss distribution parameters for each model risk category.
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The VaR is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation. The VaRs of the individual model risk categories are
modified to reflect internal control and business environment factors. In the aggregation, correlations between the
model risk categories and risk-reducing measures, such as insurance policies, are taken into account.

In line with UniCredit's approach, operational risk capital is calculated based on the Advanced Measurement
Approach (AMA) at the level of the UniCredit corporate group as a whole and then distributed as a first step to the
subgroups (known as hubs), including HVB Group, and as a second step, to the AMA subsidiaries, using a risk-
sensitive allocation mechanism.

The model was developed by UniCredit S.p.A. HVB checks the plausibility of the calculation results at regular
intervals. The AMA model is validated on an annual basis to ensure that it is appropriate.

Stress tests
The impact of macroeconomic scenarios on operational risk is analysed within the scope of the cross-risk-type
stress tests.

5 Other risks

In the section entitled “Other risks”, HVB Group collates the following types of quantifiable risk: real estate risk,
business risk, pension risk, reputational risk, financial investment risk and model risk as well as the risk type
strategic risk, which is described exclusively in qualitative terms. The risk arising from outsourcing activities and
the sustainability risk are not treated as a separate risk type at HVB Group but are considered a cross-risk type
and are consequently listed under other risks.

Real estate risk
A fundamental distinction is made in real estate risk between real estate required for operations (used by the
Bank) and real estate that is not used for operations (not used by the Bank).

Real estate management ensures value- and cost-optimised management, the operation of the buildings and the
fulfilment of the UniCredit Bank GmbH’s space requirements in terms of size, quality and cost optimisation. The
longer-term orientation for real estate used by the Bank corresponds with the Bank’s strategy of preferring Bank-
owned properties over rented properties for own use and making such properties available for the banking
operations of HVB Group at market terms on a cost-optimised basis.

The main risks for the Bank-owned portfolio primarily stem from the development of the market value. The risk
drivers are the future usage by the Bank, market rents, occupancy rate, required investment and the price
development on the real estate market. ESG criteria are also becoming important factors for portfolio strategy,
maintenance and investment decisions. The medium-term goal for the real estate portfolio not used by the Bank,
on the other hand, is to realise the best possible value upon disposal of the portfolio; in this regard, the impact on
both the income statement and the Bank’s other management instruments is crucial for the individual decisions.
This tallies with the overarching strategy for dealing with real estate risk.

Real estate risk is managed overall on the basis of an internal capital limit for HVB Group. In addition, economic
capital limits adjusted for diversification effects were allocated to the operating segments and the relevant
subsidiaries for 2023 in the context of overall bank management. Based on these limits, HVB Group defined
additional early warning indicators in the form of targets and triggers in order to identify in advance any
overshooting.
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To quantify real estate risk, the Bank uses an empirical Bayesian model (a group-wide real estate risk model) with
a confidence level of 99.90%. This model applies an expected-shortfall approach which also takes account of the
possible risk of extreme values (tail risk) (i.e. losses in excess of the VaR).

The economic capital for real estate risk is measured by the Integrated Risk (CRI3) unit and calculated by the Data
& Intelligence (CDI3). The Credit Risk Control (CRI4) unit is responsible for reporting. In line with the risk strategy,
quarterly risk reporting also includes a comparison of the actual values with the limits.

The economic capital for real estate risk at HVB Group, without taking account of diversification effects between
the risk types and without the model risk cushion, amounts to €271 million at 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022: €291 million). The fully diversified economic capital for real estate risk at HVB Group stands at €138 million
(31 December 2022: €129 million).

The risk figures relate to a portfolio valued at €2,368 million.

Breakdown of the real estate portfolio by type

PORTFOLIO VALUE SHARE
€ millions in %
2023 2022 2023 2022
Real estate used by the Bank 1,925 2,231 81.3 80.6
Real estate not used by the Bank 443 536 18.7 19.4
HVB Group 2,368 2,767 100.0 100.0

The decrease in the real estate portfolio compared with the end of 2022 is mainly due to a decline in market
values.

The impact of macroeconomic scenarios on real estate risk is analysed within the scope of the cross-risk-type
stress tests.

Business risk

The strategy for business risk is based on the direction of business over the medium term and is reflected in
planning. As part of its general cost and income management, each business unit is responsible for the
operational management of business risk.

Business risk is managed overall on the basis of an internal capital limit for HVB Group. Based on this limit, HVB
Group has additionally defined early warning indicators in the form of targets and triggers in order to identify in
advance any overshooting.

HVB Group uses a group-wide model to measure the economic capital used by business risks that is based on a
time series model of the quarterly income. The economic capital requirement corresponds to the unexpected loss
and is quantified using value-at-risk (VaR) metrics over a period of one year and a confidence level of 99.90%.
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The economic capital for the business risk is measured by the Integrated Risk (CRI3) unit and calculated by the
Data & Intelligence (CDI3) unit. The Credit Risk Control (CRI4) unit is responsible for reporting. In line with the risk
strategy, quarterly risk reporting also includes a comparison of the actual values with the limits.

The economic capital for HVB Group’s business risk, without taking account of diversification effects between the
risk types and without the model risk cushion, amounted to €291 million at 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022: €337 million). The fully diversified economic capital for HVB Group’s business risk totals €188 million as at
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: €215 million).

The impact of macroeconomic scenarios on business risk is analysed within the scope of the cross-risk-type stress
tests.

Pension risk

In risk management, risks are calculated and monitored at regular intervals using a model devised specifically for
pension risk. A risk figure is determined periodically using calculations based on changes in key risk parameters
for both the various capital investments and the cash flows on the obligations side. A figure of €1,048 million was
determined as at 31 December 2023 for the total pension risk of HVB Group (31 December 2022: €1,167 million).
The decrease compared with year-end 2022 is primarily due to a lower assumed potential interest rate shock on
pension obligations as a result of a decline in interest rates. The risk figure is incorporated in the calculation of the
risk-taking capacity in the form of an additive component in market risk before aggregation as internal capital. In
addition, the impact on pension risk is analysed at regular intervals as part of the cross-risk-type stress tests.

The direction of interest rates still appears to be the main driver of risks when determining the amount of
recognised pension obligations. After the strong increase in 2022, yields declined in 2023 with significant year-on-
year fluctuations during the year. The current level of interest rates makes it easier to generate returns on plan
assets from the fixed-income securities segment. Despite the downward trend, inflation remained above the
medium/long-term actuarial assumptions. This led to corresponding pension adjustments and an increase in
obligations above the actuarial assumptions already taken into account. Funding has accordingly fallen slightly
despite the good performance of the investments. Central banks seem determined to continue fighting inflation
with key interest rates that remain fairly high. Inflation is expected to continue to decline slowly, which should result
in the first key interest rate cuts over the course of the year. The comparatively high level of interest rates could,
however, also affect the still weak economic development and, as a result, lead to an increase in volatility on the
capital markets with potentially negative effects on the asset side, and particularly in equities. There is also a
certain risk that inflation will remain more persistent and that central banks may stick to a restrictive monetary
policy for even longer. The diverse geopolitical risks also contribute to a challenging environment.
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Financial investment risk

The financial investment portfolio mainly consists of holdings in unlisted companies, equity derivatives and other
fund shares (real estate funds and other closed-end funds). All the investments to be included in financial
investment risk are either considered strategic and allocated to a business area or competence line, or deemed
non-strategic and connected with the fundamental goal of reduction.

The risk from holdings in unlisted companies has been included under credit risk since September 2020. The
following risk drivers are relevant for financial investment risk: the carrying amounts of investments and the related
residual capital contribution liabilities and the macroeconomic situation. In addition, risks from hedge funds, private
equity funds (including issuer risks from the trading book) and FX risks from the investment portfolio are included
in the calculation of the market risk.

Breakdown of the financial investment portfolio

PORTFOLIO VALUE SHARE
€ millions in %
2023 2022 2023 2022
Private equity investments 10 10 3.9 4.0
Other investments’ 239 227 96.1 96.0
HVB Group 249 237 100.0 100.0

1 Listed and unlisted investments.

The impact of macroeconomic scenarios on financial investment risk within credit risk is examined in the course of
cross-risk-type stress tests.

Strategic risk

As a universal bank, HVB Group is a provider of banking and financial services with a focus on Germany. It offers
a comprehensive range of banking and financial products and services to private and corporate clients, public
institutions and international companies, was well as institutional clients. Therefore, HVB Group’s profitability and
risk profile are influenced in particular by the economic development in Germany and the development of
international financial and capital markets. In this context, strategic risk results from management either not
recognising early enough or not correctly assessing significant developments or trends in the Bank’s environment.
As a consequence, fundamental management decisions could, in retrospect, prove to be disadvantageous in
terms of the Bank’s long-term goals. In addition, some decisions may be difficult to reverse or cannot be reversed
at all. In the worst case, this can negatively impact the profitability and risk profile of HVB Group.
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The following areas are currently classified as relevant for the occurrence of strategic risk:

— Economic environment — Geopolitical tensions, such as those caused by the Russia-Ukraine conflict, create
economic uncertainties such as higher inflation or shortages in the energy supply that could have negative
effects on the earnings situation of HVB Group.

— Strategic orientation of the business model of HVB Group — Delays in the required adjustments of business units
could lead to imbalances in the earnings contributions of the business areas.

— Bank-specific risks — The intensification of competition in the financial sector could, for example, lead to further
shifts in market shares.

— Regulatory and legal framework — Should HVB or one of its subsidiaries not fully comply with the regulatory
requirements of the supervisory authorities, this could lead to sanctions by the competent supervisory authority.

— Rating of UniCredit Bank GmbH — A rating change downwards (downgrade) could make refinancing costs more
expensive or have a negative impact on business opportunities as a counterparty in the interbank market or with
rating-sensitive customers.

The strategic risk is not quantified as part of internal capital but is assessed qualitatively instead. This assessment
is based on a traffic light system: low risk (green), increased risk (yellow) and high risk (red). Furthermore, the
national and international environment in which HVB Group operates is continually monitored (for example,
political, economic, regulatory or specific banking market conditions) and the Bank’s own strategic positioning is
continually reviewed.

Strategic risk is monitored by the Executive Board and its business managers and, if necessary, analysed in depth
on an ad hoc basis. Any changes in the strategic parameters are discussed at Executive Board meetings, whereby
alternative courses of action are derived and implemented as required. A dialogue with external experts (such as
management consultants and independent auditors) regarding strategic issues and options at Executive Board
level and below ensures the involvement of external experts’ know-how.

Reputational risk

HVB and its most important subsidiaries apply a holistic approach to reputational risk management. This means
that all significant new activities and transactions at the Bank are analysed with regard to reputational risk as a
basic rule (“change-the-bank” approach) and individual units at the Bank are examined at regular intervals for
latent reputational risk at the same time (“run-the-bank” approach).

Commercial transactions and new activities such as new product processes, outsourcing, projects and particular
investments (such as special purpose vehicles) are included in the “change-the-bank” approach, as well as any
other new activity as is appropriate. The employees responsible in each case are required to analyse the
transactions/activities to identify any reputational risk, taking into account the existing guidelines. Once a
reputational risk has been identified, the appropriate specialist departments are called in who will assess the
reputational risk identified in terms of quality. The final decision based on the risk analysis and qualitative
assessment is the responsibility of the Non-Financial Risk and Control Committee or the head of Non-Financial
Risks.
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Under the “run-the-bank” approach, the individual units of the Bank are examined at regular intervals for existing
and/or latent reputational risk. For this purpose, senior management is interviewed about the current reputational
risk. Senior managers then have the opportunity to review the reputational risk identified in their unit and add any
further material reputational risks. Where it is possible and makes sense to do so, additional countermeasures are
defined for the individual reputational risks.

Within the framework of the “run-the-bank” approach, the risk is classified in accordance with a three-tier system
(traffic light logic). This involves determining the aggregate risk across two dimensions: impact on the income
statement and probability of occurrence.

The individual business areas and central units are responsible for reputational risk management. Overall
responsibility for monitoring rests with the Non-Financial Risks unit (CRO organisation). The Non-Financial Risks
unit consolidates the results of senior management interviews and prepares a yearly RepRisk Report covering the
greatest reputational risks at HVB.

In addition to the “change-the-bank” and the “run-the-bank” approach, UniCredit's method for quantifying
reputational risk was introduced at HVB Group in the first quarter of 2020. For the purposes of quantification,
reputation risk is defined as the impact of “negative sentiment” in the opinion-forming media (press, television,
online media) on UniCredit’s future profits generated by the reporting of an event that has a negative impact on the
Bank’s reputation.

UniCredit’'s method for quantifying reputational risk is based on measuring the semi-elasticity between the
development of the Media Tonality Index (a measure whose development reflects changes in UniCredit’s
reputation) and the development of the idiosyncratic portion of the expected profits. The economic capital for
reputational risk is based on the value-at-risk (VaR) measure, which is calculated at a confidence level of 99.90%
and is derived from the distribution of expected declines in profit.

The economic capital for reputational risk is calculated on a quarterly basis at UniCredit corporate group level and
— based on the weighted “ratio of capital for the subsidiary’s operational risk to the capital for the UniCredit
corporate group’s operational risk” — distributed between the subsidiaries of UniCredit corporate group.

The Non-Financial Risks unit checks the results obtained from calculating the economic capital for HVB Group’s
reputational risk for plausibility on a quarterly basis. The method for the quantification of reputational risk is
validated at regular intervals.

The impact on reputation risk stemming from a change in sentiment about UniCredit in the opinion-forming media
is examined in the course of cross-risk-type stress tests. The extent of this change is determined by assessing the
severity of the respective macroeconomic scenario.
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Model risk

Model risk is taken into account via a charge, which reflects the risk of model weaknesses due to data errors,
inaccurate assumptions and incorrect methodology within the framework of ICAAP calculations. The estimation of
this economic capital component is based on an internally developed methodology. The results of this
methodology are converted into model risk percentages based on defined scoring functions and added to the risk
types. A model risk percentage is also taken into account for the risk aggregation model, which aims to estimate
the diversification benefit. In this case the relevant model risk percentage is applied directly to the diversification
benefit. The model risk charge is also taken into account in the limitation of internal capital.

The model risk charge amounted to €160 million as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: €210 million).

Sustainability risk
In addition to the “Social and Corporate Governance” component, HVB Group focuses in particular on the “Climate
& Environment” (C&E) component.

Climate and environment (C&E) factors relate to the quality and functioning of the natural environment and
systems and include factors such as climate change, biodiversity, energy consumption, air pollution and waste
management. These are factors that can have a negative financial impact through various risk drivers.

These can be categorised into physical and transitional risks:

— Physical risks relate to adverse financial effects from climate change, including more frequent extreme weather
events and gradual global warming, as well as environmental degradation (e.g. water and land pollution,
biodiversity loss and deforestation). Physical risks are divided into “acute” caused by extreme weather events
(such as droughts, floods and storms) and “chronic” caused by ongoing climate change (such as rising sea
levels, loss of biodiversity, scarcity of resources). These can directly result in damage to buildings and reduced
productivity.

— Transitional risks relate to the financial loss to the institution that may result directly or indirectly from the process
of transitioning to a low-carbon and more environmentally friendly, sustainable economy. For example, this could
be triggered by an abrupt shift in climate and environmental policy, technological progress or changing consumer
behaviour.

Social and corporate governance factors relate to rights, the welfare of people and communities, including the
organisational management of environmental and social factors in terms of strategy and processes.

Sustainability risk is materialising across the traditional risk types (credit risk, market risk, operational and
reputational risk, liquidity and funding risk) and is gradually being integrated into risk monitoring within the
framework of a project.
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Risks arising from outsourcing activities

Outsourcing involves the transfer of activities and processes to intragroup and external service providers. Parts of
the operational risk can also be mitigated by transferring the liability, while contractual risks arising from the
outsourcing arrangement remain within HVB or a subsidiary of HVB Group. An outsourcing arrangement is
deemed to exist when a different company is contracted to carry out activities and processes in connection with
the performance of banking business, financial services or other typical banking services that would otherwise be
performed by the outsourcing company itself. This includes outsourcing arrangements within UniCredit as well as
the subcontracting of outsourced activities and functions to subcontractors.

Outsourcing risk is considered a cross-risk-type risk at HVB Group and is not treated as a separate risk type.
Outsourcing activities affect the following risk types in particular: operational risk, reputational risk, strategic risk,
business risk, credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk. Those risks that are identified and assessed in an in-depth
risk analysis are managed as part of the respective risk type. Specific risks arising from outsourcing activities that
cannot be assigned directly to a specific risk type are managed by the unit responsible for the outsourcing in
question.

The respective project team and defined functional departments (including Operational Risk Management,
Compliance, Legal, Corporate Affairs & Documentation, Data Protection and Business Continuity Management)
use a standardised procedure to classify outsourcing arrangements as “not critical/material” and “critical/material”.
An in-depth risk analysis covering the other risk types as well as operational risk is performed for all outsourcing
arrangements. A retained organisation (RTO) responsible for the arrangement is set up for each outsourcing
arrangement that manages the risks identified. The identified risks are incorporated in HVB Group’s risk
management in the processes defined for the risk types concerned. The operational risk managers help the project
managers and the heads of the RTOs to prepare and/or update the related risk analyses. Other external service
providers for whom aspects of ICT security, data protection or business continuity are relevant have been
evaluated in a dedicated third-party risk management process since mid-2020.

In HVB Group, no new critical/significant outsourcing contract was concluded by HVB in 2023. The subsidiaries
UniCredit Leasing GmbH and UniCredit Leasing Finance GmbH concluded a contract with UniCredit Bank GmbH
as provider for “Accounting, Controlling, Risk Management and Regulatory Reporting activities” in order to prevent
potential operational risks at the leasing companies that could arise as part of the rundown and the associated
reduction in personnel. At WealthCap KVG, the previous IT provider, Datagroup, was replaced by DataGroup BIT
GmbH and a new significant outsourcing established with the service provider Control.IT Unternehmensberatung
GmbH for the operation of a cloud-based application for the portfolio management of the real estate fund. In the
course of the closure of the branch in Luxembourg as at 30 June 2023, three contracts with UniCredit International
Bank Luxembourg S.A. on “Compliance support services”, “Operations services in the area of the settlement of
collateral, payments and taxes as well as general master data maintenance” and “Support services for software
maintenance” were terminated. The change in the above-mentioned contracts did not result in a significant change
in the risk.
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ICS — Internal Control System

Internal control system with regard to the financial reporting
process

Section 315 (4) of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch — HGB) requires capital market-oriented
companies as defined in Section 264d HGB to describe the main features of their internal control system (ICS) and
risk management system with regard to the financial reporting process.

As part of UniCredit, HVB Group is also obliged to comply with Law 262 (“the Savings Law” — Law 262/2005,
passed in Italy in 2005 and amended by Legislative Decree 303/2006, based on the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in the
United States, Law 262). Alongside Finance-internal controls, there are also checking and control steps in
upstream processes and organisations.

Definitions and objectives

The internal control system (ICS) encompasses the policies, processes and measures needed to ensure the
financial reporting process including the related reporting as well as compliance with the applicable legal
provisions. It is intended to ensure that internal and external financial reports are correct and reliable and that the
assets, provisions, liabilities, and deferrals and accruals are classified, recognised and measured and changes in
equity are correctly shown.

Risks with regard to the financial reporting process might, for example, involve human processing errors, system
weaknesses or fraudulent conduct resulting in significant financial misrepresentations or delays in financial
reporting, and these might not give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss.
These risks might possibly entail legal penalties and, in addition, the erosion of stakeholders’ confidence and thus
damage to the Bank’s reputation. The purpose of the ICS with regard to the financial reporting process is to
implement controls that ensure with an adequate degree of certainty that the annual and consolidated financial
statements together with the Combined Management Report are prepared in compliance with regulations despite
the identified risks.

The risk management system is formulated in broad terms and relates above all to strategic management, the
identification, quantification, assessment, monitoring and active management of risk. The ensuing coordination of
risk-management, risk-controlling and risk-monitoring processes in HVB Group is presented in the Risk Report in
the present Combined Management Report. The respective risk types are described in detail in the sections
entitled “Risk types” and “Risk types in detail”.
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The method of the ICS in relation to the financial reporting process and thus the introduction of processes
including risk and monitoring assessment is based on the international “Internal Control — Integrated Framework”
issued by the Treadway Commission’s Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO). The main task in this
context is to define specific objectives to facilitate a control system and to monitor the effectiveness of the control
system on this basis. The following objectives are pursued:

— Completeness: Mapping of all relevant transactions such as assets, liabilities and provisions that have an effect
on the financial reports.

— Measurement: Recognition of the relevant items at their correct amounts in the financial reports.

— Presentation and disclosure: The financial reports are correctly classified and discussed regarding recognition,
structure and disclosures in the notes to the financial statements, comply with legal requirements and are
published on schedule.

Even the extensive structuring of the ICS can naturally only ensure that the objectives of the ICS are achieved with
reasonable assurance but not with absolute certainty. The documented controls carried out within the framework
of the ICS for the relevant processes or systems are therefore unable to completely eliminate mistakes or
fraudulent actions. It must also be taken into account in this context that the work performed and spending on the
ICS must be commensurate with the benefits achieved.

ICS organisation

The Management Board, or from registration of the change of legal form to UniCredit Bank GmbH in the
Commercial Register on 15 December 2023 the Executive Board (both hereinafter referred to below as the
“Executive Board”), determines the extent and orientation of the ICS specifically geared to HVB Group, taking
measures to refine the systems and adapt them to changing conditions. At its meetings, the Executive Board
discusses the consolidation and monitoring of all projects and measures related to the ICS on a regular basis.

Responsibility for the financial reporting process and, in particular, for the preparation of the annual and
consolidated financial statements rests with the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). The CFO receives significant
support in this context from the Chief Risk Officer (CRO) by the CRO also assuming responsibility for the
measurement of financial instruments (receivables, securities and derivatives), among other things.

The Finance organisation is also supported in the technical process of preparing the financial statements by the
Human Resources department (recognition and measurement of payroll expenses), the Legal department
(recognition and measurement of legal disputes and other legal risks) and external third parties. The latter
essentially extend to various expert opinions of external service providers relating to such things as the
measurement and accounting treatment of pension provisions.

Technical system support for the application systems used in Accounting and especially in connection with
preparing the financial statements has been outsourced to UniCredit S.p.A. This is monitored and managed by the
Retained Organisation in the Digital & Information business area.
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Organisational structure and tasks of the Finance organisation
For financial reporting processes, Finance is essentially broken down into the following areas:

HVB’s financial reporting is conducted by the Accounting & Regulatory Reporting (CFF) area. This area has
functional responsibility for the accounting systems employed by HVB. At the same time, the CFF area is
responsible for fundamental accounting issues concerning IFRS and HGB, preparing the consolidated financial
statements and is also in charge of financial reporting in the annual reports of HVB and HVB Group. In addition,
the administration of shareholdings for financial reporting purposes and the regulatory reporting for HVB Group to
the banking supervisory authorities are positioned in this area.

The tax department (CFT/Tax) monitors compliance with tax laws on the one hand and on the other hand, advises
the Executive Board, the business lines and the competence lines on tax-related concerns of HVB, including its
foreign branches.

Planning (CCP) is tasked with central business management and cost controlling at HVB Group. CCP has process
responsibility for the preparation of income budgets and income projections as well as the preparation and
validation of the internal segment report in accordance with IFRS. In addition, CCP is responsible for the
management of shareholdings, the management of capital and capital allocation as well as the risk-return
methodology. Moreover, the business area-related controlling areas for all the segments excluding the Corporate
Center are assigned to CCP. The reconciliation of the result for Client Risk Management is carried out between
CCP and Accounting. The reconciliation of the result for Treasury is carried out between Accounting and Finance.

In addition, the Data & Intelligence area, which is positioned outside the Finance Organisation, is responsible for
data and information governance in coordination with Group Data & Intelligence. In addition, significant parts of the
data production for the Finance area are amalgamated in Data & Intelligence to achieve a continual improvement
in data quality. This area also has responsibility for the implementation of various IT projects relating to financial
reporting.

Controls in the ICS for risk minimisation

Based on the requirements under Law 262 and the legal requirements of the German Commercial Code, a
number of financial reporting processes complete with the risks and controls that these include are documented in
the course of implementing the ICS at HVB Group. To reduce the risk of misrepresentation in financial reporting,
preventive and investigative controls are carried out that are documented in process descriptions. Compliance with
the separation of functions and with approval authority regulations is ensured when defining controls. Controls
comprise both manually operated system-based controls and purely manual controls. Alongside Finance-internal
controls, there are also checking and control steps in upstream processes.
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The focus of risk and control analysis is on identifying and evaluating the risks and controls relevant to financial
reporting. Identified risk potential is to be sufficiently reduced through defined control steps. In periodic
representative spot checks, those responsible for the controls document the implementation of these controls and
provide adequate records. If no controls are implemented or if controls are identified that do not sufficiently reduce
risk, or there is insufficient documentation of the controls, measures are initiated to eliminate the identified
deficiencies. The timely implementation and documentation of these measures are reviewed on a quarterly basis.

In a half-yearly certification process, the management of the areas in charge of processes confirms to the CFO of
HVB Group and the CFO to UniCredit S.p.A. that controls to ensure correct reporting have been carried out.

Furthermore, an annual analysis is carried out on the basis of company level controls. This is a list of questions
based on the international COSO framework, the answers to which are used to check the existence of
comprehensive control measures in HVB Group that are suitable for reducing the risk of incorrect external
presentation or incorrect actions, not only with regard to financial reporting.

The controls cover the aspects of the ICS described below:

Group posting and accounting rules defined in the UniCredit Group Accounting Manual (GAM), which is valid for
the Group as a whole, serve to ensure consistent financial reporting about the Group’s business activities. In
addition, there are general accounting rules set out in the Bank-wide Operating Guidelines, the application of
which is mandatory for all process participants.

HVB uses SAP AG’s standard SAP Balance Analyzer and Business Warehouse software to prepare its annual
financial statements. The SAP Balance Analyzer concept is based on the mainly automated uploading of individual
transaction data from the upstream systems relevant to financial reporting (sub-ledger). The items provided by the
upstream systems are reconciled and an automatic comparison of the totals with the general ledger account
balances is carried out, which serves as proof of the completeness of balance sheet items. Accounting collates the
data relevant to the financial statements. At the same time, it also corrects errors and carries out manual entries of
one-off transactions and closing entries. Adjustments and closing entries are carried out by authorised persons in
accordance with the dual control principle. Furthermore, deviation analyses are conducted at item level to
minimise the risk of error and incomplete data.
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The ICS for securities, derivatives and other trading-related transactions also comprises the following components:

— The allocation of transactions to holding categories compliant with IFRS and HGB is primarily governed by the
orientation of the operating units. The holding category for each (trading) book and the trading strategy pursued
are determined individually. Accounting is involved as an authorising body to ensure compliance with individual
requirements for classification according to the respective accounting standard.

— Requirements for accounting entries based on the respective holding category — initiated by transactions — are
defined in the accounting systems.

— The income calculated for financial reporting purposes is reconciled on a monthly basis by comparing it with the
result of the economic income statement that serves as the basis for the daily information provided to the
Executive Board. Following this, the results are analysed and comments made on the content of the deviation
analysis.

— Risk Controlling, which reports to the CRO, performs several tasks in connection with ensuring measurement
and other information relevant to the financial statements (for example: level allocation) of the financial
instruments mentioned above. Firstly, Risk Controlling checks transactions to ensure their compliance with
market pricing. Secondly, Risk Controlling determines and checks the measurement of financial instruments in
front office systems. Depending on market parameters and asset classes, market data are supplied by both the
Trading area and external sources such as Bloomberg, Reuters, MarktIT and others. Measurement adjustments
and measurements based on estimates are agreed between the CRO and Finance areas.

— In line with the separation of functions, the back office handles the processing of HVB trades. External service
providers have been engaged to process securities transactions in Germany and for the Milan branch. This
ensures that trades are processed independently of the Trading area.

A cross-area new product process is in place for launching new products, which is described in the Operating
Guidelines. The products relevant for a new product process are addressed in this. The process involves all the
areas concerned as these must give their approval or have veto rights and are authorised to enforce adjustments
and restrictions and even discontinue the new product process.

The consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS are based on the standalone financial
statements of HVB, the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements and special purpose entities
on the basis of local accounting rules. These financial statements are adjusted specifically for HVB Group in line
with the group-wide UniCredit accounting principles and then reconciled with uniform corporate group standards
by the reporting companies and at the same time transformed to comply with the corporate group’s chart of
accounts. The figures for the consolidated financial statements and the subsequent consolidated entries are
collected and reported using the TAGETIK CPM consolidation system marketed by Tagetik Software S.r.I. This is
used across the entire corporate group and networked across all Group companies. After the figures have been
entered in or transferred to this system by the Group companies, the system is closed for further entries in line with
the phases of the consolidation process. These data may only be changed in exceptional circumstances, as
agreed with the subsidiary concerned. The consolidation process includes system-based validation checks at a
wide range of levels to reduce the risk of error. In addition, validation checks are carried out on a regular basis.
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The figures presented in the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated income statement are validated by
analysing deviations from historical comparative figures and budget figures. This validation also takes place over
the entire course of the reporting year as part of the ongoing process of preparing the monthly and quarterly
financial statements. In addition, the data are also verified by analysing the segment report.

With regard to the presentation and disclosure of financial reporting-related data in financial reports, controls have
been implemented to ensure compliance with disclosure duties. This is carried out through the use of checklists
and through the review and approval of the data by management personnel within the Finance organisation.

UniCredit S.p.A. carries out the back-up and archiving of data from financial reporting application systems under
the responsibility of the CFO in accordance with Section 257 HGB in conjunction with Sections 238 and 239 HGB
and in accordance with German Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) under the supervision of the
Retained Organisation and the respective banking expert responsible. Controls between the upstream systems
(e.g. EuroSIG) and the general ledger have been outsourced to UniCredit S.p.A. via additional service level
agreements (SLAs) for first level controls. Another technical review takes place in the Data & Intelligence and
Accounting areas as a second level control.

The required protection against unauthorised access and compliance with the separation of functions when using
the Bank’s financial reporting application systems are ensured in particular by requesting and periodically
monitoring individual rights in the authorisation management systems. For example, special approval is provided
for SAP rights across the board by the functional units responsible for the application. Individual rights are limited
to a maximum period of one year.

Furthermore, contingency plans are in place to ensure the availability of human and technical resources to handle
the processes involved in financial reporting. These contingency plans are updated and refined regularly and on
an ad hoc basis.

Monitoring the effectiveness of the ICS

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit area is a process-neutral instrument of the Executive Board as a whole, to which it reports
directly. According to its internal regulations, the Executive Board bears overall responsibility for setting up the
Internal Audit area and ensuring that it functions properly. In the reporting year, operational responsibility for the
audit function was assigned to the Spokesman/Spokeswoman of the Executive Board (CEQ).

The Internal Audit area is generally responsible for the risk-oriented, process-independent auditing and
assessment of all activities and processes, regardless of whether they are outsourced or not. Where necessary,
the outsourced activities are audited by the internal audit function of the service provider.

For this purpose, the Internal Audit area carries out a risk-based selection of individual operating and business
processes in order to set scheduling priorities for audits. The Minimum Requirements for Risk Management
(MaRisk) stipulate that all operating and business processes must be audited at least once every three years. In
the case of activities and processes deemed to be of lower priority in terms of risk, it is permissible to deviate from
the three-year cycle. Operating and business processes subject to especially high levels of risk are audited at least
once a year. If the need arises or it is instructed to do so, the Internal Audit area may also carry out tasks at
subsidiaries.
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The Bank’s Internal Audit area must audit and assess the following aspects in particular:

— functionality, effectiveness, economic efficiency and adequacy of the internal control system

— applications, functionality, effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and risk control systems,
reporting, information systems, and finance and accounting

— compliance with legal and regulatory standards as well as other regulations

— adherence to internal operational guidelines, ordinances and regulations

— correctness of operational and business processes

— regulations and measures to protect assets

While audit reports are submitted to audited units and the managing directors responsible for these, the Executive
Board as a whole receives quarterly reports and an annual report which include an overview of audit findings as
well as significant deficiencies, major deficiencies, severe deficiencies and particularly severe deficiencies as
defined in the MaRisk rules, the measures taken and their current status.

The management of the Internal Audit area informs the Audit Committee and the Risk Committee of the
Supervisory Board on a quarterly basis at the meetings of these committees on the main findings of the audits
carried out by the Internal Audit area.

Supervisory Board

It is the task of the Supervisory Board to advise the Executive Board on the management of the Bank and monitor
it as it conducts its business. Particularly with respect to the monitoring of the financial reporting process and the
effectiveness of the ICS, the Supervisory Board receives support from the Audit Committee pursuant to

Section 24 (2) s.2 of the German Act on the Co-determination of Employees in Cross-border Mergers (Gesetz
Uber die Mitbestimmung der Arbeitnehmer bei einer grenziiberschreitenden Verschmelzung — MgVG) in
conjunction with Section 107 (3) of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz — AktG) and Section 25d (9)
Nos. 1 and 2 of the German Banking Act (Kreditwesengesetz — KWG) in conjunction with Article 9 (2) of HVB’s
Articles of Association. In this context, the Audit Committee also addresses the ICS in connection with the financial
reporting process. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board — and, in a preparatory role, the Audit Committee — is itself
integrated into the financial reporting processes through its monitoring of the financial reporting by reviewing and
approving the annual and consolidated financial statements, the Combined Management Report as well as the
proposal for the appropriation of profit. In addition, the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board discuss the
interim financial information with the Executive Board as such information becomes available throughout the year.

Refinement of the ICS

When changes are made to legal provisions and regulations for financial reporting, they must be assessed to
determine what consequences, if any, they have for financial reporting processes. In the case of amendments or
new regulations that would have an impact on accounting processes, a corresponding project is set up to cover
measures such as IT adaptations, working procedures and accounting entry instructions and the effects on
financial reporting across all departments and areas.

In the course of the update of the ICS in relation to the financial reporting process, the documented processes are
subject to half-yearly reviews and adjustments, where necessary, by the persons responsible for the process and
controls.
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Consolidated Income Statement

INCOME/EXPENSE (€ millions) NOTE 1/1-31/12/2023  1/1-31/12/2022
Interest income 8,663 3,897
of which calculaltgd qsing the effective interest method 7203 3022

(based on classification according to IFRS 9) ’ ’

Negative interest on financial assets 4) (187)
Interest expense (5,925) (1,455)
Negative interest on financial liabilities 5 371
Net interest 36 2,739 2,626
Dividends and other income from equity investments 37 30 31
Net fees and commissions 38 1,165 1,120
Net trading income 39 1,564 932
Net gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value 40 (117) 149
Net gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial instruments measured at cost 4 (17) 29
Net other expenses/income 42 (255) (138)
Payroll costs (1,334) (1,415)
Other administrative expenses (1,045) (1,087)
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses on intangible and tangible assets (150) (109)
Operating costs 43 (2,529) (2,611)
Net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments 44 (167) (299)
Provisions for risks and charges 45 32 11
Restructuring costs 46 (309) (80)
Net gains/(losses) on remeasurement of consolidated companies 47 3 (2)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 2,139 1,768
Income tax for the period 48 (404) (467)
PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX (CONSOLIDATED PROFIT/(LOSS)) 1,735 1,301
attributable to the shareholder of UniCredit Bank GmbH 1,736 1,301
attributable to minorities 1) —
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Consolidated Statement of Total Comprehensive Income

€ millions 11-31/12/2023  1/1-31/12/2022
Profit/(loss) after tax recognised in the income statement (consolidated profit/(loss)) 1,735 1,301
Income and expenses recognised in other comprehensive income
Income and expenses not to be reclassified to the income statement in future periods
Actuarial profit/(loss) on defined benefit plans (pension commitments) (168) 951
Allocation to/withdrawal from the revaluation surplus for owner-occupied property (IAS 16) (215) 42
Change in_ the fair value of financial liabilities at FVTPL attributable to changes in the default risk 4 27
(own credit spread reserve)
Other changes 1) 3
Taxes on income and expenses not to be reclassified to the income statement in future periods 139 (32)
Income and expenses to be reclassified to the income statement in future periods
Changes from foreign currency translation 4) 7
Changes in the measurement of financial instruments (hedge reserve) 2 (19)
Unrealised gains/(losses) 2 (15)
Gains/(losses) reclassified to the income statement — 4)
Changes in the measurement of financial instruments at FVTOCI (FVTOCI reserve) (29) (30)
Unrealised gains/(losses) (28) (13)
Gains/(losses) reclassified to the income statement 1) (17)
Other changes 11) 1)
Taxes on income and expenses to be reclassified to the income statement in future periods 12 14
Total income and expenses recognised in equity through other comprehensive income (271) 962
Total comprehensive income 1,464 2,263
of which:
attributable to the shareholder of UniCredit Bank GmbH 1,464 2,263

attributable to minorities
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

ASSETS (€ millions) NOTE 31/12/2023 31/12/2022
Cash and cash balances 49 23,293 36,833
Financial assets held for trading 50 68,611 82,258
Financial assets at FVTPL 51 3,215 5,150
Financial assets at FVTOCI 52 9,252 9,837
Loans and receivables with banks (at cost) 53 19,566 23,339
Loans and receivables with customers (at cost) 54 154,477 154,875
Hedging derivatives 56 409 636
Hedge adjustment of hedged items in the portfolio fair value hedge — 6
Investments in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method 57 17 13
Property, plant and equipment 58 2,050 2,369
Investment properties 59 254 351
Intangible assets 60 6 11
Tax assets 893 997
Current tax assets 220 152
Deferred tax assets 673 845
Non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale 61 67 13
Other assets 62 1,182 1,318
TOTAL ASSETS 283,292 318,006

LIABILITIES (€ millions) NOTE 31/12/2023 31/12/2022
Deposits from banks 64 35,673 51,324
Deposits from customers 65 139,557 147,422
Debt securities in issue 66 34,274 31,140
Financial liabilities held for trading 67 48,537 64,304
Financial liabilities at FVTPL 68 4,660 4,818
Hedging derivatives 69 103 200
Hedge adjustment of hedged items in the portfolio fair value hedge 70 (3,763) (5,474)
Tax liabilities 1,178 1,382
Current tax liabilities 1,086 995
Deferred tax liabilities 92 387
Liabilities of disposal groups held for sale 71 13 —
Other liabilities 72 1,470 1,370
Provisions 73 1,650 1,781
Shareholders' equity 74 19,940 19,739
Shareholders' equity attributable to the shareholder of UniCredit Bank GmbH 18,250 18,048
Subscribed capital (share capital) 2,407 2,407

Additional paid-in capital 9,791 9,791
Other reserves 4,319 4,652

Currency reserves 18 23

Changes in valuation of financial instruments (10) 15

Hedge reserve 2) 4

FVTOCI reserve 8) 11

Profit available for distribution 1,725 1,160

Additional equity instruments 1,700 1,700
Minority interests (10) 9)
TOTAL LIABILITIES 283,292 318,006
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In the 2023 financial year, the profit available for distribution disclosed in the annual financial statements of HVB,
which forms the basis for the appropriation of profit, amounts to €1,725 million. This consists of the net income for
the year of €2,133 million generated in the reporting year less the amount of €408 million transferred to other
retained earnings. We will propose to the Shareholders’ Meeting that the profit available for distribution of

€1,725 million be paid to UniCredit S.p.A. (UniCredit), Milan, Italy. This represents a profit distribution of around
€2.15 per share after around €1.45 per share for the 2022 financial year. The profit available for distribution of
€1,160 million reported in the previous year was distributed to UniCredit S.p.A. on 30 March 2023 in accordance
with the resolution adopted by the Annual General Meeting on 27 March 2023.
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OTHER RESERVES
OF WHICH
PENSIONS
OF WHICH AND
REVALUATION SIMILAR
SUBSCRIBED ADDITIONAL TOTAL OF WHICH RESERVE OBLIG-

CAPITAL PAID-IN OTHER OWN CREDIT FOR OWN ATIONS CURRENCY
€ millions (SHARE CAPITAL) CAPITAL RESERVES SPREAD PROPERTIES (IAS 19) RESERVE
Shareholders’ equity as at 1/1/2023 2,407 9,791 4,652 (37) 957 (1,007) 23

Consolidated profit/(loss) recognised in the _ _ _ _ _ _ _
consolidated income statement
Total income and expenses recognised in equity _ _
through other comprehensive income® (241) 3 (128) (115) )
Unrealised gains/(losses) due to changes in _ _ (125) 3 (128) o o
measurement
Gains/(losses) reclassified to the income _ _ _ _ _ _ _
statement
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans — — (115) — — (115) —
Changes from foreign currency translation — — — — — — (5)
Other changes — — (1) — — — —
Total other changes in equity — — (92) — 7) 3) —
Capital increase — — — — — — _
Reclassification from equity reserves to retained _ — o o ) 3) o
earnings
Dividend payouts — — — — — — —
Payouts on additional equity instruments — — (99) — — — —
Transfers to/withdrawals from consolidated profit _ _
. A 11 — — — —
available for distribution
Changes in group of consolidated companies — — 2) — — — —
Capital decreases — — — — — — —
Other changes — — (2) — — — —
Shareholders’ equity as at 31/12/2023 2,407 9,791 4,319 (34) 822 (1,125) 18
Shareholders’ equity as at 1/1/2022 2,407 9,791 3,589 (55) 945 (1,949) 16
Consolidated profit/(loss) recognised in the _ _ _ _ _ _ _
consolidated income statement
Total income and expenses ret_:ognlsed in equity _ _ 291 18 22 949 7
through other comprehensive income3
Unrealised gains/(losses) due to changes in _ _ 40 18 22 _ _
measurement
Gains/(losses) reclassified to the income _ _ _ _ _ _ _
statement
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans — — 949 — — 949 —
Changes from foreign currency translation — — — — — — 7
Other changes — — 2 — — — _
Total other changes in equity — — 72 — (10) 7 —
Capital increase — — — — — — —
Reclassification from equity reserves to retained _ _ _ _ (10) _ _
earnings
Dividend payouts — — — — — — —
Payouts on additional equity instruments — — (68) — — — —
Transfers to/withdrawals from consolidated profit _ _
p ictrib it 141 — — — —
available for distribution
Changes in group of consolidated companies — — (1) — — (7) —
Capital decreases — — — — — — —
Other changes — — — — — — —
Shareholders’ equity as at 31/12/2022 2,407 9,791 4,652 (37) 957 (1,007) 23

1 The Shareholders’ Meeting of 27 March 2023 resolved to distribute the 2022 profit available for distribution to our sole shareholder UniCredit S.p.A. (UniCredit),
Milan, Italy.
The Shareholders’ Meeting of 5 May 2022 resolved to distribute the 2021 profit available for distribution to our sole shareholder UniCredit S.p.A. (UniCredit), Milan,
Italy.

2 Attributable to the shareholder UniCredit Bank GmbH.

3 Recognised through the consolidated statement of total comprehensive income.

4 Instruments are held entirely by UniCredit S.p.A.
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CHANGE IN MEASUREMENT OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

TOTAL
SHAREHOLDERS' ADDI-
PROFIT EQUITY TIONAL TOTAL
AVAILABLE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHARE-
HEDGE FVTOCI FOR DISTRI- THE SHARE- INSTRU MINORITY HOLDERS'
€ millions RESERVE RESERVE BUTION' HOLDER OF HVB? MENTS* INTERESTS EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity as at 1/1/2023 4 1 1,160 18,048 1,700 9) 19,739
Consollldated .profltl(loss) recognised in the _ _ 1,736 1,736 _ ) 1,735
consolidated income statement
Total income and expenses recognised in equity _ _ _
through other comprehensive income® 6 (19) @n) @)
Unrealised gains/(losses) due to changes in 1 (19) o (143) o o (143)
measurement
Gains/(losses) reclassified to the income _ _ _ _ _ _ _
statement
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans — — — (115) — — (115)
Changes from foreign currency translation — — — (5) — — (5)
Other changes (7) — — (8) — — (8)
Total other changes in equity — — (1,171) (1,263) — — (1,263)
Capital increase — — — — — — —
Reclassification from equity reserves to retained _ _ o o o o o
earnings
Dividend payouts — — (1,160) (1,160) — — (1,160)
Payouts on additional equity instruments — — — (99) — — (99)
Transfers to/withdrawals from consolidated profit _ _ A1) _ _ _ _
available for distribution
Changes in group of consolidated companies — — — (2) — — (2)
Capital decreases — — — — — — —
Other changes — — — ) — _ )
Shareholders’ equity as at 31/12/2023 (2) (8) 1,725 18,250 1,700 (10) 19,940
Shareholders’ equity as at 1/1/2022 19 32 245 16,099 1,700 9) 17,790
Consolidated profit/(loss) recognised in the
consolidated income statement — — 1,301 1,301 — — 1,301
Total income and expenses recognised in equity _ _ _
through other comprehensive income3 (15) 1) 962 962
Unrealised gains/(losses) due to changes in (12) 9) _ 19 _ _ 19
measurement
Gains/(losses) reclassified to the income 3) (12) o (15) o o (15)
statement
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans — — — 949 — — 949
Changes from foreign currency translation — — — 7 — — 7
Other changes — — — 2 — — 2
Total other changes in equity — — (386) (314) — — (314)
Capital increase — — — — — — —
Reclassification from equity reserves to retained _ _ o o o - o
earnings
Dividend payouts — — (245) (245) — — (245)
Payouts on additional equity instruments — — — (68) — — (68)
Transfers to/withdrawals from consolidated profit _ _ (141) _ _ _ _
available for distribution
Changes in group of consolidated companies — — — (1) — — 1)
Capital decreases — — — — — — —
Other changes — — — — — — —
Shareholders’ equity as at 31/12/2022 4 1 1,160 18,048 1,700 9) 19,739
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (abridged version)

€ millions 2023 2022

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT/(LOSS) 1,735 1,301
Write—d_oyvns, provisions for losses on, and yvrite—ups_ of, loans and receivables and additions 208 356
to provisions for losses on guarantees and indemnities

Write-downs and depreciation less write-ups on non-current assets 299 108
Change in other non-cash positions (913) (5,740)
Gains/(losses) on the disposal of non-current assets 3) (12)
Other adjustments (net interest and dividend income from the income statement, taxes on income paid) (2,788) (2,899)
Subtotal (1,462) (6,886)
Change in assets and liabilities from operating activities after correction for non-cash components

Increase in assets/decrease in liabilities (-)

Decrease in assets/increase in liabilities (+)

Financial assets held for trading 499 17,550
Financial assets at FVTPL 1,935 2,601
Financial assets at FVTOCI 585 2,169
Loans and receivables with banks (at cost) 3,478 1,267
Loans and receivables with customers (at cost) 182 (5,872)
Other assets from operating activities (325) 292
Deposits from banks (15,724) (10,762)
Deposits from customers (7,914) 12,684
Debt securities in issue 3,098 (1,035)
Other liabilities from operating activities 190 (5,563)
Taxes on income (311) (94)
Interest received 8,684 4,182
Interest paid (5,540) (1,501)
Dividends received 251 352
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (12,374) 9,384
Proceeds from the sale of investments 23 30
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 162 105
Payments for the acquisition of investments 4) 1)
Payments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment (153) (75)
Effects of the change in the group of companies included in consolidation 63 —
Effect of the disposal of discontinued operations — —
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 91 59
Change in additional paid-in capital — —
Dividend payments (1,160) (245)
Issue of subordinated liabilities and hybrid capital — —
Payouts on additional equity instruments (after tax) (99) (68)
Repayment/buy-back of subordinated liabilities and hybrid capital — —
Changes in cash from other change in equity 2 11
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,257) (302)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PREVIOUS PERIOD 36,833 27,692
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (12,374) 9,384
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 91 59
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,257) (302)
Effects of exchange rate changes — —
Less non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale — —
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 23,293 36,833
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Legal Basis

With effect from 15 December 2023, UniCredit Bank AG was transformed into UniCredit Bank GmbH (HVB) by
way of a change of legal form pursuant to Section 190ff of the German Transformation Act (Umwandlungsgesetz —
UmwG).

Details of the company

Company name UniCredit Bank GmbH

Legal form of the company Gesellschaft mit beschraenkter Haftung (limited liability company)

Company headquarters Germany

Country in which the company is registered as a legal entity Germany

Address of the registered office and principal place of business Arabellastrasse 12, 81925 Munich, Germany

Commercial Register Number HRB 289472, B section of the Commercial Register,
Munich Local Court

Type of business activity of the company Conducting all kinds of banking transactions and the business of a

Pfandbrief Bank, providing financial services and performing all
other principal and ancillary activities a credit institution or
Pfandbrief bank may perform, both for its own account or for the
account of a third party

Name of the parent company UniCredit S.p.A.

Name of the ultimate parent company of the corporate group UniCredit S.p.A.

UniCredit Bank GmbH (HVB) is an affiliated company of UniCredit S.p.A., Milan, Italy in whose consolidated
financial statements HVB Group is included. These are published on the UniCredit corporate group’s website at
the following address: https://www.unicreditgroup.eu/en/investors/financial-reports.html.

Further information on the Bank’s products and services is provided in the Note “Components of segment
reporting by operating segment” in the notes to these consolidated financial statements.

As a capital market-oriented company, HVB prepares its financial statements in accordance with the requirements
of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in the version adopted by the EU. This provides a reliable
and internationally comparable basis for evaluating the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of
HVB Group. Our value-based management is similarly based on these accounting principles.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) pursuant to Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 19 July 2002 (IAS Regulation) together with further regulations regarding the adoption of certain IFRS
within the framework of the EU endorsement in conjunction with Section 315e (1) of the German Commercial
Code (Handelsgesetzbuch — HGB) as non-exempt consolidated financial statements compliant with Section 4 of
the IAS Regulation. Besides the standards defined as IFRS, the IFRS also comprise the existing International
Accounting Standards (IAS) together with the interpretations known as IFRIC and SIC of the IFRS Interpretations
Committee (IFRS IC) and its predecessor organisation. All the standards and interpretations subject to mandatory
application in the EU for the 2023 financial year have been applied. Section 315e HGB also contains national
regulations to be applied alongside the IFRS by capital market-oriented companies.

The present consolidated financial statements were prepared by HVB'’s Executive Board on 28 February 2024 and
will be submitted to the Supervisory Board on 8 March 2024 for approval.
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The Combined Management Report meets the requirements of Section 315 (1) and (4) HGB and incorporates a
risk report pursuant to Section 315 (2) No. 1 HGB.

UniCredit Bank GmbH (HVB) has exercised the option provided by Section 315 (5) HGB in conjunction with
Section 298 (2) HGB and has combined HVB’s Management Report with HVB Group’s Management’s Discussion
and Analysis.

Compliant with Section 264b HGB, the following partnerships are exempted from the obligation to prepare a
management report and publish their annual financial statements:

— Gemma Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. Vermietungs-KG

— H.F.S. Leasingfonds Deutschland 7 GmbH & Co. KG, Munich

— Omnia Grundstiicks-GmbH & Co. Objekt Haidenauplatz KG, Munich

— Othmarschen Park Hamburg GmbH & Co. Gewerbepark KG, Munich

— TERRENO Grundstiicksverwaltung GmbH & Co. Entwicklungs- und Finanzierungsvermittiungs KG, Munich
— Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt MOC KG, Munich

Compliant with Section 264 (3) HGB, the following corporations are exempted from the obligation to prepare a
management report and publish their annual financial statements:

— Argentaurus Immobilien-Vermietungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH, Munich
— HVB Immobilien AG, Munich

— HVB Projekt GmbH, Munich

— HVB Tecta GmbH, Munich

— HVB Verwa 4 GmbH, Munich

— HVB Verwa 4.4 GmbH, Munich

— NF Objekt FFM GmbH, Munich

— UniCredit Direct Services GmbH, Munich

— UniCredit Beteiligungs GmbH, Munich
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Accounting and Valuation

1 Reporting date/period

The amounts shown in the tables and texts below relate to the reporting date of 31 December for disclosures
regarding balance sheet items and totals and to the period from 1 January to 31 December of the respective year
for disclosures regarding the income statement.

2 Uniform Group accounting policies
The separate financial statements of the domestic and foreign subsidiaries are incorporated in the consolidated
financial statements of HVB Group in accordance with uniform accounting and valuation principles.

3 Consistency

In accordance with the IFRS framework together with IAS 1 and IAS 8, the accounting, valuation and disclosure
policies are applied consistently from one period to the next. Any changes in accounting policies are discussed,
where necessary, as follows: the first-time adoption of new or amended IFRS accounting rules is described in the
Note “First-time adoption of new IFRS accounting rules”. Where significant accounting and valuation errors from
earlier periods are corrected, the amounts involved are adjusted retroactively as a general rule. Where retroactive
adjustment is not possible in exceptional circumstances, the amounts involved are adjusted against retained
earnings. Where we effect changes in accounting and valuation policies, any resulting adjustments are similarly
recognised retrospectively.

Wealth Management Capital Holding GmbH, Munich

In the second half of 2023, HVB decided to end the sales process and to keep Wealth Management Capital
Holding GmbH with its subsidiaries. Compliant with the requirements set out in IFRS 5.28 for the sales process of
subsidiaries, reclassification is to be carried out retrospectively which means that the current and previous financial
years are presented as though Wealth Management Capital Holding GmbH with its subsidiaries had not been
classified as non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale as at year-end 2020. For the purposes of
recognition in the balance sheet, Wealth Management Capital Holding GmbH with its subsidiaries were
reclassified retrospectively. For reasons of materiality, only the effects of reclassification on the income statement
were not recognised retrospectively; instead these were recognised as a single amount in the 2023 income
statement. The effects are limited to the subsequent depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets to be taken totalling €3 million because compliant with IFRS 5.25 scheduled
depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets was to be suspended while
these were classified as non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale. For materiality reasons, the previous-
year figures (2022) in the cash flow statement have not been adjusted either.

This adjustment is explained below, otherwise the consolidated financial statements are presented after
retrospective adjustment and no further reference is made to this change.

Following the measurement rule of IFRS 5.27, the assets and liabilities of Wealth Management Capital Holding
GmbH with its subsidiaries are recognised on the basis of the carrying amounts at the time before these were
classified as non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale as at year-end 2020. For reasons of materiality,
the subsequent taking into account of the scheduled depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets and
intangible assets that was suspended from 1 January 2020 until 30 June 2023 has been waived; these were
recognised through profit or loss in the second half of 2023. As Wealth Management Capital Holding GmbH with
its subsidiaries is not a cash generating unit or a business area from HVB’s perspective, the measurement of the
assets and liabilities concerned is to be based on the principle of individual measurement.
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As only the balance sheet figures as at 31 December 2022 and as at 31 December 2023 are shown in these
consolidated financial statements, the retrospective adjustment of the balance sheet figures due to reclassification
only concerns the adjustment of figures as at 31 December 2022. It is no longer necessary to report the figures for
balance sheet dates prior to the date on which Wealth Management Capital Holding GmbH with its subsidiaries
were reported as non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale as at year-end 2020.

Consequently, the assets and liabilities of Wealth Management Capital Holding GmbH with its subsidiaries as at
31 December 2022 are shown under the respective balance sheet item and not as non-current assets or disposal
groups held for sale or as liabilities of disposal groups held for sale.

CARRYING CARRYING

AMOUNT AMOUNT

RECOGNISED RECOGNISED

AS AT 31/12/2022 AS AT 31/12/2022

IN THE IN THE

CONSOLIDATED CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL ADJUSTMENT OF FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS PREVIOUS-YEAR STATEMENTS

€ millions 2022 FIGURES 2023

ASSETS

Financial assets at FVTPL 4,933 217 5,150

Loans and receivables with banks (at cost) 23,336 3 23,339

Loans and receivables with customers (at cost) 154,776 99 154,875

Property, plant and equipment 2,368 1 2,369

Investment properties 335 16 351

Intangible assets 6 5 11

Tax assets 992 5 997

Other assets 962 356 1,318
LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks 51,181 143 51,324

Deposits from customers 147,152 270 147,422

Tax liabilities 1,357 25 1,382

Other liabilities 1,231 139 1,370

Provisions 1,778 3 1,781

Additional equity instruments

The classification of the distribution for additional equity instruments was adjusted in the reporting year. These
distributions are now treated as a profit distribution as defined by IAS 12.57A. In view of the fact that these payouts
are tax deductible and posted as an interest expense pursuant to HGB, the tax effect on distributions for additional
equity instruments of €31 million is now recognised as a tax expense while the gross distribution of €99 million is
recognised in the statement of changes in equity as a payout on additional equity instruments and charged to
retained earnings. To date, the net distribution of €68 million was reported in the statement of changes in equity as
a payout on additional equity instruments. For reasons of materiality, we have not adjusted the previous year
figures. The effects in the previous year are the same as the effects in the reporting year as the additional equity
instruments have not changed year on year. In the event of a retrospective adjustment, the tax expense for 2022
would fall by €31 million to €436 million, profit after tax would increase accordingly by €31 million to €1,332 million
and total comprehensive income would increase by €31 million to €2,294 million. As payouts on additional equity
instruments would likewise increase by €31 million to €99 million, shareholders’ equity remains unchanged as at
31 December 2022.
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Commodities
For the first time in the reporting year, UniCredit Bank GmbH recognised holdings of commodities under other
assets which are measured at fair value less selling costs pursuant to IAS 2.3 (b).

Estimates, assumptions and discretionary decisions

Changes in estimates are recognised in profit or loss in the period affected by the change in the estimation
method. Provided the change in the estimation method does not affect the consolidated income statement, the
carrying amount of the asset, liability or equity item concerned is adjusted.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the assumption that the Bank will continue as a going
concern. Accounting and valuation in accordance with IFRS contains values that have been determined
permissibly using estimates and assumptions. The estimates and assumptions used are based on past experience
and other factors such as planning, expectations and forecasts of future events that appear reasonable under the
present circumstances. This mainly affects the determination of the fair value of certain financial assets and
liabilities, impairments in the lending business, deferred taxes, and the accounting and valuation of provisions. The
actual values may differ from the assumptions and estimates made.

The following matters in particular are affected by estimates, assumptions and discretionary decisions:

Determination of impairments (IFRS 9):

Scenarios of the expected cash flows of debt instruments serve as a basis for determining the expected credit
defaults. This means that, to determine the impairments, assumptions and forecasts regarding probabilities of
default must be made for the payments still to be received from the borrower and/or proceeds from the realisation
of the collateral and the probability of occurrence of the respective scenario must be estimated. This is carried out
collectively for debt instruments at Stage 1 and Stage 2 and for insignificant individual cases at Stage 3 while the
assumptions and estimates are made individually for significant individual cases at Stage 3. In the financial year,
further uncertainty in making estimates arose in particular from macroeconomic scenarios and post model
adjustments on account of the current economic situation.

Determination of fair value:

HVB Group employs internal valuation models to determine the fair value of financial instruments for which no
price is available on an active market. The application of these internal valuation models requires, among other
things, assumptions and forecasts, the scope of which depends on the complexity of the financial instruments and
the valuation parameters partly derived from market data.

Determining the fair value of real estate as non-financial assets also involves a certain degree of discretionary
decision-making. As owner-occupied land and buildings (property, plant and equipment) and investment properties
are unique, there is generally no observable market data available for such properties. As a result, the value of this
real estate is periodically assessed by independent external assessors, using recognised appraisal methods. For
example, when using the income approach to determine the fair value of real estate, significant cash flows such as
the expected rental income, management costs or other significant parameters such as the expected useful life or
the expected vacancy rate are estimated and can subsequently lead to uncertainties in making estimates.
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Provisions:

Provisions are recognised for present or future obligations and cover the expenses required to fulfil such
obligations. In the process, it is necessary to estimate the amount of this expenses or these costs and also the
time when the obligations are expected to be fulfilled. This involves making assumptions about the actual amount
of the costs incurred and, in the case of longer-term provisions, also determining possible cost increases up until
the date of fulfilment. In the case of provisions for contingent losses (e.g. for provisions for rental guarantees), it is
necessary to estimate both the potential inflows and the potential outflows in order to determine the imminent loss
as a difference. For details on the assumptions and estimates made regarding pension provisions, we refer to the
Note “Provisions”.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities:

Apart from a few exceptions defined in the standard, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all
temporary differences between the values recognised in accordance with IFRS and the values recognised for tax-
reporting purposes (liability method). Accounting and valuation are performed in accordance with IAS 12 on the
basis of local tax regulations that are expected to apply to the period when an asset is realised or a liability is
settled. The regulations and applicable local tax rates are taken as a basis that are valid or have already been
enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets are not recognised to the extent that it seems unlikely that
sufficient taxable profit will be available in future periods. To determine whether sufficient taxable profit will be
available in relation to the same tax authority and the same taxable entity in the period in which the deductible
temporary difference is reversed, the entire term of the deductible temporary differences is used as the basis for
the planning horizon. The assumptions made in this connection are subject to uncertainty, as they present a
forecast of future developments.

Furthermore, deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses carried forward and unused tax credits to
the extent that their impairment is justified. This is done on the basis of a five-year plan for HVB Group, which is
subject to segment-specific and macroeconomic assumptions and takes account of local tax regulations.

Share-based payments:

Assumptions must also be made to determine the cost of share-based payment programmes. The costs of the
instruments to be transferred are amortised over the vesting period or the beneficiaries’ claims are forfeited if they
leave UniCredit first. This makes it necessary to forecast the proportion of employees who will leave UniCredit
during the vesting period. At the same time, the shares granted must be measured at fair value at the grant date.
The comments made above regarding the determination of fair value are applicable analogously.

Determination of the useful life of property, plant and equipment:

Depreciable items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives. Since the useful life is
not independent of the usage of the actual asset in question, it must be estimated in the light of the circumstances
in each case by making suitable assumptions.

The accounting, valuation and disclosure principles applied in the 2023 financial year are the same as those
applied in the consolidated financial statements for 2022, with the exception of the adjustments described in this
note and the new IFRS rules to be applied as described in the Note “First-time adoption of new IFRS accounting
rules”.
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4 First-time adoption of new IFRS accounting rules

New standards and interpretations

The following new standards and interpretations issued by the IASB were subject to mandatory adoption in the EU

for the first time in the 2023 financial year.

— IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” (issued on 18 May 2017 / adopted into European law on 19 November 2021)
including amendments to IFRS 17 (issued on 25 June 2020 / adopted into European law on 19 November 2021)
(amended version of IFRS 17).

Amendments to existing standards and interpretations

The amendments to the following standards and interpretations revised by the IASB are subject to mandatory

adoption in the EU for the first time in the 2023 financial year:

— Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and to the IFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure
of Accounting Policies (issued on 12 February 2021 / adopted into European law on 2 March 2022).

— Amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” — Definition of
Accounting Estimates (issued on 12 February 2021 / adopted into European law on 2 March 2022).

— Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” — Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction (issued on 7 May 2021 / adopted into European law on 11 August 2022).

— Amendments to IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” — Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9: Comparative
Information (issued on 9 December 2021 / adopted into European law on 8 September 2022).

— Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” — International Tax Reform: Pillar 2 Model Rules (issued on
23 May 2023 / adopted into European law on 8 November 2023). The temporary exception from accounting for
deferred taxes is to be applied immediately after publication of the amendments or their adoption into European
law. The disclosure requirements apply to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Pillar Two — global minimum level of taxation

As of the 2024 financial year, the UniCredit corporate group and HVB will fall within the scope of the newly
designed Pillar Two regulation as they will, as a multinational group, account for a consolidated turnover of more
than €750 million. According to the current status regarding HVB, business units in twelve countries have been
identified which all should be considered as potential states participating in Pillar Two. Ultimate parent entity is
UniCredit S.p.A.

The Pillar Two regulation provides for an international framework of rules aimed at ensuring that the worldwide
profits of multinational groups are subject to tax at a rate not lower than 15% in every jurisdiction in which the
groups operate. The rules have been firstly designed by the Inclusive Framework of the OECD and then
implemented in the European Union through the EU Council Directive 2022/2523 of 14 December 2022. For most
of the EU countries, this Directive is expected to enter into force as of 2024. In Germany, the provisions of the
Directive have been transposed into German law through the German Minimum Taxation Directive Implementation
Act (Mindestbesteuerungsrichtlinie-Umsetzungsgesetz — MindStG) of 27 December 2023. Certain non-EU
Member States in which the UniCredit corporate group and HVB operate have announced that they will implement
the Pillar Two rules as of 2024 (e.g. United Kingdom) while other jurisdictions have not yet communicated if and
when they will implement such set of rules.
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In a nutshell, the Pillar Two rules provide that if in certain jurisdictions where the UniCredit corporate group or HVB
operates the effective tax rate (given by the ratio between adjusted accounting results and adjusted corporate
income taxes paid in that jurisdiction) falls below 15%, then the UniCredit corporate group will be required to pay
an additional tax (so-called top-up tax) to reach the 15% tax rate threshold.

The relevant set of rules also provides for a transition period in which the in-scope multinational groups may avoid
undergoing the complex effective tax rate calculation required by the new piece of legislation. In particular, the
Pillar Two legislation provides for a transitional safe harbour (“TSH”) that applies for the first three financial years
following the entry into force of the relevant regulation; the TSH relies on simplified calculations (mainly based on
data extracted from Country-by-Country Reporting under BEPS action 13) and three kinds of alternative tests.
Where at least one of the TSH tests is met for a jurisdiction where the UniCredit corporate group or HVB operates
the top-up tax due for such jurisdiction will be deemed to be zero.

A test is met for a jurisdiction where:

1. revenue and profit before tax are below, respectively, €10 million and €1 million (the de minimis test)
2. the ETR equals or exceeds an agreed rate (the ETR test), or
3. the profit before tax does not exceed an amount calculated as a percentage of tangible assets and payroll

expense (the routine profits test).

Even if for the financial year 2023 the Pillar Two rules regarding the countries where the group is present have not
entered into force yet and therefore it results in no impact on the tax position for the year 2023, the UniCredit
corporate group and HVB have performed an analysis of their potential exposure for Pillar Two top-up taxes. This
analysis is based on the most recent information available regarding the financial performance of the constituent
entities in the UniCredit corporate group and HVB, according to the 2022 Country by Country Reporting and 2022
financial statements data.

Based on the analysis performed, most of the jurisdictions should benefit from the TSH. Regarding HVB, only one
jurisdiction (Italy) might not benefit from the TSH. For Italy, the UniCredit corporate group has provisionally
calculated the potential top-up tax exposure with the result that no top-up- tax should be due.

The above analysis has to be considered as an estimate exposure as it was based on the 2022 data, and
differences in revenues, costs, local tax regimes etc. may affect the conclusions reached, the analysis performed
including the calculation is based on complex regulations that have only recently been enacted with limited
guidelines, and not all the relevant data required to perform the full Pillar Two calculation was available. The
UniCredit corporate group und HVB are currently preparing their processes for the future usage of simplification
regulations, examining potentially favourable option rights, observing the further legislation process and working
on further implementation needs (e.g. Tax Compliance etc.).

The UniCredit corporate group and HVB have determined that the global minimum top-up tax is an income tax
within the scope of IAS 12. The UniCredit corporate group/HVB has applied the exception regarding potential
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities related to Pillar Two Income taxes due to IAS 12.4A.

Implementation and effects of the amended accounting rules
HVB Group implemented the amended accounting rules. Unless the effects of this implementation are explicitly
explained below, they did not impact or have any material effects on our consolidated financial statements.
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5 Published IFRS that are not yet subject to mandatory adoption and were not early adopted

HVB Group has decided against the voluntary early adoption of the new or revised standards and interpretations
issued by the IASB, which are subject to mandatory adoption for the 2024 financial year or later. HVB Group will

adopt these standards and interpretations in the financial year in which the new rules in question become subject
to mandatory adoption for EU-based enterprises for the first time.

The EU has adopted the following into European law:

— Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” — Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (issued on 22 September 2022 /
adopted into European law on 20 November 2023). The rules are subject to mandatory adoption for the first time
for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

— Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current (issued on 23 January 2020), Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current: Deferral of Effective
Date (issued on 15 July 2020) and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (issued on 31 October 2022). The
rules are subject to mandatory adoption for the first time for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The EU has not yet adopted the following into European law:

— Amendments to IAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows” and IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” — Supplier
Finance Arrangements (issued on 25 May 2023). The rules are subject to mandatory adoption for the first time
for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

— Amendments to IAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates — Lack of Exchangeability (issued
on 15 August 2023). The rules are subject to mandatory adoption for the first time for financial years beginning
on or after 1 January 2025.

HVB Group does not expect these new or amended rules to be adopted in the future to have any significant effects
on the consolidated financial statements.

6 Companies included in consolidation
The group of companies included in consolidation by HVB Group encompasses 87 (previous year: 107) controlled
companies, of which 33 (previous year: 36) are classified as structured entities within the meaning of IFRS 12.

2023 2022

Total controlled companies 218 254
Consolidated companies 87 107

of which structured entities according to IFRS 12 33 36
Non-consolidated companies 131 147

Joint ventures — —
of which accounted for using the equity method — —
Associates 3 3
of which accounted for using the equity method 1 1

At the reporting date, we had a total of 133 (previous year: 149) controlled companies, associates and joint
ventures in HVB Group that were neither fully consolidated nor fully accounted for using the equity method as they
are not of material importance to the Group.
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The effects on the balance sheet of the contractual relationships between the Group companies and these non-
consolidated companies are included in the consolidated financial statements. The aggregate amounts of net
income for the year of these companies that have not been consolidated due to their minor importance make up
0.07% (previous year: 0.19%) of the consolidated profit of HVB Group, while such companies provide around
0.17% (previous year: 0.16%) of the consolidated assets. The aggregate amounts of net income for the year of
companies not accounted for using the equity method due to their minor importance (joint ventures and
associates) amounts to 0.01% (previous year: 0.11%) of the consolidated profit, their share in the Group capital is
0.0009% (previous year: 0.0002%). Our interests in these companies are carried under the item “Financial assets
at FVTPL” and loans extended under the item “Loans and receivables with customers (at cost)”.

Controlled companies
The group of companies included in consolidation has been defined taking into account materiality criteria. The
fully consolidated companies prepared their annual financial statements for the period ending 31 December 2023.

In accordance with IFRS 12, 33 (previous year: 36) fully consolidated controlled companies are classified as
structured entities. Please refer to the Note “Disclosures regarding structured entities” for more information on
structured entities.

There were significant restrictions on the ability of HVB Group to access assets of the controlled companies as

follows:

— Subsidiaries classified as credit institutions or financial services institutions for supervisory purposes are subject
to the provisions of the German Banking Act (Kreditwesengesetz — KWG), the CRR and MaRisk/ICAAP
regarding their capital base. The equity capital to be maintained under these provisions limits the ability of
HVB Group to adopt resolutions regarding dividend distributions.

— Fully consolidated structured entities are not generally included in the consolidated financial statements on
account of HVB Group’s position as a shareholder. Therefore, HVB Group has no ability to decide on dividend
distributions and is bound by the contractual arrangements (such as lending agreements or derivative contracts).

The non-controlling interests at 31 December 2023 have no material effect on the consolidated financial
statements of HVB Group either individually or in aggregate. At 31 December 2023, third parties hold non-
controlling interests in 38 (previous year: 41) fully consolidated companies. The non-controlling interests are
shown separately in the consolidated balance sheet and generally participate in the profits and losses of the
companies; their shareholders hold voting rights in the companies, but without breaking the controlling influence of
HVB Group.

The following companies were newly added to the group of companies included in consolidation at HVB Group in
2023:

— Elektra Purchase No. 79 DAC, Dublin
— Monnet 8-10 S. ar.l., Luxembourg
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The following companies left the group of companies included in consolidation of HVB Group in 2023 due to
merger, accretion, imminent or completed liquidation or cessation of control:

— Acis Immobilien- und Projektentwicklungs GmbH & Co. Stuttgart Kronprinzstrale KG, Grinwald
— Bayerische Wohnungsgesellschaft fir Handel und Industrie Gesellschaft mit beschrankter Haftung, Munich
— Elektra Purchase No. 57 DAC, Dublin

— Elektra Purchase No. 64 DAC, Dublin

— Elektra Purchase No. 911 DAC, Dublin

— Grundstucksgesellschaft Simon beschrankt haftende Kommanditgesellschaft, Munich

— HAWA Grundstticks GmbH & Co. OHG Immobilienverwaltung, Munich

— HVB Gesellschaft fir Gebaude mbH & Co KG, Munich

— Merkurhof Grundstiicksgesellschaft mit beschrankter Haftung, Munich

— Omnia Grundstiicks-GmbH & Co. Objekt Perlach KG, Munich

— Orestos Immobilien-Verwaltungs GmbH, Munich

— Portia Grundstiicks-Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt KG, Munich

— Salvatorplatz-Grundstiicksgesellschaft mbH & Co. OHG Saarland, Munich

— Salvatorplatz-Grundstiicksgesellschaft mbH & Co. OHG Verwaltungszentrum, Munich

— TIVOLI Grundstlicks-Aktiengesellschaft, Munich

— TRICASA Grundbesitzgesellschaft des birgerlichen Rechts Nr. 1, Munich

— TRICASA Grundbesitz Gesellschaft mbH & Co. 1. Vermietungs KG, Munich

— UniCredit Leasing Aviation GmbH, Hamburg

— Wealthcap Immobilien Deutschland 46 GmbH & Co. KG, Munich

— Wealthcap Objekt Dresden GmbH & Co. KG, Munich

— Wealthcap Objekt Trudering GmbH & Co. KG, Munich

The following company left the group of companies included in consolidation in 2023 for materiality reasons:
— Altus Alpha Plc, Dublin

On account of the deconsolidation of the companies listed above, HVB Group realised a deconsolidation result of
minus €2 million (previous-year period: minus €4 million) in the income statement under the item “Net gains/losses

on remeasurement of consolidated companies” in accordance with IFRS 10.25.

Associates

No financial statements at 31 December 2023 were available for the associate listed below accounted for using

the equity method when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. The following financial statements

were used for accounting using the equity method:

Comtrade Group B.V., Rotterdam 30 September 2023

There were no significant events at this company between the date when the above financial statements were

prepared and 31 December 2023 that could have an impact on the assets, liabilities, financial position, and profit

or loss.

The group of consolidated companies does not include any companies for which the proportionate consolidation

method is applied.

HypoVereinsbank - Annual Report 2023

121



Financial Statements (2) | Consolidated Financial Statements — Notes

ACCOU”ting and Valuation (ConTINUED)

7 Principles of consolidation

An enterprise (or economically separate entity) is fully consolidated when it is controlled by HVB Group. Control is
deemed to exist when the following three criteria defined in IFRS 10 are met: HVB Group must have power over
the relevant activities of the enterprise and be exposed to variable returns from it. In addition, HVB Group must be
able to use its power to influence the variable returns it obtains from the enterprise.

Control is independent of the type of financial relationship between parent company and subsidiary and does not
require any participation in the enterprise’s capital. Control may also be derived from contractual arrangements or
legal provisions.

To assess whether an enterprise is controlled by HVB Group, a detailed analysis must be carried out of the
business purpose, the relevant activities of the enterprise, the parties involved and the distribution of the variable
returns from the enterprise. The analysis includes an assessment of whether HVB Group is acting as the principal
and has delegated power over the enterprise to a third party (agent). This may be the case when the decision-
maker who has power over the enterprise does not pursue its own economic interests in respect of the enterprise
or these are of minor importance and the decision-maker merely exercises delegated decision-making powers on
behalf of HVB Group.

An enterprise is initially consolidated as soon as HVB Group gains control over the enterprise. During initial
consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the enterprise are included at their fair values at the effective date. The
uniform Group accounting and valuation policies are then applied. The expenses and income of the respective
company are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date of initial consolidation. Equity
interests in a consolidated company held by third parties are carried under minority interests, provided the criteria
for disclosure as shareholders’ equity are met. Otherwise, they are recognised as debt.

Consolidation is performed by offsetting the acquisition cost of a subsidiary against the Group’s share held in the
completely remeasured shareholders’ equity at the time of acquisition, provided the transactions involved are not
internal to UniCredit. This amount represents the difference between the assets and liabilities of the acquired
enterprise measured at the fair value at the time of initial consolidation. The difference between the higher
acquisition cost and the remeasured net balance of assets and liabilities is recognised as goodwill under intangible
assets in the balance sheet on a prorated basis if the enterprise acquired is a business. If in an exceptional case
the enterprise that is being consolidated for the first time is not a business and is a group of assets and liabilities
instead, these assets and liabilities are measured and recognised in line with the applicable IFRS following the
requirements of IFRS 3.2b. Any difference between the net carrying amounts calculated in this manner and the
acquisition cost is recognised as an expense. Goodwill on enterprises accounted for using the equity method is
carried under “Investments in associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method”. Compliant
with IAS 36, scheduled amortisation is not taken on goodwill. The goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units
(CGU) that are expected to benefit from the synergies arising from the business combination. At HVB Group,
these cash-generating units are the business areas. Where the commercial activities of an enterprise span more
than one business area, the goodwill is distributed in line with the expected contribution to results at the time of
acquisition. There is no goodwill to report in the reporting year or in the previous year.
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IFRS 3 is not applicable to combinations of businesses under common control (IFRS 3.2 (c)). IAS 8.10 requires an
appropriate accounting and valuation policy to be developed accordingly for such cases. Given that HVB Group is
part of UniCredit, the carrying amounts of the parent company are retained for company acquisitions within
UniCredit. Any difference between the purchase price paid and the net carrying amount of the enterprise acquired
is recognised in equity under reserves.

Compliant with IAS 28, investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method or the capital share
method and disclosed as such in the balance sheet. HVB is able to exercise significant influence over associates
without being able to control them. Significant influence is assumed when an enterprise holds more than 20% but
less than 50% of the voting rights in an investee. This assumption of association can be refuted where a qualitative
analysis demonstrates that significant influence over the financial and business policy decisions of the investee is
not possible. Investments in associates are recognised at cost upon initial inclusion in the consolidated financial
statements. For the purposes of subsequent measurement, the carrying amount increases or decreases in
accordance with HVB’s share in the profit or loss of the investee. This share of the investee’s profit or loss
attributable to HVB is measured on the basis of the fair values of the investee’s assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities when the shares were acquired. The accounting and valuation principles of HVB Group are applied for
subsequent measurement.

Business transactions between consolidated companies are offset. Any interim profits or losses arising from
intragroup transactions are eliminated.

8 Implementation of the European Single Electronic Format (ESEF)

HVB fulfils its obligation under Section 328 HGB to publish these consolidated financial statements in the single
electronic reporting format (ESEF) prescribed by law by publishing them in the German Federal Gazette
(Bundesanzeiger). The 2022 ESEF taxonomy was applied for both the reporting year and the previous year.

9 Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one company and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another company.

The classes required by IFRS 7.6 are defined as follows:

— Cash and cash balances

— Financial assets and liabilities held for trading
— Financial assets at FVTPL

— Financial assets at FVTOCI

— Loans and receivables with banks (at cost)

— Loans and receivables with customers (at cost)
— Hedging derivatives

— Other deposits from banks

— Other deposits from customers

— Other debt securities in issue

— Financial liabilities at FVTPL

— Financial guarantees and irrevocable credit commitments
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Finance lease receivables are no longer defined as a separate class in the reporting year. Instead these are
combined with the loans and receivables with customers (at cost) class. The respective business operations were
conducted primarily by the HVB subsidiary UniCredit Leasing GmbH with its subsidiaries. These already
discontinued conducting new business in August 2020 and have been handling the existing volume of business
since then. Against this backdrop, there has been a significant decline in the portfolio of finance lease receivables
with the result that it is no longer necessary to present these as a separate class for reasons of materiality. The
volume of finance lease receivables, which consists solely of loans and receivables with customers, is shown in
the Note “Loans and receivables with customers (at cost)” as a separate loan type.

With regard to the classes, the balance sheet disclosures and profit contributions of the financial instruments,
among other things, must be presented separately in accordance with IFRS 9 measurement categories. In the
present consolidated financial statements, we have included these in the explanatory notes to the balance sheet
and the income statement. The information required by IFRS 7 regarding risks in connection with financial
instruments is also provided in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and in part in the Risk Report
within the Combined Management Report. For information on credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk, please refer
to the subsection with the same name in the section “Risk types in detail” in the Risk Report. Compliant with

IFRS 7.36 (a), the maximum exposure to credit risk is the same as the carrying amount of the risk-bearing financial
instruments or, in the case of financial guarantees and credit commitments, the nominal amount disclosed in the
Note “Fair values of financial instruments compliant with IFRS 7” for the guarantee/amount of the credit
commitments not yet utilised.

IFRS 9 requires all financial instruments to be recognised in the balance sheet, classified in the given
measurement or portfolio categories and measured in line with this classification. In addition, debt instruments are
to be allocated to a business model.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised from the date on which the corporate group becomes a
contractual party to the financial instrument in question. HVB Group normally recognises customary market
purchases and sales of financial assets (known as regular way contracts) at the settlement date. Derivatives are
recognised at the trading date.

Financial assets are derecognised when either the contractual rights or obligations to pay have expired, for
example due to repayment, or all the risks and rewards have essentially been transferred to third parties. In
exceptional cases, a significant change in the contractual terms of receivables measured at cost also leads to
derecognition. HVB Group did not carry out any transactions in which all the risks and rewards were essentially
either transferred or retained. Transactions where the contractual rights to an asset are transferred to third parties
but the risks and rewards are essentially retained do not result in the derecognition of the assets.

A liability is derecognised if it has been settled or, in exceptional cases, if there has been a significant amendment
in the contractual terms of the liability.

The regulations set forth in IFRS 9 on reclassification were observed. No reclassifications were carried out.
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Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss category is subdivided into the following
subcategories:

— Financial assets and liabilities held for trading:
Financial assets and liabilities classified as held for trading at the time of initial recognition are financial
instruments acquired or incurred for the purpose of short-term profit-taking as a result of changes in market
prices or of realising a profit margin. This category also includes all derivatives (apart from hedging derivatives)
which qualify for hedge accounting. These are disclosed in the item “Financial assets held for trading” and
“Financial liabilities held for trading”.
In accordance with the provisions of IAS 32 (IAS 32.42 in conjunction with IAS 32.48), the positive and negative
fair values of OTC derivatives that offset each other at currency level were set off for OTC derivatives concluded
with the same central counterparty (CCP).

— Assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss with the exception of held-for-trading portfolios:
In accordance with the specifications, both shareholdings and assets that are neither allocated to the “Hold-to-
maturity” nor to the “Held-for-sale” business model are generally subject to measurement at fair value through
profit or loss. HVB Group did not exercise the option of measuring shareholdings at fair value without affecting
profit or loss. As all assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are also managed on a fair value basis,
any allocation of assets that do not meet cash flow criteria to the “Hold-to-maturity” business model is ruled out.
These are to be allocated to the “Other” business model and are consequently subject to mandatory
measurement at fair value through profit or loss.

— HVB Group only uses the fair value option for certain financial liabilities designated as “at fair value through profit
or loss” upon initial recognition. Financial instruments are designated on the basis of the fair value-based
management of the portfolios concerned.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are disclosed upon initial recognition at their fair
value without any transaction costs.

Consequently, held-for-trading portfolios, assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss as well as liabilities
allocated to the fair value option are measured at fair value. Changes in value are recognised in the income
statement.

Assets measured at fair value without affecting profit or loss

Certain securities holdings that are either held to maturity or can be sold have been allocated to the “Held-for-sale”
business model. As these securities also meet cash flow criteria, the conditions for measurement at fair value
without affecting profit or loss have been met. These holdings are reported under the balance sheet item named
“Financial assets at FVTOCI".
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Loans and receivables measured at cost

In the lending business, HVB Group focuses on customer care and customer relationships so the intention is
generally to hold extended loans to maturity. If, in exceptional cases, there is no intention to hold loan receivables
to maturity at the time of their addition, these are allocated to the "Other" business model. Provided the loans also
meet cash flow criteria, these are allocated to the “Hold-to-maturity” business model and measured at amortised
cost. In addition, securities holdings that meet cash flow criteria and are intended to be held to maturity are also
measured at amortised cost. Premiums and discounts are taken to the income statement under net interest over
the term of the underlying items. This is done using the effective interest method. These assets are disclosed upon
initial recognition at their fair value including any transaction costs.

As the intention is generally to hold to maturity, debt instruments allocated to the “Hold-to-maturity” business

model may be sold only in the following exceptional cases:

— sales occur infrequently or irregularly even if they are of significant value in this case,

— sales, if they occur frequently, are individually or in the aggregate of insignificant value,

— sales occur just before the final maturity date and the sales proceeds equal the outstanding contractual
payments for the most part or

— sales are made as a result of an increase in the credit default risk.

Depending on the allocation of the debtor, the loans and receivables measured at cost are reported under the
balance sheet item “Loans and receivables with banks (at cost)” or “Loans and receivables with customers (at
cost)”.

HVB Group has not designated any assets at fair value through profit or loss.

IBOR reform: Modification of financial instruments in the course of the IBOR transition

On account of the IBOR reform, changes may occur in the contractual cash flows of a financial instrument in the

following ways:

— Change from an existing interest rate benchmark to an alternative benchmark rate under a contractual
agreement or an already existing fallback clause in an agreement with spreads that can be agreed to offset a
basis difference between the interest rate benchmarks, or

— Adjustment in the method used to calculate an unchanged designated interest rate benchmark (e.g. EURIBOR)

These adjustments to agreements on contractual cash flows do not result in any significant modification of the
instrument which means that derecognition is not necessary. Instead, the changes in interest rate benchmarks in
the context of the IBOR reform constitute an adjustment in variable interest rates, which must be accounted for by
a prospective adjustment in the effective interest rate pursuant to IFRS 9.B5.4.5. If the financial instruments
concerned are to be accounted for at fair value, the changes made in the interest rate benchmarks must be taken
into account in the fair value measurement. If compensation payments were made for derivatives in the course of
the change in interest rate benchmarks, these were recognised in the fair value measurement of the derivatives
through profit or loss.
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Determination of fair value

We can normally reliably determine the fair value of financial instruments to be measured at fair value. IFRS 13
defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction (no forced liquidation or distress sale) between independent market participants as at the
measurement date. Thus, the fair value based on a notional transfer corresponds to a selling price or, in the case
of a liability, the transfer price (exit price).

The fair value is determined using the same three-level fair value hierarchy under IFRS 13 as is applicable for the

disclosures regarding the fair value hierarchy (Note “Fair value hierarchy”):

— Level 1: Financial instruments measured using (unadjusted) quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date

— Level 2: Assets or liabilities for which no price can be observed on an active market and whose valuation is
derived from valuation parameters that are directly observable (prices) or indirectly observable (derived from
prices)

— Level 3: Assets or liabilities for which the fair value cannot be measured exclusively on the basis of observable
market data; but also on valuation parameters based on model assumptions (non-observable valuation
parameters)

Suitable measurement adjustments are applied to the fair value determined in this way in order to reflect further
factors affecting the fair value (such as the liquidity of the financial instrument or model risks when the fair value is
determined using a valuation model). When determining these valuation adjustments, we have exercised the
option permitted by IFRS 13 under certain circumstances to determine fair value on a portfolio basis.

The risk of a counterparty defaulting on derivatives is covered by credit valuation adjustments (CVAs). Funding
valuation adjustments (FVAs) are also set up for derivatives that are not fully covered by relevant collateral.

The own credit spread is also included in the underlying valuation parameters for liabilities held for sale and
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Further disclosures regarding fair values and the fair value hierarchy are given in the Note “Fair value hierarchy”,
and the Note “Fair values of financial instruments compliant with IFRS 7”.
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Financial guarantees

A financial guarantee is a contract that requires the issuer to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specific debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt
instrument.

Viewed overall, the fair value of a financial guarantee is zero when the contract is concluded because the value of
the premium received will normally match the value of the guarantee obligation in standard market contracts. The
guarantee premium is recognised on a pro-rata basis. These are measured using the model for expected credit
losses.

Credit derivatives, and most notably standardised credit default swaps (CDS), are measured at fair value through
profit or loss as they are considered derivatives held for trading and not financial guarantees.

Credit commitments

Credit commitments represent declarations made to the customer to extend loans, buy securities or provide
guarantees and acceptances. If these have not yet been utilised, they are generally shown as contingent liabilities
in the notes. These are measured using the model for expected credit losses. An exception to this rule are credit
commitments where the assets resulting from utilisation are usually sold shortly after the loan has been extended.
The latter are recognised at fair value through profit or loss.

Hedge accounting
The Bank exercised the option of continuing to apply the provisions of IAS 39 on Hedge Accounting.

Hedges between financial instruments are recognised almost exclusively in accordance with the forms of the fair
value hedge described in IAS 39. In 2008 and 2009, HVB Group changed the previously applied macro cash flow
hedge accounting to the fair value hedge similarly permitted by IAS 39 for interest rate risk at portfolio level in large
areas of asset/liability interest rate risk management. This is described additionally below along with the principles
covering general fair value hedges. The hedge accounting approaches used in HVB Group are presented in the
Note “Gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value”.

A micro fair value hedge is generally a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset,
liability or an unrecognised firm commitment (or portions thereof) that is attributable to a particular risk and that
might affect net income for the period. In this respect, a high level of effectiveness is required, with the changes in
the fair value of the hedged item in terms of the hedged risk and hedging derivative compensating each other
within a range of 80% to 125%. In fair value hedge accounting, the hedging instrument is measured at fair value
through profit or loss. The carrying amounts of the hedged item are adjusted by the valuation results relating to the
hedged risk in a way that affects the income statement.

At our Bank, we designated micro fair value hedges for interest rate risks. For fixed-interest European government
bonds or bonds of issuers with a similar risk allocated to the “Held for sale” business model, the interest rate risk of
which was hedged individually and completely with interest rate swaps, we set up a separate micro fair value
hedge for each transaction.
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We apply the portfolio fair value hedge for interest rate risk in the accounting treatment of interest rate risk in
asset/liability interest rate risk management. Recognising a fair value hedge for a portfolio of interest-bearing
financial assets and liabilities using interest rate derivatives makes it possible to largely reflect the standard bank
risk management procedures for the hedging of fixed interest rate risks in the accounts.

In this accounting treatment of hedges across several items, the changes in the value of the hedged amount of the
hedged items attributable to the hedged risk are carried altogether as a separate asset or liability item and not as
an adjustment to the carrying amount of individual items as is the case with micro hedges. The hedged amount of
the hedged items is determined as part of interest rate risk management and cannot be directly allocated to
individual assets or liabilities. Where the hedge conditions are met, the offsetting changes in value of the hedged
amount of the hedged items and the hedging instruments (interest derivatives) are recognised directly in profit and
loss. Hedge inefficiencies arising within the necessary hedge efficiency thresholds of 80% to 125% are recognised
as profit or loss in net hedging income.

Furthermore, for economic reasons cross-currency interest rate swaps (CCIRS) have been used in the refinancing
of loans denominated in foreign currency. The CCIRS exchange longer dated fixed-interest positions denominated
in euros for variable-yield positions denominated in foreign currency. This serves to hedge the hedged item
accordingly against interest rate risk as part of the portfolio fair value hedge. The currency component contained in
the CCIRS is not included in the recognised hedge relationship. The fair value result includes the total change in
value of the CCIRS.

In 2008 and 2009, HVB changed the hedge accounting for macro-interest rate management from a cash flow
hedge approach to a p